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» Corporate Profile 22 @] 4148

Established in 1988, Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited is a
leading provider of e-commerce services for Hong Kong business
community. Since 1997, Tradelink has been providing Government
Electronic Trading Services (GETS) for the trading community,
initially under a 7-year exclusive franchise (1997-2003) and
thereafter under licences with the current one expiring by end of
2024, extendable up to 3 years at the Government's discretion.
Over the years, Tradelink has earned the trust and support of the
trading community; enabling it to stand firmly as the dominant
player in the e-commerce market. With the mission to empower
its clients with business enabled e-solutions for their commercial
and financial activities, Tradelink has diversified its business
beyond GETS into other business areas. In addition to GETS,
Tradelink also offers a wide range of solutions, including supply
chain solutions, digital certification services/identity management
solutions and payment technology solutions through its wholly-
owned subsidiaries, Digital Trade and Transportation Network
Limited, Digi-Sign Certification Services Limited and Tradelink
PayTech Solutions Limited.

Tradelink was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code: 00536) on 28 October 2005.
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Financial Highlights
BT % % =

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
BE-T-Bf HE-ZT—NF
tT=A=t-H +=A=+—H
tFE EFE
HK$’000 HKS'000
BT BT T
Revenue Wz 261,213 337,175
Profit from operations "ERR 92,687 101,219
Profit attributable to equity shareholders 72 TR #EiEH A E4EER
of the Company 72,800 82,201
Total assets EEHAE 586,245 592,293
Net assets EEFE 384,327 370,927
Dividend per share (HK cents) BRRE GEAL)
Interim AR B 1.95 33
Proposed final # Ik R EA AR B 7.25 6.5
Earnings per share (HK cents) gRER CGEWL)
Basic 2R 9.2 10.3
Diluted #E 9.2 10.3
Financial ratios up 3
Net profit margin (Note 1) F o A = (T aET) 27.9% 24.4%
Effective tax rate (Note 2) BWRBE (f7:22) 11.6% 14.6%
Current ratio (Note 3) BN L 3 (A7 523) 2.43 1.22
Quick ratio (Note 4) BB R (W it4) 2.43 1.22
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
R=-ZE-%5% RZT—NEF
+=-A=+-A8 +-A=+—"H
‘000 ‘000
TR F A%
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares EXTRHEZZER
As at 31 December R+=—A=+—8H 794,634 794,634
Weighted average number of ordinary R+ZA=+—HBB#1T
shares (basic) outstanding as at 31 TR e T
December (FEA) 794,634 794,634

Note 1 Net profit margin = profit attributable to equity shareholders of the — Hfit1 JE i Fi|E = K I\ Gl IR #E 15 G A JE 15 5% FI

Company/revenue e &
Note 2 Effective tax rate = taxation/profit before taxation B2 EEBE=FIE BT SF
Note 3 Current ratio = current assets/current liabilities WE3 mBHx=nBEEBHEE
. . . . A ‘F - =

Note 4 Quick ratio = current assets minus inventory/current liabilities

Wiita ZBE=FHEERTFETHEE
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» Chairman's Statement

ETREES

Dear Shareholders,

Review

With the rapid worldwide propagation of Coronavirus Disease 2019
(“COVID-19") devastating the global market in 2020, Hong Kong's
economic activities shrank drastically and the region fell into a deep
recession during the year. In the second half of 2020, Mainland China
was the first to resume economic activities after containing the
pandemic through the introduction of strong restrictive measures. Many
other countries are still facing highly restricted production capacity
issues owing to the pandemic, thus they have increased their
dependence on Chinese products. Having benefited from the strong
rebound of trade activities in Mainland China and the gradual revival of
import demand in many major markets, Hong Kong’s trading activities
began to recover in the second half of 2020. The Group’s operating
environment, which has close ties to Hong Kong's external trade and
the local economy, also improved modestly in the second half of 2020.
A low base due to the local social issues in the second half of 2019
also helped. This improvement caused the decline of the whole year's
results, in terms of turnover, operating profit and after-tax profit, to be
somewhat lessened.

The Group’s turnover in 2020 was HKS$261.2 million. Excluding the
exceptional revenue recorded last year mainly from the supply of goods
for one of our major customer projects, the Group’s turnover in 2020
saw a drop of around just 3% compared to the turnover in 2019, vis-a-
vis the 4% decrease from the first half of the year.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

FTE®REEGE)

06

Review (Continued)

During the reporting period, the Group received a total subsidy of
HKS$13.0 million from the Employment Support Scheme under the
Government Anti-epidemic Fund. Together with a fair value gain on
investment funds/debt securities, but offset by the net loss on disposal
of some debt securities, the Group’s other net income in 2020 was
HKS6.1 million, compared to HKS1.6 million recorded in 2019. In regard
to costs, without the hefty cost of purchase for the goods supplied for
our major customer in 2019, and thanks to the reduction in the other
operating expenses in 2020 compared to 2019, our total operating costs
fell from HKS$252.6 million in 2019 to HK$185.1 million in 2020,
reflecting a decrease of 26.7% or HKS67.5 million. As a result, the
Group’s operating profit of HK$92.7 million in 2020 represented a drop
of 8.4% or HKS$8.5 million from HK$101.2 million in 2019. This was a
substantial improvement on the 18.5% drop in operating profit noted in
our interim results.

Due to the unfavorable business outlook of our major PRC associate, on
a prudence basis, we decided to make a further provision of HKS4.6
million in the second half of 2020 to write down part of our investment
in that PRC associate. This was in addition to the write down provision
of HK$4.5 million and HKS$4.4 million made in the second half of 2019
and first half of 2020 respectively. With a total write down amount of
HKS9.0 million in 2020, the net increase was HKS4.5 million compared
to 2019. Together with our share of losses from the results of the
associates, the Group's profit before tax for 2020 was HKS82.4 million,
compared to the pre-tax profit of HK$96.2 million for 2019. This reflects
a drop of 14.4%, which again has improved over a 39.3% drop recorded
in the 2020 interim results. Taking into account the recognition of the
deferred tax charge arising from utilization of the unused tax losses of
Digital Trade and Transportation Network Limited (“DTTNCo”) for the
very last time and the enhanced tax deductions for certain expenses
incurred in relation to our research and development activities, the
Group's after tax profit for 2020 was HKS72.8 million, down 11.4% from
HKS$82.2 million for 2019 and significantly improved over the 41.0% drop
for the first half of 2020.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2020
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

FTEHREE(HE)

Review (Continued)

Regarding the performance of our three business segments in 2020,
they largely continued the trend as in the first half of the year. This
meant that the Identity Management (“IDM”) business recorded growth,
while the other two business segments, namely E-Commerce and Other
Services dropped by differing extents. Following the strong growth of
our IDM business in the first half of the year, this segment recorded
remarkably good results for the entire year, with its revenue having
increased from HKS$55.8 million in 2019 to HKS63.6 million in 2020, up
by 14.0% year-on-year. Even more impressive was its segment profit
which shot up from HKS$10.6 million in 2019 to HKS$17.6 million in 2020,
a leap of almost 66%. The notable growth of our IDM business was
largely due to its solid market position, enabling it to maintain a strong
business momentum with solid and quality sales leads. While COVID-19
also had a negative impact on this business segment, it was to a
relatively modest extent in comparison to our other two business
segments. While on one hand, COVID-19 led to a disruption in the
business operations of our customers in the banking and financial
industries, slowing down our customer engagement progress, on the
other hand, their demand for IDM solutions actually increased in order
to support their digital customer onboarding and secure online
transactions. Aside from the projects already under development in the
first half of 2020, we had several new projects signed off in the second
half of the year. With the development work for these new projects
being kicked-off, project revenue was recognized on a work-in-progress
basis. These new projects included, among others, an electronic Know-
Your-Customer (“eKYC") solutions for a bank whose parent company is
one of the largest financial holding companies in Taiwan and an eKYC
application development project for a major repeat corporate customer.
In fact these two customers have been using our IDM solutions in their
other business/operational areas. With the gradual shift towards the
sale of more mature/standard products, lowering the segment’s costs,
the profit margin of our IDM business segment has also increased.

=l B8 (&)
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

FTE®REEGE)

08

Review (Continued)

For our E-Commerce business, which consists of two business
sub-segments, namely Government Electronic Trading Services (“GETS")
and Supply Chain Solutions, total revenue in 2020 was HKS174.0 million,
compared to HKS246.3 million in 2019, representing a drop of 29.4%. If
the exceptional income from the sales of goods for the major customer
project in the Supply Chain Solutions sub-segment in 2019 was
excluded, the E-Commerce business segment revenue in 2020 dropped
only slightly by 2.3% year-on-year. Segment profit at HK$59.1 million
was down 14.7% compared to profit of HK$S69.2 million in 2019. As
mentioned earlier, the negative impact of COVID-19 on Hong Kong's
external trading activities eased somewhat in the second half of 2020.
This, coupled with a lower base for comparison in the second half of
2019 due to social issues that affected the Hong Kong economy, meant
that the overall GETS market in the last two quarters of 2020 was
actually almost on a par with the same period in the previous year. The
shrinkage of the GETS market for 2020 was reduced to only 4.8%, a
substantial improvement over the market contraction of 9.2% in the first
half of 2020. Our GETS revenue of HKS$150.7 million dropped 6.9%
year-on-year. As for our Supply Chain Solutions business sub-segment,
its 2020 revenue was HKS$23.3 million, a plunge of over 70% compared
to the HKS84.5 million revenue recorded in 2019. Again, should the
exceptional income mentioned above be excluded, this business
sub-segment turnover would have actually increased by 41%. The
revenue of this business sub-segment included major enhancement
projects from previously delivered projects, as well as a newly
confirmed project, with work-in-progress in the second half of the year.
This new project was a Warehouse Management System (“WMS"),
ordered by a major telecommunication company for better management
of the inventory of its telecommunication/satellite equipment and
components. With the development work of projects carried forward
from previous years completed or continued as well as the new projects
confirmed during the year, project revenue was recognized fully or on a
work-in-progress basis for this business sub-segment. A large
proportion of the target customers of our Supply Chain Solutions were
undoubtedly hard hit by the impact of COVID-19, thus slowing down
their investment decisions regarding new systems/applications. As a
result, there were a couple of rather sizable projects that we expected
to have been confirmed earlier in the year had it not been due to the
impact of COVID-19. However, the customer demand remained and we
eventually had the orders formally confirmed just before the year end,
with development work set to commence in 2021.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

FTEHREE(HE)

Review (Continued)

As for our Other Services business, comprised primarily the Smart
Point-of-Sales (“PoS”") business and GETS related services, 2020
revenue sat at HK$23.6 million, was down 32.7% from HK$35.0 million
in 2019. Segment profit also dropped 32.7% from HKS$14.8 million in
2019 to HKS$10.0 million in 2020. The extent of contraction of the
segment’s revenue and profit for this business for the entire year was
relatively close to that of the first half of the year. This was due to the
fact that customers of our Smart PoS business in the retail industry
continued to be subject to severe challenges in the second half of the
year caused by the COVID-19 outbreak. Though the retail business
showed signs of recovery in the third quarter, alongside the stabilized
epidemic situation and gradual easing of social distancing measures,
the fourth wave of COVID-19 that began in November overturned the
situation, with the Government re-tightening the anti-epidemic measures,
which once again put extreme pressure on the retail sector in particular.
As a result, our Smart PoS business revenue in 2020 was HKS$4.6
million, down 69.0% compared to the HKS14.8 million of 2019. Largely
following the trend of our GETS business, the performance of our GETS
related services also fell due to the effects of COVID-19 on Hong Kong's
external trade.

Although the performance of our PRC associate, Guangdong Nanfang
Haian Science & Technology Service Company Limited (“Nanfang”) was
disappointing during 2020, it did see an improvement over the first half
of the year. Our share loss was narrowed from HKS2.2 million in the
first half of 2020 to HKS1.4 million for the entire year of 2020. With a
share gain of HKS0.8 million in 2019 versus a share loss of HKS1.4
million in 2020, the swing was HKS$2.2 million whereas for the first half
of 2020, the swing was higher at HKS3.6 million. Though Nanfang's
most challenging time appears to be over and the business is slowly
showing signs of revival, it may take some time for the company to
return to profitability. On a prudence basis, we decided to further write
down part of this investment to a total of HK$9.0 million for 2020.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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Prospects

The Hong Kong economy undeniably experienced a very tough year in
2020. As for 2021, thus far up to the time of writing this Statement,
Government officials, economists and analysts generally forecast that
with a low base to come off, the Hong Kong economy will resume
positive growth in 2021 after two concessive years of recession. This is
based on the assumptions that the global economy will improve in 2021
as effective COVID-19 vaccines are expected to become widely available
for use during the year, which should help bring the pandemic under
control worldwide and allow some cross-border activities to resume.
However, we should be mindful that the road to recovery is likely to be
bumpy and the outlook is still full of uncertainty. Whether the epidemic
can be alleviated and contained in the near future will depend on how
rapidly effective vaccines can be rolled out and the speed at which they
will be adopted worldwide. The speed and strength of the Hong Kong
economic recovery will also be dependent on how the Mainland
economy grows and the support it renders to Hong Kong's exports. On
a more macro level, though the Sino-U.S. relations are expected to be
more predictable under the new Biden Administration, the relationship is
still likely to face a number of challenges going forward, putting further
weight on market confidence in the global economy. All in all, the
course of the COVID-19 pandemic and uncertainty over the political
situation will cloud the outlook of the Hong Kong economy in 202I.

After a harsh 2020 under the ‘new normal’ created by the COVID-19
pandemic, we are reasonably confident about embracing the challenges
and opportunities posed in 2021. We will continue to progress along
with the new normal as appropriate, keeping vigilant and versatile given
that the situation related to COVID-19 is still rather volatile.
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Prospects (Continued)

Amongst our three business segments, the GETS sub-segment under
E-Commerce will be hit most directly by COVID-19. Should the positive
predictions related to COVID-19 and the global economy materialize,
Hong Kong's business activities will be expected to recover in 2021. The
GETS market could end its two-year downtrend and rebound in 2021.
The question is whether it is going to be a V-shaped or U-shaped
recovery, and whether it will return to pre-pandemic levels. Aside from
the COVID-19 pandemic and the global and Hong Kong economies,
which are both outside of our control, our GETS business is expected to
be steady given a stable competitive market environment. Indeed, with
the same three GETS service providers in the market for almost a
decade, competition does not rely heavily on pricing but rather service
levels, an area in which we believe we have a clear edge in comparison
to our competitors. We continue to strive for a price increase for our
renewed contracts with customers. That said, as mentioned earlier
regarding the shift of trade declaration submissions from shippers to
forwarders and couriers who have higher bargaining power for a lower
price from us, this trend, unfortunately to our disadvantage, has
intensified in recent years. With the increase of transactions from
forwarders/couriers attracting lower charge, our overall average price
will inevitably be dragged down. Nevertheless, for the outlook of our
GETS business in 2021, coming from the dismal year of 2020 with a low
base, we are reasonably optimistic about a moderate growth for the
year ahead.

Regarding our Supply Chain Solutions sub-segment under E-Commerce,
we are cautiously optimistic regarding its outlook in 2021, given the
strong sales momentum we have built and the robust customer
references we have accrued over the years. With the hope that the
COVID-19 pandemic will gradually subside in 2021, and given that
customer demand remains strong, we believe that a number of potential
projects that failed to come to fruition last year due to the gloomy
economy could be confirmed in 2021. Together with the projects with
development work carried forward from 2020, as well as the ongoing
maintenance income from completed projects, we are reasonably
confident that we can achieve satisfactory results for our Supply Chain
Solutions business in 2021.
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Prospects (Continued)

In regard to our IDM business, we remain mindful that, although
COVID-19 undoubtedly poses challenges, it also creates opportunities. In
addition to the banking and financial industries, many other industry
segments are seeking solutions that support digital onboarding and
online transactions, so as to stay in business during the pandemic amid
social distancing and lockdown measures. Our IDM product suite
provides the solutions that these businesses are looking for. In fact,
since the spread of COVID-19 began in 2020, the number of enquiries
regarding our IDM products has surged significantly, coming from
diverse sectors and organizations including real estate agents and
government departments, etc. Whether or not these enquires will
eventually translate into real orders depends on a number of factors,
some of which are likely to be outside of our control, e.g. policy support
of the relevant regulatory bodies, compliance requirements that need to
be met, etc. In any case, we will of course seize all opportunities and
vigorously pursue any new prospects. In regard to positive
achievements, following extensive research and development work, we
have successfully developed a new type of digital certificate (“ID-Cert”),
for which formal recognition was received from the Office of
Government Chief Information Officer (“OGCIQ”") at the end of 2020. The
preparation work for the pilot launch of this newly recognized digital
certificate is currently in progress in the first quarter of 2021, and we
plan to test market response in 2021 through a partner whom we have
signed up. Generally speaking, we are taking a more prudent view
regarding the outlook of our IDM business, and believe that it will
remain stable in 2021 rather than continuing the rapid pace of growth
seen in the previous few years.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2020
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Prospects (Continued)

Our Other Services business in 2021 will face similar challenges and
opportunities as our GETS business, which hinges on the COVID-19
situation both internationally and locally, as well as the global and Hong
Kong economies. Should COVID-19 be under control and economic
activities resume, we believe our Smart PoS business will benefit from
the recovery of the retail market. The same can be said in relation to
our GETS-related services in regard to the impact of COVID-19. In any
case, we expect the demand for physical PoS devices to slow down as
retail businesses have learnt to rely less on physical stores in the wake
of the pandemic, and will therefore put more emphasis on online stores.
In acknowledgment of this trend, we will explore the opportunity to offer
online cashless payment solutions to meet the requirements of our
retail customers.

Our community logistics platform, VSHIP as mentioned in the interim
report, has been integrated into the E-Commerce platform and became
one of the value-added services for our GETS customers. At the same
time, the VHSIP bid-and-offer service has been renamed as Freight
Quotation Service (“FQS”) and is now being offered to our GETS
shippers and forwarders as a chargeable service. Another business
under our Other Services business is the one we formed with Ping An
OneConnect Bank (Hong Kong) Limited (“PAOB”), one of the eight virtual
banks awarded licenses by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority. With the
big data of our GETS customers relating to their use of GETS and
PAOB's proprietary credit assessment platform, PAOB provides a
whitelist of customers to whom they could offer certain pre-approved
loan amounts. We will help PAOB to promote the loan services to our
whitelisted customers and make referrals to PAOB.

To summarize, we expect the outlook of our Other Services business,
which faces both challenges and opportunities, to be stable in 2021.
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Prospects (Continued)

Finally, regarding our PRC associate Nanfang, we are doubtful that its
business will return to profitability in 2021. Though the business
displayed signs of improvement and caught up slightly in the second
half of the year, hence lowering its whole year loss in 2020 compared
to the first half of the year, complete recovery is expected to be a long,
drawn out process with uncertainty along the way. Since cessation of
the company’s most profitable river manifest declaration service,
Nanfang has focused its operations on bidding for Government projects
from PRC Customs and other related regulatory bodies, for which there
is a lot of competition. As mentioned earlier, Nanfang's reputation has
suffered a negative blow as the result of a legal dispute with one of its
shareholders. The company will consequently need time to rebuild its
credibility and to regain confidence of its customers/partners. These are
practical issues faced by the management of Nanfang that will affect
their business in the short to medium term. However, with the company
commitment to overcoming these challenges, we hope that the Group's
share of loss from Nanfang will narrow somewhat in 2021.

Dividends

As always, we make shareholders’ interests our priority. As the Group
remains debt free and has a healthy cash reserve, the board of
directors of the Company (“Board” or “Board of Directors”) has decided
to recommend a nearly 100% payout of the Group’s profit of HKS73.5
million after excluding the last tranche of DTTNCo's deferred tax
charges at HKS$0.7 million relating to tax loss for 2020. This means a
final dividend of HK 7.25 cents per share. Together with the interim
dividend payout of HK 1.95 cents per share for the first half of 2020,
the total dividend for the entire year of 2020 will be HK 9.2 cents per
share, 6.1% lower than the total dividend of HK 9.8 cents per share for
2079.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Business Review

E-Commerce Business Review

2020 was an incredibly tough year for our E-Commerce business, with
Hong Kong's economy and external trade both being hard hit by the
COVID-19 pandemic that has devastated the global market and severely
disrupted supply chains across the world. The situation was particularly
acute in the first half year, when the virus began to spread all over the
world and governments were forced to implement stringent
anti-epidemic measures, including locking down borders which resulted
in an almost complete standstill of global activities. Entering the second
half year, with economic activities in major economies slowly starting to
revive, in particular the Mainland which posted accelerated growth, Hong
Kong's trading activities also started to resume, narrowing the
contraction for the whole year.

Against such a dismal backdrop, our E-Commerce business shrank
accordingly in 2020. Segment revenue at HKS$174.0 million was down
HKS72.3 million, or 29.4% compared to revenue at HK$246.3 million in
2019. Segment profit also dropped 14.7% from HKS69.2 million in 2019
to HKS$59.1 million in 2020. Looking at the turnover of the two
sub-segments, namely GETS and Supply Chain Solutions under the
E-Commerce business, revenues recorded in 2020 from GETS and
Supply Chain Solutions were HKS150.7 million and HKS$23.3 million
respectively. For GETS, compared to its 2019 revenue of HKS$161.8
million, revenue dropped in 2020 by 6.9%. In 2019, the revenue from our
Supply Chain Solutions business included an exceptional income from
sales of goods for our mega warehouse automation project. If this
exceptional income was taken out of the equation, the revenue of this
business sub-segment actually increased by around 41% year-on-year.
The poor performance of the E-Commerce business in 2020 was partly
due to the shrinkage of the GETS segment, and more notably, due to
the absence of the exceptional income under the Supply Chain
Solutions business in 2020.
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Business Review (Continued)

E-Commerce Business Review (Continued)

The slump of the global economy in the first half year due to the
COVID-19 pandemic was a catastrophic blow to the GETS business, as
the overall market plummeted 9.2% year-on-year, the steepest decline
since the global financial crisis in 2008/09. With the severe
anti-epidemic measures implemented by most countries and the
development of the ‘new normal’ in reaction to the pandemic, economic
activities resumed somewhat slowly from the second half year. The
GETS market improved in the second half of 2020, almost returning to
the level as in the same period in 2019. As a result, the market
shrinkage was substantially narrowed to only 4.8% in 2020. While the
GETS market, which in this context pertains to the import/export trade
declaration market, dropped 4.8% overall, the market for cargo manifest
services, which is the second most important service under GETS after
trade declaration in terms of business volume, fell by 36.3% in 2020.
With the lockdown of international borders introduced by most
countries following the outbreak of COVID-19, only a very limited
number of cargo flights were able to continue servicing airfreight during
the year. As the service provider of choice of all airlines for electronic
manifest services, we were hit directly and suffered a net revenue loss
of around HK$2.4 million from this service alone in 2020.

Besides external factors outside of our control, including the COVID-19
pandemic and global economic issues which all affected our GETS
business, the GETS operating environment in Hong Kong was rather
stable in 2020. With the same three service providers in the market for
over a decade, the competition now places more emphasis on service
quality rather than pricing. In terms of service quality, with the
industry-recognized accolades our customer hotline has received
consecutively for nearly ten years, we can confidently proclaim that the
quality of our services clearly stands out from that of our competitors,
enabling us to stand firmly as the dominant player in the GETS market
and giving us grounds to charge customers a premium for our service.
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Business Review (Continued)

E-Commerce Business Review (Continued)

Our Supply Chain Solutions business suffered somewhat in 2020,
affected by the poor market sentiment as the economy was badly hit by
COVID-19. However, as mentioned earlier, if the income mainly from the
purchase of goods for the mega warehouse automation project in 2019
was excluded, the turnover of this business sub-segment in 2020, at
HKS$23.3 million, was actually up almost 41%. The increase was largely
due to other income related to the mega project that was received in
2020, including the remaining hardware (the 4-way shuttles) and
maintenance service income for the core warehouse management
applications with Automated Guided Vehicles ("AGVs”). Besides these,
income from completed projects and work-in-progress projects in 2020
only increased slightly compared to 2019. We would have expected
several more new projects with sizeable scale to be confirmed in 2020
had it not been for the COVID-19 pandemic and resultant poor operating
environment, slackening our customer engagement progress and
shelving the buying decisions of our customers. Aside from the new
projects confirmed and mentioned in the interim report (including a
WMS/Transportation Management System (‘“TMS") ordered by a
government licensed contractor for collecting and processing electrica
waste as well as a tender won on the provision of a service for the
Environmental Protection Department to enhance tracking of clinical and
chemical waste consignments), we only managed to successfully sign
up one new WMS project with a telecommunication service company
and a few other orders for enhancement work on several previously
delivered customer projects. Results from the second half year were a
bit disappointing. However, as the pandemic began to subside towards
the end of the third quarter and a lot of our customer engagement work
could resume, we were glad to sign off two long-anticipated projects
just before the end of the year, both of which are of considerable size.
One was a WMS/TMS project ordered by a renowned group for
managing its warehouse operation and distribution of its beverages and
consumer and industrial goods in Hong Kong. The other project was an
Order Fulfilment System ordered by our major retail chain customer.
Returning to the previously mentioned mega warehouse automation
project for the major retail chain customer, performance tuning of the
AGVs and core applications have been successfully completed and
tested to meet the committed service level. Following user acceptance
of the system, the maintenance service charge has begun to come into
effect. The ancillary 4-way shuttles project, meanwhile, is expected to
complete performance testing in early 2021 for user acceptance.
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Business Review (Continued)

E-Commerce Business Review (Continued)

Looking ahead to 2021, all signs thus far are pointing towards a
recovery of the global economy over the next 12 months, but there are
diverse views on the pace and magnitude of this recovery. Some
optimists have predicted that the global economy will grow at record
speed from the Great Lockdown in April 2020 to a Great Rebound in
2021, while others are more cautious given that there are still a host of
uncertainties surrounding the current COVID-19 pandemic situation, as
well as the emerging variants of the virus in different countries. Taking
a more conservative view, we believe that the first half of 2021 will
remain somewhat challenging. As for the year 2021 as a whole, we are
hopeful that international trading activities and Hong Kong's external
trade will assume moderate growth, reversing the GETS market
shrinkage for two consecutive years since 2019. Benefiting from the
market growth in 2021 and coupled with the modest price increase for
our services that we are hoping to achieve, it is expected that our GETS
revenue in 2021 will increase marginally. In terms of our pricing, there is
a notable caveat. The increasing trend towards the shift of trade
declaration submissions from shippers to forwarders/couriers is
unfavorable to us, and could have an adverse impact on our overall
average price. Forwarders/couriers have more bargaining power when it
comes to lower pricing, and the larger their business transactions, the
more they could potentially drag down our average price. While we are
unable to stop or slow this unfavorable trend, we will ensure we deliver
quality services to our customers and strive to increase our prices
within the bounds of what our customers consider value-for-money. An
additional strategy that we have been adopting is to offer a trade
declaration preparation service for our shipper customers, relieving
them from the tedious manual work and helping to alleviate their
manpower shortage issues. For some shipper customers, this could be
the very reason why they shifted the trade declaration work to their
forwarders/couriers. Given that we already have a pool of data entry
staff to handle and digitize paper declarations collected from our
service centers, we could take on related data entry work from
customers in a cost effective way. This part of the business, albeit not
sizable, presents steadily growing opportunities. All said, we hope our
GETS business will be slightly revived in 2021.
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Business Review (Continued)

E-Commerce Business Review (Continued)

Regarding the Government's Trade Single Window (“SW"), the key
development since the interim report is that the tender for the
development of Phase 2 of SW was issued in November 2020, with a
proposal submission deadline of December 2020. At the time of writing
this report, the Government was still processing the tender proposals
received. According to the tender document, SW Phase 2 documents
will be rolled out in batches and in four phases. Should the successful
tenderer be able to be confirmed and commence work within the
second quarter of 2021, the earliest that the Phase 2a documents (the
first batch of SW Phase 2 documents) will be rolled out is within the
first quarter of 2023 and Phase 2d (the fourth and final batch of SW
Phase 2) within the first quarter of 2024. We still have yet to hear from
the Government regarding their plan for the future Value-Added Service
Providers (“VASP”) market under SW and their rollout schedule for SW
Phase 3, in which documents under current GETS would be included.
We will closely monitor the progress of the SW Phase 2 development
and get ourselves as involved as possible in the Government’s planning
of the VASP market and development of SW Phase 3.

The outlook of our Supply Chain Solutions business in 2021 largely
hinges on the pace and extent of the recovery of the Hong Kong
economy. Automated warehouse projects are weighty investments and
consequently customers will not make any hasty decisions on such
purchases. Instead, customers will undertake a vigorous analysis of the
financials, justifications and other considerations before decisions are
made. Under an unfavorable operating environment, making such a
decision is particularly daunting and will therefore take longer. In any
case, with the leads that we have on hand for similar automated
warehousing solutions and the solid reference from our major retail
customer, we will do our very best to seize every new opportunity.
Adhering to last year's strategy, which we found practical under such
volatile market conditions, we will focus on selling our own
applications/products. While such projects are usually of smaller scale,
these low hanging fruits are generally easier and faster to pluck. For our
Supply Chain Solutions business in 2021, we hope to do better than
2020 given the projects we already have on hand and the promising
leads, though of smaller scale, that we have in the pipeline.

Generally speaking, as explained above, for the combined GETS and
Supply Chain Solutions business for E-=Commerce, we hope to achieve
modest growth in 2021.
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Business Review (Continued)

Identity Management (“IDM”) Business Review

Continuing the strong momentum of our IDM business in the first half
year, this business segment recorded remarkable results for the year as
a whole. Segment revenue in 2020 amounted to HKS63.6 million, an
increase of 14.0% when compared to the 2019 revenue of HKS$55.8
million. Even more pleasing was the segment profit, which recorded a
handsome growth of 65.9% from HKS10.6 million in 2019 to HKS$17.6
million in 2020. The increase in turnover in 2020 was mainly due to the
surge of HKS$S6.2 million income from ongoing maintenance services
provided for previously delivered projects, compared to the
corresponding income in 2019. A slight net growth in project revenue in
2020 was another contributor to the segment turnover increase. These
increases in revenue were, however, offset by a reduction in security
token sold to our bank customers, as the revenue from our security
token delivery and related services dropped by HKS1.4 million year-on-
year. The impressive increase in our segment profit was due to the
reduction in our cost of purchases (including security tokens and
maintenance work provided by external parties) and a significant
increase in more profitable eKYC projects vis-a-vis a moderate drop in
more costly two-factor authentication (“2FA") projects in 2020
compared to 2019. As the demand for our eKYC solutions continues to
increase while that for 2FA decreases, we believe our upcoming project
profit margin will surge correspondingly.

Looking more closely at our projects with revenue recognized in 2020,
they included projects completed and new projects confirmed with
work-in-progress during the year. In terms of new projects, aside from
those mentioned in the interim report, we have two orders for eKYC
solutions from customers in the banking and financial industry and
another application development/eKYC project from a key repeat
corporate customer. In partnership with a prime contractor, we were
successfully awarded a contract by a bank in Hong Kong whose parent
company is one of the largest financial holding companies in Taiwan.
We will provide our eKYC solutions, which supports the 2003 and 2018
Smart Hong Kong Identity (“HKID") Cards, for this bank customer. In
regard to the other eKYC solutions, it was ordered by a newly
established credit bureau that provides credit referencing and Fintech
solutions which are built on a financial information platform. We will
provide our eKYC solutions to support the digital onboarding of
stockbroker customers of this credit bureau client. As for the repeat
corporate customer, we will develop an application with the eKYC
solutions to support the digital onboarding of the application’s users.
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Business Review (Continued)

Identity Management (“IDM”) Business Review (Continued)
While COVID-19 impacted our IDM business in 2020, it was to a lesser
extent than our other business segments which were directly affected
by the gloomy economy. The impact on this business segment was
largely a slowdown of our customer engagement due to social
distancing measures and work from home arrangements. The sales
cycle took longer in 2020 under COVID-19. On the other hand, the
pandemic created opportunities for us, as corporates are increasingly
seeking IDM solutions for digital onboarding and conducting online
transactions in order to stay in business amid lockdowns and other
anti-epidemic measures. Consequently, since the start of the epidemic,
we have received more enquiries from a diverse range of industries
regarding our suite of IDM solutions which they are interested to adopt
under the ‘new normal’.

Looking ahead to 2021, we have a couple of key focuses for our IDM
business. First is the new class of digital certificate for which we
received formal recognition from the Office of the Government Chief
Information Officer (“OGCIQ") in the latter part of 2020. This new ID-Cert
Class 12 will be issued using our eKYC solutions, supporting the use of
e-Passports and other travel documents (such as Exit-Entry Permit for
Travelling to and from Hong Kong and Macau as well as Mainland
Travel Permit for Hong Kong and Macao Residents) for identification of
individuals instead of using the traditional face-to-face identification
process. With the technical and operational set up ready towards the
end of the first half of 2021, we will pilot launch this new ID-Cert Class
12 starting the latter half of the year through our partners to financial
institutes, such as stockbrokers for their clients holding e-Passports and
other travel documents to digitally sign the account opening documents
without the need for physical signatures on paper documents. We will
test the market response during the pilot launch and fine tune our
marketing strategy as appropriate for execution in the remaining
months in 2021 and beyond.
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Business Review (Continued)

Identity Management (“IDM”) Business Review (Continued)
Secondly, although the demand for 2FA solutions has seemingly fallen
in recent years, in view of the fast-evolving emerging technologies, we
will use the related advanced 2FA technology to enhance our product,
not only to stay competitive but also to hopefully seize new
opportunities and/or enter new markets.

For the aforementioned new credit bureau customer who will be using
our eKYC solutions, it should be mentioned that they are not only our
customer but also our partner. In addition to adopting our solution, they
will act as our reseller, promoting our eKYC solutions to their
stockbroker customers who have online business with their end users,
or plan to. They are also one of our partners in promoting our new ID-
Cert Class 12 for use by their clients in China for account opening on
their online stock trading platform.

Last but not least, we will continue to vigorously pursue opportunities
resulting from the numerous enquiries received since the outbreak of
COVID-19 from a wide range of industries/organizations, including
government departments and real estate agents. A large number of
these are at the initial stage of exploring the possibilities of using an
identity verification/management solution of some sort to support their
online business or operation. As some of these organizations come
from industries that are totally new to us, it remains to be seen whether
we will be able to successfully offer practical solutions to them, as
there may be factors outside of our control or specific domain
knowledge which we may be lacking.

In summary, in regard to the outlook of our IDM business in 2021, we
remain optimistic. While we have a number of promising leads and
there is hope that the COVID-19 pandemic will subside, a lot of
uncertainty still remains. We therefore have reservations regarding the
accelerated growth seen in the past year continuing into 2021, but we
do believe that business should be stable in the coming year.
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Business Review (Continued)

Other Services Business Review

Our Other Services business, comprising Smart PoS, GETS-related
services and VSHIP, the community logistics platform, recorded
disappointing results in 2020. With the COVID-19 pandemic continuing
to dampen the Hong Kong economy in the second half of 2020, the
performance of our Other Services business suffered a similarly
sizeable decline as in the first half year. Segment revenue recorded in
2020 was HKS$23.6 million, which, compared to the HKS$35.0 million
recorded in 2019, represented a contraction of 32.7%. Segment profit
also dropped by 32.7%, from HKS14.8 million in 2019 to HKS$10.0 million
in 2020. While our VSHIP has yet to begin generating revenue and the
GETS-related services suffered a single digit percentage drop along with
our GETS business in 2020, the poor performance of our Other Services
segment was largely due to the catastrophic effects of COVID-19 on our
Smart PoS customers in the Hong Kong retail industry. Turnover
recorded for our Smart PoS business in 2020 was HKS$4.6 million, a
steep fall of 69.0% when compared to the HKS14.8 million achieved in
2019. As in the first half year, we did not receive any new orders for
Smart PoS devices from our bank customers during the second half
year. As a result, we were reliant on the income generated by our
maintenance and support (“M&S”") service, which primarily came from
Smart PoS devices deployed for the retail clients of our bank
customers. The situation was made worse when we lost a M&S service
contract with one of our bank customers in June 2020, and
consequently we were no longer able to receive such M&S income from
the Smart PoS devices deployed for this bank’s retail customers for the
remaining seven months of the year. Although this was not our largest
bank customer, the loss of the contract has inevitably had an impact on
our turnover. With the economy adversely affected by the COVID-19
pandemic, customers are more likely to be motivated by cost, and we
lost this M&S service contract to another service provider who offered
cut-throat pricing.
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Business Review (Continued)

Other Services Business Review (Continued)

Our GETS-related services business, primarily comprising our Road
Cargo System ("‘ROCARS"), the call center services offered to Customs
and Excise Department (“C&ED") for their ROCARS and the paper-to-
electronic conversion services for our GETS paper users, also
contracted in 2020 due to the shrinkage of the GETS market, but to a
slightly smaller extent than that of GETS. Revenue recorded for our
GETS-related services was HKS$19.0 million, down 6.1% compared to
2019’s revenue of HKS20.2 million. There are two noteworthy items
included in the revenue of the GETS-related services. The first is the
data entry service mentioned earlier in this report. We offered this
service to shipper customers to relieve them from the tedious manual
work of preparing the trade declaration submissions. In contrast to the
overall downward trend of our GETS business, revenue from this service
increased, which helped to offset the drop in the performance of our
traditional paper-to-electronic conversion service for customers using
our service centers. The other new addition to our GETS-related
services revenue was the revenue received from our collaboration with
PAOB. Under this collaboration, we help PAOB to promote their SME
loan services to those of our GETS customers they have whitelisted
based on their credit assessment modeling, for which we provide data
on our customers’ usage of GETS. The pilot of this new approach to
offering loan services commenced in June, with promotional activities
going full force from October.

Going into 2021, we unfortunately continue to hold a pessimistic view
regarding our Smart PoS business. Though it is generally believed that
the Hong Kong economy will rebound in 2021 from a low base in 2020,
benefiting the retail industry as a result, there is still a lot of uncertainty
regarding the development of COVID-19 and the new variants of the
virus being discovered in a number of countries worldwide, clouding the
recovery of the global economy. In addition, until the border restrictions
imposed by most countries are able to be removed and international
travel can be resumed, the retail industry in Hong Kong, which heavily
relies on tourists, is unlikely to return to pre-pandemic levels any time
soon. Since the outbreak of COVID-19, an increasing number of retail
shops shifted their focus to the online market and relied less on their
physical stores. This switch to online retailing will continue even after
the virus eventually subsides, and the demand for physical Smart PoS is
expected to decline as a result. This explains why we are pessimistic
about the sales and M&S service of our Smart PoS devices in 2021.
With retailers increasingly moving online, we will explore the opportunity
of offering online cashless payment solutions. As such solutions are
already widely available in the market, we will need to be pragmatic and
determined if we are to rise to the challenge of offering a more cost-
effective, convenient solution than those currently available. In any case,
we are prepared to review and adjust our PayTech solution strategy as
necessary in light of the changing market landscape.
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Business Review (Continued)

Other Services Business Review (Continued)

Regarding our GETS-related services, with the PAOB partnership added
into the equation and the generally positive view of the GETS market,
we hope to achieve a slight revenue growth in this sub-segment in
2021. Another positive note to add in regard to our GETS-related
services is that we are happy to be awarded a 3-year new contract by
the C&ED to provide call center services for their ROCARS upon expiry
of the last contract in January 2021. We have been awarded such
service contracts by C&ED ever since the service was launched in 2010.
While the revenue from this contract is not that sizeable, the continuous
award of such contracts by C&ED demonstrates our ability to
consistently deliver reliable and quality services to the trading and
logistics community, and this remains our competitive edge in the GETS
market.

Last but not least, as was mentioned in the interim report, we made a
plan to integrate VSHIP, the community logistics platform, with our core
GETS platform, enabling the service it offers to be seamlessly provided
to our GETS customers as a value-added service. With the completion
of the technical integration work, we have renamed the bid-and-offer
service under VSHIP to FQS as a value-added service under our GETS.
We are promoting this FQS to our GETS shipper and forwarder
customers as a chargeable service, with a free trial period as an extra
incentive. With the disruption to the sea/air freight industry under
COVID-19, we hope our customers will appreciate the benefits that our
FQS can offer to them. Again, we will keep an open mind and monitor
the market acceptance of this chargeable service and will revise our
strategy as necessary.

To summarize, with both positive and negative elements affecting our
Other Services business, we believe that we can maintain the stable
performance of this business while striving to do our utmost to achieve
modest growth in 2021.
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Business Review (Continued)

Investment in PRC Associate Review

In 2020, business of Nanfang, our major associate in China continued
to run at a loss, thus continuing a downward trend that commenced
since the second half of 2019. Our share of loss from its results
amounted to HKS1.4 million in 2020 compared to a share of gain of
HKS0.8 million in 2019, representing a swing of HKS2.2 million. The
second half results of Nanfang actually improved slightly as our share
of loss in the first half was HK$2.2 million, which is more than the
share of loss for the entire 2020 year. The swing of our share of its
results for the first half of 2020, when compared to the same period in
2019 at HKS3.6 million, was higher than the swing for the whole year.

Though still running in the red in the second half of 2020, Nanfang
managed to narrow their loss through additional income received and
stringent cost control measures implemented. Additional income came
from several previously carried forward projects and a few new
Government projects completed before the end of the year, as well as
various subsidies granted by the Central Government to relief
businesses in difficulties resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. On the
cost side, impacted by an already shrinking business due to the loss of
its most profitable river manifest declaration service and compounded
by COVID-19, they have implemented strict measures to control costs,
including the downsizing of their workforce in 2020. Staff numbers have
been reduced by almost one half, with staff made redundant consisting
mainly of those who previously were involved in the river manifest
declaration service as well as some research and development staff.
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Business Review (Continued)

Investment in PRC Associate Review (Continued)

As mentioned in the interim report, Nanfang has developed two new
standard products that can readily be sold and deployed for
government projects. Nanfang will seize all opportunities to promote
and sell these products, which include bidding for relevant government
projects by themselves, or if necessary, with local partners in other
provinces. This will be their key business focus in 2021. On the cost
side, they have plans to further rationalize their corporate structure and
reduce their overall headcount based on actual market and business
conditions.

Having dealt with numerous internal and external difficulties in recent
years, it is hoped that the worst is now behind Nanfang. While its
business outlook remains challenging, they are nonetheless confident in
the ability to further reduce their loss in 2021, hence our share of their
loss can be lowered accordingly.
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Financial Review

In 2020, the businesses of E-Commerce and Other Services declined
while the Identity Management segment recorded growth. The Group's
revenue was HKS261.2 million in 2020, decreased by 22.5% or HKS76.0
million as compared to 2019. Excluded the exceptional income in 2019
from the mega warehouse automation project which consisted mainly
the supplies of goods, the Group’s revenue in 2020 was decreased by
2.9% year-on-year. Revenue of E-Commerce segment was HKS$174.0
million in 2020, represented a decrease of HKS72.3 million year-on-year.
Of which, the GETS business recorded revenue of HKS$150.7 million,
declined by 6.9% or HKS$11.1 million as compared to 2019. The GETS
business was inevitably affected by the adverse business environment
due to the unprecedented outbreak and spread of the COVID-19
pandemic during 2020. Revenue from the Supply Chain Solutions was
reduced by HKS61.2 million to HKS$23.3 million in 2020 after the
substantial completion of the mega warehouse automation project in
2019. Revenue of this business generated from the maintenance and
support services and such solutions as warehouse management
services and order fulfilment services. As for the Identity Management
segment, revenue increased from HKS$55.8 million in 2019 by 14.0% to
HKS$63.6 million in 2020. It was mainly due to increased revenue from
the maintenance and support services of IDM projects and increased
demand from a variety of customers for the eKYC solutions which
support businesses to recruit customers remotely. Despite the decline in
the number of the one-time password tokens delivered to our major
bank customers and the slow-down of the demand for biometric 2FA
projects, the Group’s IDM business achieved bright results during 2020.
The revenue of Other Services in 2020 was HK$23.6 million, represented
a drop of 32.7% or HKS11.4 million year-on-year. It was mainly caused
by the sluggish performance of the Smart Point-of-Sales business as it
was badly hit by the disruptions to economic activities of the retail
sector caused by the pandemic in 2020.

The Group’s operating expenses before depreciation in 2020 were
HKS$176.0 million, represented a decrease of 28.0% or HK$68.5 million
from HKS244.5 million in 2019. It was mainly due to a drop in the cost
of purchases by HKS64.1 million in 2020 which was corresponding to
the exceptional item of supplies of goods delivered for the mega
warehouse automation project in 2019. Staff costs was HKS$120.8
million in 2020, an increase of 1.4% or HKS1.7 million as compared to
the last financial year. The other operating costs were HKS31.4 million
in 2020 as compared to HKS37.5 million in 2019, represented a drop of
16.2% or HKS6.1 million year-on-year. This was mainly attributable to
the stringent cost control measures exercised by the Group on other
operating expenses in 2020, such as its facilities management fees, the
repair and maintenance expenses and expenses paid to business
partners. Depreciation charges in 2020 was HKS9.1 million, up by
HKS1.1 million as compared to 2019.
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Financial Review (Continued)

The Group successfully applied for funding support from the
Employment Support Scheme of HKS$13.0 million in 2020 and recorded
fair value gain and investment income from its debt securities and
investment funds totaled HKS2.7 million, but recorded HKS9.7 million
net loss on the disposals of certain debt securities to mitigate
investment risks under significant market volatility. As a result, the
Group had other net income totaled HKS6.1 million during 2020.

The Group's profit from operations in 2020 was HKS$92.7 million, a
decrease of HKS8.5 million or 8.4% as compared to 2019.

In 2020, the Group shared a loss of HKS1.4 million from its associate,
Nanfang, as compared to a share of profit of HKS0.8 million in 2019. As
reported in the interim results, Nanfang continued to suffer from
declined revenue and the challenging operating environment under
COVID-19 pandemic. During 2020, a provision for impairment loss on
interest in Nanfang of HK$9.0 million was made after a review of the
investment in Nanfang.

Our wholly-owned subsidiary, DTTNCo, providing e-solutions to its
customers, had a deferred tax asset balance relating to tax loss
amounted to HKS0.7 million as at the end of 2019. As DTTNCo
continued to generate profit this year, this deferred tax asset was fully
utilized and gave rise to a deferred tax charge of HKS0.7 million for
2020.

Included in the taxation for 2020 was HKS$2.6 million enhanced tax
deductions for certain research and development expenditures.
Excluding the tax effect of the enhanced tax deductions, the Group's
taxation for 2020 would be HKS$12.2 million. The Group's after tax profit
for 2020 was HKS$S72.8 million, decreased by 11.4% as compared to
20179.

Basic earnings per share for 2020 were HK 9.2 cents, lower than that
for 2019 at HK 10.3 cents by HK 1.1 cents. Diluted earnings per share
for 2020 were also HK 9.2 cents, lower than that for 2019 at HK 10.3
cents by HK 1.1 cents.
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Financial Review (Continued)

Dividend

The Board has recommended a final dividend of HK 7.25 cents per
share for 2020 (2019: HK 6.5 cents per share). The proposed final
dividend, which together with the interim dividend of HK 1.95 cents per
share (2019: HK 3.3 cents per share) paid on 9 October 2020, will result
in a total dividend of HK 9.2 cents for 2020. The total amount of interim
and proposed final dividend for 2020 represents a payment of 99.5% of
the Group’s profit attributable to shareholders after excluding the
deferred tax charge of HKS0.7 million relating to tax loss for 2020.

The proposed final dividend will be submitted to shareholders for
approval at the annual general meeting on 7 May 2021. If approved, the
final dividend will be paid to shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on 13 May 2021, on or about 26
May 2021.

The Board reminds shareholders that the Company’s dividend policy
enunciated at the time of our IPO in 2005 is that it will pay no less than
60% of its distributable profit as dividend. The fact that the Company
has paid out all of its attributable profit in the past and nearly 100% of
profit attributable to shareholders this year does not mean that the
policy has changed.

Liquidity and Financial Position

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had total cash and bank deposits
of HKS$172.0 million (2019: HKS$143.4 million). During 2020, Group
diversified its investment of the surplus cash reserves from individual
corporate bonds to a discretionary Asian investment grade single bonds
portfolio and units in investment funds with a view to generate steady
income while maintaining a diversified risk. Details of the investments in
other financial assets are set out in the section headed “Significant
Investments Held" below.

Total assets and net assets of the Group as at 31 December 2020
amounted to HKS586.2 million (2019: HKS$592.3 million) and HKS384.3
million (2019: HKS370.9 million) respectively.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no borrowings (2019: Nil).
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Financial Review (Continued)

Significant Investments Held

As at 31 December 2020, the Group held other financial assets with an
aggregate carrying amount of HK$292.1 million (2019: HKS317.6
million). The portfolio composed of HKS$260.5 million listed debt
securities (2019: HKS317.6 million) and HKS$31.6 million units in
investment funds (2019: Nil). The listed debt securities measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI") represented
investment in corporate bonds; the listed debt securities measured at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL") represented investment in a
discretionary single bonds portfolio.

The movements in the other financial assets held by the Group during
the year are as below:
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Financial Review (Continued)

Significant Investments Held (Continued)
The details of the investments were as below:

0]

Listed debt securities measured at FVOCI

The listed debt securities measured at FVOCI held by the Group
as at 31 December 2020 were 9 USD-denominated corporate
bonds issued mainly by Hong Kong listed companies or their
subsidiaries, covering various industry sectors including real
estate, industrial other, commercial finance, life insurance and
medical consumables. As at 31 December 2020, the nominal
value of each investment ranged from USS1 million to USS3
million and the aggregate fair value of these bonds were
HKS$104.2 million (accounting for 17.8% of the Group's total
assets) with coupon rates ranging from 2.375% to 6.9% per
annum.

6 corporate bonds will mature in 20271 and 3 corporate bonds will
mature between 2023 and 2025. As at 31 December 2020, 66%
(31 December 2019: 65%) of the total carrying amount was
invested in investment grade corporate bonds. The remaining
34% (31 December 2019: 35%) was invested in non-investment
grade or non-rated corporate bonds. All corporate bonds held as
at 31 December 2020 were tradable in open market.

Interest income of HKS8.5 million was generated by the listed
debt securities measured at FVOCI for the year. On the other
hand, the Group recorded a net loss on disposal of corporate
bonds amounting to HKS9.7 million during the year in order to
lower the its exposure in individual bonds and to mitigate the risk
of potential high volatility of bond prices. The listed debt
securities measured at FVOCI matured and disposed of during the
year were HKS38.6 million and HK$191.0 million respectively with
the disposal for each issue of no more than USS3 million nominal
value.
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Financial Review (Continued)

Significant Investments Held (Continued)

(i)

Listed debt securities measured at FVPL

The Group seeks to achieve the investment objectives of reducing
investment concentration risk and to enhance returns of its cash
surplus reserves for shareholders. The Company entered into a
discretionary asset management mandate with UBS AG, Hong
Kong Branch (“the Manager”) on 8 July 2020 and subsequently
invested its cash surplus reserves in a discretionary Asian
investment grade single bonds portfolio denominated in USD.

As at 31 December 2020, the portfolio consisted of 53 single
bonds with individual nominal value of no more than USS0.5
million each. The single bond which had the largest carrying
value, as at 31 December 2020, in this portfolio was HKS$4.6
million (accounting for 0.8% of the Group’s total assets) and the
aggregate fair value of the portfolio was HKS$156.4 million
(accounting for 26.7% of the Group’s total assets). As for bonds
issuer type, approximate 52%, 32%, 15% and 1% in this portfolio
were corporates, financials, government and others respectively.
As for maturity dates, approximately 46% of the bonds will be
matured within 5 years, 39% will be matured after 5 years and
15% belongs to perpetual bonds.

During 2020, the Group recorded a fair value gain on the listed
debt securities measured at FVPL of HKS$1.9 million which
included interests received from the bonds, net of management
fees. The average yield to maturity of the portfolio was 2.26% per
annum at 31 December 2020.

The Company agreed to pay the Manager a management fee,
payable quarterly in arrears, which is equal to 0.65% per annum
applied to the monthly value of the managed portfolio based on
the last business day of the previous month. The fees cover the
management fee, transaction fee and custody fee. The Manager
manages assets in the portfolio in accordance with the terms of
the investment strategy set. The objective is moderate
appreciation of assets. Moderate volatility of asset value
expected. The Company has the right to change the investment
strategy, add or withdraw funds at any time.
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Financial Review (Continued)

Significant Investments Held (Continued)

(iif)

Units in investment funds measured at FVPL

The Group also held 2 investment funds at 31 December 2020
with an aggregate amount of HKS$31.6 million (accounting for
5.4% of the Group’s total assets). The investments composed of
HKS7.9 million and HKS$23.7 million investments in UBS (CAY)
Investment Fund Series — UBS Asian Bonds Series 5 (USD) and
UBS (CAY) Investment Fund Series — UBS Asian Bonds Series 6
(USD) respectively. The former will mature on 30 June 2024 while
the latter will mature on 22 December 2023. The target gross
yield to maturity are 4.8%-53% and 5.0%-575% per annum
respectively.

The investment funds focus on USD-denominated fixed income
securities issued by sovereigns, quasi-sovereigns and corporates
covering various industry sections such as real estate, banks and
industrials in the Asia Pacific ex-Japan region. Each funds hold
approximately 60-70 debt securities of investment grade on
average. The investment funds aim to hold the bonds until
maturity but will also monitor and review all the securities on a
regular basis and take appropriate actions as necessary.

Investment income of HKS0.4 million was recorded in 2020 which
represented dividend income distributed by the investment funds.
A fair value gain totaled HKS0.4 million was also recognised
during the year.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not hold any other significant
financial investment as at 31 December 2020.

To balance risk and returns, all investments in the other financial assets
were made in accordance with the investment guidelines which had
been approved by the Investment Committee comprising three
Independent Non-executive Directors and one Non-executive Director of

the Company. Before any opportunities were identified to acquire new

businesses, the cash surplus reserves were parked in the other financial
assets as part of our treasury operations to improve the yield of the
Group’s cash surpluses.

Material acquisitions or disposals

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, the Group did not
have any material acquisitions or disposals in relations to subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEE AR DMNGE)

Financial Review (Continued)

Capital and Reserves

As at 31 December 2020, the capital and reserves attributable to
shareholders was HKS$384.3 million (2019: HKS$370.9 million), an
increase of HK$13.4 million from the end of 2019.

Charges on Assets and Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has obtained three bank
guarantees totaling HKS$2.2 million (2019: two bank guarantees of
HKS$2.1 million) issued to the Government for the due performance by
the Group pursuant to the terms of the contracts with the Government.
The bank guarantees are secured by a charge over deposits totaling
HKS$2.2 million (2019: HK$2.1 million).

Other than the foregoing, the Group did not have any other charges on
its assets.

Capital Commitments

Capital commitments contracted for as at 31 December 2020 not
provided for in the financial statements amounted to HKS$3.4 million
(2019: HKS$3.7 million), mainly in respect of the purchase of leasehold
improvements and office equipment for the Group.

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2020, the Group employed 267 staff (2019: 275), of
which 235 are in Hong Kong and 32 in Guangzhou. The related staff
costs for the year came to HK$120.8 million (2019: HKS119.1 million).
The Group’s remuneration policy is that all employees are rewarded on
the basis of market levels. In addition to salaries, the Group provides
staff benefits including medical insurance and contribution to staff's
mandatory provident fund. To motivate and reward staff, the Group has
various commission, incentive and bonus schemes to drive performance
and growth. The Company operates a share option scheme to reward
the performance of staff at senior vice president grade and above.

Exposure to Fluctuation in Exchange Rates and Related
Hedges
As at 31 December 2020, other than its investments in the PRC
established entities and other financial assets denominated in US
dollars, the Group had no foreign exchange exposure and related
hedges.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s accounting policies and
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2020. It also had independent discussions with the internal auditor and
the external auditor, KPMG, without the presence of the management
team.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Directors

Chairman and Non-executive Director

Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P., aged 78, was appointed a Director
on 19 September 2000. He is also our Chairman. He holds a Bachelor's
degree in Electrical Engineering from the Imperial College, London, the
United Kingdom and a Doctorate from Brown University, the United
States. Dr. LEE was appointed the Chairman of TAL Group in 2012,
which currently employs about 20,000 employees. He joined Textile
Alliance Limited in Hong Kong in 1973 and in 1983, was appointed
Managing Director (title changed to Chief Executive since 2010) of TAL
Apparel Limited. He was a Director of The Link Management Limited
(now known as “Link Asset Management Limited”) and of Phillips-Van
Heusen Corporation. He has over 40 years’ experience in the textile and
garment industry. Dr. LEE is actively involved in a number of trade
organizations and public services in Hong Kong. He is the Honorary
Chairman of Textile Council of Hong Kong Limited and the Hong Kong
Garment Manufacturer’'s Association. In addition, he is currently holding
the position of the Advisor, Chairman Emeritus of the Hong Kong
Research Institute of Textiles & Apparel Ltd (HKRITA) and the Chairman
of the Committee of Overseers of Lee Woo Sing College of the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. Dr. LEE was awarded the Honorary Fellowship
of the Textile Institute in 2019 in Manchester, United Kingdom. He was
named in the Queen’s birthday honours list as an Officer of the British
Empire ("OBE") in 1996. He was appointed a Justice of Peace ("J.P.") in
1997 and was awarded the Silver Bauhinia Star (“S.B.S.") at the Fourth
Anniversary of the Establishment of the HKSAR in 2007.

Executive Directors

Mr. TSE Kam Keung, aged 61, was first appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in March 2013 and
subsequently took over the CEO position in July 2015.

Before joining the Company, Mr. TSE had worked mostly in the financial
industry covering the Asia Pacific region. He began at State Street in
1993 to develop and lead its investment servicing business in the region
and completed his career there as an advisor till early 2015. Before
State Street, he had worked for Standard Chartered, Ogilvy & Mather,
Baring Securities and the Hong Kong Government.

Mr. TSE has served on many committees and boards. He is currently on
the Process Review Panel of the Financial Reporting Council and the
Hang Seng Index Advisory Committee. He also serves on the following
governing bodies — Pan Asian e-Commerce Alliance, New Life Psychiatric
Rehabilitation Association, Global Legal Entity Identifier Foundation, and
Lee Woo Sing College of the Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Mr. TSE received the CW Chu Scholarship to study in the US and
obtained his BA from Lawrence University. He got his MBA and MA
(Buddhist Studies) from the Chinese University of Hong Kong and also
got the Government's sponsorship to obtain his MPA from the
University of Hong Kong.
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Directors (Continued)

Executive Director (Continued)

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew, aged 51, was appointed a Director
and acting DCEO of the Company on 15 November 2011. He was the
DCEO of the Company and re-designated to be the Chief Technology
Officer of the Company on 1 January 2017. He is also a Director of the
Company’s various subsidiaries and associates. Mr. CHENG holds a
Master of Commerce degree in Information Systems from the University
of New South Wales, a Master of Engineering degree from the
University of Sydney, a Bachelor of Engineering degree with Honours in
Electrical Engineering from the University of Sydney and a Bachelor of
Science degree from the University of Sydney. Mr. CHENG has over 25
years' experience in IT-related business, covering internet security,
domestic and international supply chain, logistics and finance. He was a
specialist in the consultancy on the setting up of a Public Key
Infrastructure by the Hong Kong Government and is currently a member
of the Advisory Committee on the Code of Practice for Recognized
Certification Authorities of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region and a member of the Expert Review Panel of
Hong Kong R&D Centre for Logistics and Supply Chain Management
Enabling Technologies.

Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily, aged 64, was appointed a Director on 2
September 2008. She joined the Company in 1992. She is currently the
Chief Operations Officer of the Company and is also a Director of the
Company’s various subsidiaries and associates. Ms. CHUNG graduated
from the University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Science degree
and a Master of Science degree in Engineering. Prior to joining the
Company, Ms. CHUNG worked in the then Government of Hong Kong
for over 11 years providing management consultancy services to
government bureaux and departments. Since joining the Company in
1992, she has gained over 28 years of solid and diversified experience
in the management of various aspects of e-commerce business
including the Company’'s core business in Government Electronic
Trading Services and supply chain solutions for the business
community in Hong Kong. Under her leadership, the Company stands
consistently and firmly as the dominant player in the Government
Electronic Trading Services market under the consecutive licenses
granted by the Government.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Directors (Continued)

Non-executive Directors

Dr. LEE Delman, aged 53, was appointed a Director of the Company on
29 October 2012. Dr. LEE Delman holds a doctorate from the University
of Oxford and a Bachelor's degree in Electrical & Electronics Engineering
from the Imperial College, London. He is the Vice Chairman for TAL
Apparel Limited (“TAL"). He is responsible for driving TAL's long-term
strategy in operations, technology and value-added services to
customers. He looks after information technology and supply chain
projects — from IT infrastructure to logistics management throughout
the entire organization. He is the architect behind TAL's current
enterprise resource planning (ERP) system. He is also responsible for
global operations initiatives such as standardization of work methods,
cultivation of a continuous improvement organization and corporate
social responsibility.

Dr. LEE Delman joined TAL in 2000. He was appointed a member of the
TAL Group's Executive Committee in 2006 and became President and
Chief Technology Officer in 2010. He currently holds the position of Vice
Chairman. He has a strong background in research. Prior to joining TAL,
he was a researcher at UK based Sharp Laboratories of Europe for three
years. There, he was responsible for the commercial application of
modern computer vision techniques to stereo photography and
stereoscopic displays. He has worked as a research fellow at University
of Pennsylvania in the US and University of Leeds in the UK in various
aspects of imaging.

Dr. LEE Delman has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director and a member of the Risk Committee commencing from 21
March 2017, a member of the Nomination Committee and member of
the Audit Committee commencing from 1 December 2017, the
Chairman of the Environmental, Social, and Governance Committee
from 26 November 2020 of The Bank of East Asia, Limited (listed on
main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). He joined
the board of Dairy Farm International Holdings Ltd (a standard listing on
the London Stock Exchange as its primary listing, with secondary
listings in Bermuda and Singapore) on 9 May 2018.

Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth, aged 65, was appointed a Director on 26
June 2012. He was a Director of the Company during the period from
16 September 1996 to 9 May 2008. Mr. YING retired from COSCO-HIT
Terminals (Hong Kong) Limited (“CHT") as the Managing Director, Asia
Container Terminals Limited as the Executive Director and the
Hutchison Port Holdings Trust (a trust listed on the Singapore
Exchange) as an EXCO member on 30 April 2016. Mr. YING has over 31
years’ experience in the finance and logistic sector. Prior to joining CHT,
he had held various executive positions at Hutchison Port Holdings
Limited (“HPH"). He was the Executive Director of Hongkong
International Terminals Limited and the Finance Director of South China
Division of HPH. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and also a fellow member of the Chartered
Association of Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom. He was a
member of the Port Development Advisory Group of the HKSAR.
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Directors (Continued)

Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent, aged 53, has 26 years of experience in
the maritime industry. He started his career in Hongkong International
Terminals Limited where he held a number of business development,
commercial and management positions. Since 2012, Mr. YUEN has been
a member of the Hutchison Port Holdings Trust (“HPH Trust”) Exco, a
committee of executives that determines the strategy for HPH Trust.
HPH Trust is the world's first publicly traded container port business
trust listed on the Main Board of the Singapore Exchange. As the
Managing Director of Port Services and Logistics Division of HPHT
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of HPH Trust, Mr. YUEN leads both
Hutchison Logistics (HK) and Asia Port Services. Integrating services
from container depot, warehousing and distribution to freight handling,
trucking and feeder service, to provide seamless total supply chain
solution across sea, air and land networks. Mr. YUEN has a Bachelor of
Science in Geology and Geophysics from the University of Hawaii at
Manoa and holds a Master of Science in Environmental Engineering
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology. He is a
chartered fellow of the Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport in
Hong Kong.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHAK Hubert, aged 59, was appointed a Director on 21 October
2002. He retired from Link Asset Management Limited (“Link”), the
manager of Link Real Estate Investment Trust, as Director (Finance) in
August 2018. He joined Link in 2010 and was responsible for the
finance and capital markets functions. Mr. CHAK was an executive
director of CSI Properties Limited between 2007 and 2010. He also held
various senior management positions at PCCW Limited between 1999
and 2007 and was an executive director of Pacific Century Premium
Developments Limited until February 2007.

Mr. CHAK began his career with KPMG in Hong Kong and worked as an
investment banker between 1990 and 1999. He holds a Master of
Business Administration Degree and a Bachelor of Science degree in
Mechanical Engineering from University of Wales (now known as Cardiff
University).
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Directors (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay, aged 78, was appointed a Director of the Company
on 1 September 2009. He was the non-executive Chairman of the board
of directors of the Company from 1998 to 2002. Mr. CHAU graduated
from The University of Hong Kong in 1967. He served in the Hong Kong
Government from 1967 to 2002. Between 1988 and 2002, Mr. CHAU
served in a number of principal official positions in the Government,
including Secretary for Trade and Industry, Secretary for Commerce and
Industry, Secretary for Broadcasting, Culture and Sport, and Secretary
for Health and Welfare. Following his departure from the Government,
Mr. CHAU has been an independent non-executive director of the Hong
Kong Main Board listed SUM Holdings Limited since 2008. He has been
appointed by Wharf Real Estate Investment Company Limited (listed on
the Hong Kong Main Board) as an independent non-executive director
with effect from 1 January 2021. Mr. CHAU was awarded the Gold
Bauhinia Star by the Hong Kong Government in 2002.

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan, aged 59, was appointed a Director of the Company
on 9 February 2015. She has over 30 years of experience in financial
management and planning. Ms. CHAN joined The Dairy Farm Company,
Limited on 16 April 2076 as North Asia Food Finance Director and left
her job as Project Lead — China Expansion (Convenience) on 17
October 2018. The Dairy Farm Company, Limited is a member of Dairy
Farm International Holdings Limited which has a standard listing on the
London Stock Exchange as its primary listing, with secondary listings in
Bermuda and Singapore. Before joining the Dairy Farm Group, Ms.
CHAN was CFO, China Beverage and Senior Region Financial Planning &
Analysis Director, China Region of PepsiCo Inc. in Shanghai. During her
employment with PepsiCo Inc., she had also worked in Guangzhou,
Shenzhen and Hong Kong. PepsiCo Inc. is listed on The New York Stock
Exchange. Prior to joining PepsiCo Inc., Ms. CHAN had worked in Hong
Kong for ExxonMobil Chemical and Nestlé S.A. (listed on SIX Swiss
Exchange). Ms. CHAN graduated from University of Western Ontario,
Canada in 1983 with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economic and
Administrative & Financial Studies and obtained a Master of Business
Administration in Marketing from the Chinese University of Hong Kong
in 1985.

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy, aged 71, was appointed a Director on 11
May 2007. He has over 26 years of experience in financial advisory,
taxation and management. He was a partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers
and retired in June 2005. In October 2005, he joined a professional
consulting firm, Russell Bedford Hong Kong Limited (now known as
Russell Bedford Hong Kong), as Director-Tax & Business Advisory. Mr.
CHUNG is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, the Taxation Institution of Hong Kong and the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants ("ACCA”). He was the President of the
Hong Kong branch of ACCA for the year 2005/06. He is currently also an
Independent Non-executive Director and Chairman of the Audit
Committee of Lee Kee Holdings Limited (listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited).
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Directors (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P., aged 60, was appointed a Director on
13 May 2005. He holds a Bachelor's degree from The University of Hong
Kong. Mr. HO is the Executive Director of the Hong Kong Shippers’
Council. He has over 26 years’ experience in the Shipping and Logistics
industry. As he now shapes the thrust of the Shippers’ Council mandate
as the voice of the Hong Kong shippers, he has considerable experience
in aspects of trade and transport of goods. Prior to the Shippers’
Council, he was Deputy Managing Director of Swire Shipping (Agencies)
Limited and Taikoo Maritime Services Ltd, gaining experience in liner
shipping, warehousing and distribution, freight forwarding, container
haulage, mid-stream operations, China feeders, transport and logistics
services. Mr. HO is a member of the Logistics Industry Training
Advisory Committee and the Private Columbaria Appeal Board, and a
Director of the Urban Renewal Fund. He is also a member of the
Transport & Shipping Committee of the Hong Kong General Chamber of
Commerce, Logistics Services Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong
Trade Development Council and the Hong Kong Taiwan Business Co-
operation Committee. He was appointed a member of the Hong Kong
Logistics Development Council, the Port Operations Committee and the
Dangerous Goods Standing Committee for several years and Chairman
of the Hong Kong Liner Shipping Association for 1993-1995. He is the
current Chairman of Hong Kong Logistics Management Staff
Association, Fellow and Council Member of the Chartered Institute of
Logistics & Transport in Hong Kong, Advisor to the Shenzhen Ports &
Harbour Association. Mr. HO was elected as a member of the Election
Committee for the Chief Executive in 2011 and 2076.

Senior Management

— Chief Executive Officer
— Chief Technology Officer
— Chief Operations Officer
— Chief Financial Officer

Mr. TSE Kam Keung

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily
Ms. CHU Pik Kwan, Peggie

Mr. TSE, Mr. CHENG and Ms. CHUNG are also directors of the
Company. Their biographical details have already been set out above
under the sub-heading “Directors”.

The biographical details of Ms. CHU are set out as follows:

Ms. CHU Pik Kwan, Peggie, aged 45, is currently the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company which she joined in 2004. Prior to that, Ms. CHU
worked in KPMG for audit services. She holds a Bachelor's degree in
Professional Accountancy and a Master of Business Administration
degree from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Ms. CHU is a
member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She has
over 20 years of experience in accounting and financial management.
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Corporate Governance Report
TERELRHEE

/a ¥

(1) Compliance with Corporate Governance

Code (the “CG Code”)

The Company is committed to a high standard of corporate
governance and the Board believes that good corporate
governance is fundamental to effective and proper management
of the Company in the interests of its stakeholders. It has made
every effort to ensure full compliance with the code provisions in
the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The Company confirms that it has
complied with all code provisions during the year ended
31 December 2020.

Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules to govern its Directors’ dealings in the
Company’s securities. Having made specific enquiry, all Directors
have confirmed compliance with the required standards during
2020.

Risk Management & Internal Controls

The Group is committed to the continuous enhancement of its
risk management framework, capabilities and culture across the
Group to strengthen its ability in achieving its business
objectives. Appropriate risk management activities are embedded
into the business planning, project management, contract
management, business operations and organizational procedures.
The Group is willing to take reasonable and manageable risks in
pursuit of its strategic business objectives. The reasonableness
and manageability vary from business segment to business
segment.

Once risks, including those which are Environmental, Social and
Governance-related, have been identified, recorded, analysed, and
the agreed treatments have been implemented, an appropriate
monitoring and reporting regime will be established to provide
assurance that the treatment is effective and helps to control the
risk. Appropriate risk treatments are embedded into daily
operations. The risk will be continuously monitored depending on
the subsequent risk rating and the strength of controls to treat
the risks. All staff have the responsibility for the continuous
monitoring of risks and operation of controls within their area of
responsibility. In particular, close attention would be paid to those
risk areas with a strong reliance on internal controls and
processes to bring the risk to an acceptable level.
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(3) Risk Management & Internal Controls

(Continued)

The Company believes that effective communication and
consultation is essential throughout the risk management
process as it enhances the understanding of risk identification,
analysis and evaluation among process owners and risk
management team in the Group. During the reporting year,
individual departments of the Company reviewed at least monthly
and updated their own risk logs. The responsible persons of the
departments updated and reported the risk logs to the Risk
Manager and the responsible executive director (the “Responsible
ED") of the Group on a regular basis. The Responsible ED then
presented the consolidated risk logs to Senior Management for
identification and assessment at management and Group levels.
Senior Management updated the Board on any significant risks
and progress via monthly reports or in Board meetings.

The Board recognizes the need for sound and effective risk
management and internal controls systems to safeguard
shareholders’ investment and the Group’'s assets. The Board
acknowledges its overall responsibility for the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. With the support of
Senior Management and the Audit Committee, the Board reviewed
the effectiveness of the systems which covered different areas,
including without limitation, the financial, operational and
compliance controls in compliance with Code Provisions C.2,
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. Such systems were designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the
Group's business objectives, and could only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material mis-statement or
loss.

The risk management system framework adopted by the Group
was designed by reference to the principles and process outlined
in the international standard of ISO31000. Appropriate risk
management activities were embedded into business planning,
project management, contract management, business operations
and organisational procedures. The six steps involved in the risk
management process are:

1. Establish the scope, context and criteria

Risk assessment (Risk identification, risk analysis,
risk evaluation)

Risk treatment

Monitoring and review

Recording and reporting

Communication and consultation

N

ook W
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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(3) Risk Management & Internal Controls (3) & f& &2 K& I B 12 (4F)
(Continued)

Our risk management process and risk management framework BMOREREEREF REREEELAI
can be represented diagrammatically as follows: B&RERMT
Risk Management Process /S031000:2018 B Bz B HE F2 /71S031000 : 2018

4

v

Risk Assessment

2\ B 5

Risk Identificati
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(3) Risk Management & Internal Controls (3) B & EIE K& R I (&)
(Continued)

Risk Management Framework 5 S B IEHE 4R

valuate the effectiveness of

Independent Assurance

versee the implementation of

A

Risk review, assessment, analysis
and reporting

ication, recording and monitorin

As an on-going process, the Company has assessed its internal X A A B 2 B The Committee of
control system with reference to The Committee of Sponsoring Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSQ") internal Commission ([ COSO |) —ZF —=F A&
control framework 2013, specifically in relation to the five EER BEIEANEERS  FAR
elements of: control environment, risk assessment, control BEIRIRIE - BTN BSIEEE) - BBLE
activities, communication and monitoring. REFHETE °
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(3) Risk Management & Internal Controls (3) & f& &2 Kk A 2P B2 (&)

(Continued)

To further strengthen the risk management and internal control
systems, the Company’s internal auditor (“Internal Auditor”) has
been designated by Audit Committee to conduct a review and
audit tests to verify the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems in place. A review report was presented
to Audit Committee, which based on the report formed the
opinion on the effectiveness of Tradelink’s risk management and
internal control systems and reported to the Board accordingly.
The external auditors would obtain an understanding of internal
control relevant to their audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances though not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control. The external auditors would
communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that they identify during the course of their audit.
If necessary, remedial actions will be taken timely by the
Company.

To better address the risk and exposure associated with the
COVID-19 pandemic to the Company, an emergency response
team was established in early February 2020 to come up with a
viable Business Continuity Plan (BCP) and policies. The objective
was to make sure risks associated with the COVID-19 to the
Company could be properly mitigated and the well being of all
staff could also be taken care of.

The team monitored the COVID-19 situation continuously and
made necessary adjustments to the BCP and policies from time
to time. Various measures and policies were enacted. It included
providing protective measures to staff, regular body temperature
checks, policies for quarantine and social distancing as well as
work from home arrangement.

During the year of 2020, Internal Auditor has conducted a review
of Tradelink’s risk management and internal control systems. In
particular, Internal Auditor has conducted the following:

A gap analysis and evaluation of effectiveness of risk
management system by using 1SO31000:2018 as a basis
for comparison;
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(3) Risk Management & Internal Controls

(Continued)

A COSO entity level control gap analysis (‘COSO Review’) to
ascertain if the Company has established entity level
controls that are consistent with the key concepts of the
control framework recommended by COSO — ‘Internal
Control — Integrated Framework’;

Audit tests to verify the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal controls in place.

The Company also has a whistle-blowing procedure in place to
encourage its staff to raise concerns, in confidence, with the
Audit Committee about possible improprieties in any matter
related to the Company. During the reporting year, no
whistle-blowing report received.

Based on the confirmation from Senior Management, the reviews
from the Internal Auditor and the Audit Committee, the Board
considered that the risk management and internal control
systems are adequate and effective for the reporting year. There
were no significant control failings, weakness or significant areas
of concern identified during 2020.

The Board also considered the resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budget of the Group's
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions were
adequate.

The Group handled and disseminated inside information in
compliance with the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFQO"). The
Board, with the recommendation of Senior Management, would
identify and determine whether certain information needs to be
disclosed as inside information under the Listing Rules and the
SFO. Once certain information has been determined as inside
information, it would be disclosed as soon as practicable by way
of announcements.

The Company has in place separate internal policies for dealing in
the Company's shares by Directors, general staff and those staff
who are likely to be in constant exposure to inside information.
All employees and Directors are not allowed to deal in the
securities of the Company when they possess unpublished inside
information. Pre-clearance on dealing in the Company's securities
is mandatory for Directors and those staff who are likely to be in
constant exposure to inside information.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
tEERREE(E)

Risk Management & Internal Controls
(Continued)

During the reporting period, Directors and relevant employees, as
identified by Senior Management, were notified of the periods
when dealings in the securities of the Company were prohibited.
All inside information was disclosed timely by way of
announcements. Before the disclosure of inside information by
announcements, it was kept confidential and would only be
disclosed to, and handled by, those employees who had a
genuine need to know. Documents containing inside information
are protected by passwords.

In addition, every employee is subject to the Code of Ethics and
Conduct of the Group and is expected to achieve the highest
ethical and professional standards of behavior.

Board of Directors

(i) Board Composition

As at 31 December 2020, the Company was led by a Board
comprising three Executive Directors, four Non-executive
Directors, including the Chairman of the Board, and five
Independent Non-executive Directors. The Independent
Non-executive Directors represent at least one-third of the
Board as required by the Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.
The five Independent Non-executive Directors have all
confirmed in writing to the Company that they meet the
guidelines for independence in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

As at the date of this annual report, the members of the
Board are:

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SBS., J.P.

Executive Directors

Mr. TSE Kam Keung (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew (Chief Technology Officer)
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily (Chief Operations Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Dr. LEE Delman*

Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth
Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent

(3)

(4)

— 3=

—_E_TFER

=

Bl EERAPELE(FE)

RBREHA EERERERBASETE
REHEEICENGARAESFRHEL
RXHHME-MERNBEBYURETAR
RERE - REBRAENAKERN  ABH
SERE TANEEZFEMNENEES
BEhHRSERE - B2RNEHEENHXMH
VA7 5 AR 7 -

o B E THABETFAE B
TRTA UTEMEINSRSBREREXT

EEg

(i) E=g4K
RZZEZZTHF+-_A=+—HB K
ARHAEFEEE HKBEBRE=
BRTEF WEFVTEF(BE
EECTIBMAABBIUIFNTE
FoBUHNTEFTABBELTR
AIES10AKKNBELEEFEEL =
DZ— RABBUFNTEEFHD
MAARELHEBRR RAKS
BFE LR BEIIEEBBILE D
B fE 35l o

RAEHRAH EFGHENT

ETEREHITES
FJyEE L SBS, JP.

BTES

87 58 55 & (7T AR %)
ERERE & (R4 E
BIRF L L (EEHE

FHITES
FEARE L
REXEE
RoKERE

EZBETESERLA

51



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
rEERRETS(E)

92

(4) Board of Directors (Continued)

)

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

Board Composition (Continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHAK Hubert

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P.

(* Dr. LEE Delman is a nephew of Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry,
SB.S., J.P)

The Board oversees the overall
operations of the Company. Major responsibilities include
determining the Company’s overall business, financial and
technical strategies, setting key performance targets,
approving budgets and major expenditures, supervising the
performance of management with the objective of
enhancing shareholder value. Matters not specifically
reserved to the Board and necessary for the daily
operations of the Company are delegated to Senior
Management under the supervision of respective Directors
and the five committees of the Board.

management and

The diversity profile of the Board is set out in the following
charts:
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(4) Board of Directors (Continued) (4) EE8 (&)
(i) Board Composition (Continued) (i) ES=S4E)
Geography of Educational/Professional Background
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Professional (e.g. legal, accounting, IT, investment,
asset management and maritime industry)

(N ORE - 'Rt BB KE  BEEEREHETHE)

Others
EHAh

[EESRES

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90%

The biographical information of Directors is set out in the

“Directors and Senior Management” section on pages 39 to §$E@;§ﬂ%%$¢ﬁ%39§§
44 of this annual report. FUBETESREMREEBAB]I—H-
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(4) Board of Directors (Continued)

(i)

Changes of Directors’ and Chief Executive's
Information Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules

There have been no changes in the information of
Directors and Chief Executive of the Company since
publication of the 2020 interim report up to this annual
report, save and except that:

(@)

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay has been appointed by Wharf Real
Estate Investment Company Limited (listed on the
Hong Kong Main Board) as an independent
non-executive director with effect from 1 January
2021.

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P. became a Director
of the Urban Renewal Fund with effect from
14 August 2020.

Dr. LEE Delman ceased to be the President and Chief
Technology Officer of TAL Apparel Limited with
effect from 1 January 2021. Also, he has been
appointed by The Bank of East Asia Limited (listed
on the Hong Kong Main Board) as the Chairman of
the Environmental, Social, and Governance
Committee of its board of directors with effect from
26 November 2020.

Mr. TSE Kam Keung ceased to be the Chairman of
Pan Asian e-Commerce Alliance and became
members of its governing body in end of 2020. He
also ceased to be the Hon. Treasurer of the New Life
Psychiatric Rehabilitation Association and became
members of its governing bodies in end of 2020.

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew ceased to be a
member of the Fintech Advisory Group of the
Securities and Futures Commission in end of
February 2021.
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(4) Board of Directors (Continued) (4) EEE(E)

(iii) Appointment, Rotational Retirement and

Re-election

All non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) were appointed for a period of
three years and all directors are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with Article 100 of
the Articles of Association of the Company. Pursuant to
that, one half of the Directors (or, if the number is not a
multiple of two, then the number nearest to but not greater
than one half) shall retire each year but are eligible for
re-election at each annual general meeting ("AGM”).

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of the Chairman of the Board and the Chief
Executive Officer are held by Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SB.S,
JP. and Mr. TSE Kam Keung respectively to maintain
effective segregation of duties. The Chairman is
responsible for overseeing the functioning of the Board and
the strategies of the Group while the Chief Executive
Officer is responsible for managing the Group’s day-to-day
businesses.

The Chairman of the Board held a private session with the
Independent Non-executive Directors without the presence
of the Executive Directors and the Non-executive Directors
immediately after the Directors’ Conference of the
Company held on 25 September 2020.

Directors’ Time Commitments

The Directors have confirmed that, during the course of the
year, they devoted adequate time to discharging their
duties as members of the Board and its Committees. The
Directors also confirmed that they had been provided with
monthly updates on the Group’s operations, performance
and business prospects to enable them to discharge their
duties. Additional information, explanation and clarification
were provided by Senior Management in response to
questions raised by them in the course of their reviews of
such materials.
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(4) Board of Directors (Continued) 4) E=g(#E)
(vi) Board Meetings and General Meeting (vii EEEEBERBREXE
During 2020, four board meetings and an AGM were held. RZZZZF ARARIERTHEAR
The attendance of Directors in board meetings and AGM of EECER N ABRREFTRE
the Company is as follows: EERARAEEEEERREE
FREMHHBENT :

Board meetings 2020 AGM

attended/Eligible attended/Eligible

to attend to attend

BHE/AE® BHE/aEK
HEESS HE-Z-%F
BERE BRREFAERE

Chairman and Non-executive Director TERFHTES

Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SB.S,, J.P. ZThEfE L sBS, JP. 4/4 1/1

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. TSE Kam Keung (Chief Executive Officer) #13858 % 4 (7T B #4#) 4/4 1/1

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew BEIEE (R4 E) 4/4 11
(Chief Technology Officer)

Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily BIRR R T (£EHE) 4/4 11

(Chief Operations Officer)

Non-executive Directors FHTES

Dr. LEE Delman FTEAE L 4/4 il
Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth RFNEE 4/4 il
Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent RAKELE 4/4 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITES

Mr. CHAK Hubert Bt 4/4 il
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay FAEEREAE 4/4 il
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan BREWZ T 4/4 il
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy BBt 4/4 1/
Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P. A S MH, JP. 4/4 1/
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(4) Board of Directors (Continued) (4) EEE(E)

(viii ESHEHAFMKRE BAAEN

(vii) Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for the

Accounts

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
financial statements that give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group. In this regard, the Directors
have confirmed that appropriate accounting policies have
been selected and applied consistently and that judgments
and estimates made were prudent and reasonable in light
of the information provided by Senior Management.

In preparing the financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2020, the accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong were adopted and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the applicable laws were complied
with.

The Board has prepared the financial statements on a
going concern basis and is not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that might
cast doubt in the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the external auditors of the
Group are disclosed in the “Report of the Auditors”.

Directors’ and Auditors’ Attendance at the 2020
AGM

The Directors’ attendance for 2020 AGM is shown in the
above table under the sub-heading “Board Meetings and
General Meeting”.

The Company’s external auditors, KPMG, also attended the
2020 AGM to confirm the audited financial statements of
the Company and to answer questions from shareholders.
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(4) Board of Directors (Continued)

(ix)

()

(xi)

Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional
Development

It is our practice that each year, all Directors are required
to attend and participate in our in-house Directors’
Conference and in-house training programme to enhance
their understanding of the Group’s business and operations
as well as their responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and other legal and regulatory requirements.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company
arranged a half day in-house Directors’ conference on
25 September 2020 to brief Directors on business updates,
financial outlook of the Group and to have strategic
discussions on the Company’'s business direction. The
Company allocated financial resources to support and
encourage the Directors to participate in continuous
professional development training to refresh and enhance
their knowledge and skills regarding their roles, functions
and duties as directors. All Directors namely, Dr. LEE Nai
Shee, Harry, SB.S,, J.P., Dr. LEE Delman, Mr. YING Tze Man,
Kenneth, Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent, Mr. CHAK Hubert,
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay, Ms. CHAN Chi Yan, Mr. CHUNG Wai
Kwok, Jimmy, Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H, J.P, Mr. TSE
Kam Keung, Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew and
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily participated in the in-house
Directors’ conference.

All Directors have provided their training records to the
Company during the year.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance
The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and
Officers’ liability insurance to indemnify them against
liabilities in respect of legal actions arising from its
day-to-day business activities. During the year, the
insurance coverage was HKS$100 million.

Board Evaluation

The Board recognizes the benefits of regular evaluations of
its performance. During the year, an evaluation covering
Board and Board Committees performance was conducted
by the Corporate Governance Committee with the
assistance of Senior Management. Areas covered included
the overall effectiveness of the Board and its Committees,
attendance, participation and contributions both during and
outside meetings. The conclusion was satisfactory.
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(5) EEZEE
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%E/m

(5) Board Committees

CEBRZEE
CHFMEZEE RAZER

The Board has established the following committees: Audit,
Corporate Governance, Remuneration, Nomination and Investment
Committees.

/\E

(i)

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee currently consists of five Independent
Non-executive Directors.

The Audit Committee oversees the overall financial
reporting process as well as the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company’'s risk management and
internal controls. In addition, it is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board for the appointment,
reappointment or removal of the external auditors. It also
reviews and monitors the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity as well as the effectiveness of the audit

ELREZESG -

() BRZEE®
ERZBERBAA BB IR
EFEMK-

EREZEQRERARANERBYE
PE R 72 7 DA N BB B 3R I ) B BE 4
BREBER I FREEET
BERESME EFMEELBIRINE
RHA MEFSELHERRE &
%% B g [/ R 5 BS 5T HNIE A 3
MESBLNES UREZREF
EEBEM BEUBREZIEFZ2E

process to make sure that it is in full compliance with P AR -
applicable standards.
The Audit Committee met twice in 2020. The attendance of RZZTEZTF - BFRZEE @ 217
members is as follows: MREg#H ZEEFEENAT :
Audit Committee
meetings attended/
Names Eligible to attend
BHE SEBHE
s ERZEEERRHEY
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy (Chairman) EHE S E(EE) 2/2
Mr. CHAK Hubert Bkt 2/2
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay FAEER kA 2/2
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan BREE 2+ 2/2
Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P. IS E A - MH, JP. 2/2
During 2020, the Audit Committee performed, among other R-ZE_TF BFRLZESKEM
matters, the following duties: EIBEN - BEITA TR
(@)  reviewed the Group’s financial statements for 2019, (a) BEAKE_Z-NFHHR

the draft 2019 annual report, the draft 2019 results

T ZE-NFFREHRAL

announcement and the proposed 2019 final dividend —NEXEREERAR
and recommended them to the Board for approval; —NEFEFRIRRBRE - W
MtMESZSREZZ AR

%

—_T_TFEFER EZBETESERLA
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rtEEARREE(E)

(5) Board Committees (Continued)

(i)  Audit Committee (Continued)
(b)  reviewed the Group’s interim financial statements for
the 6 months ended 30 June 2020, the draft 2020
interim report, the draft results announcement for
the 6 months ended 30 June 2020 and the
proposed 2020 interim dividend and recommended
them to the Board for approval;

(c)  reviewed and approved the various audit plans and
audit reports prepared by the Internal Audit
Department of the Company;

(d)  reviewed the reports on risk management and internal
control of the Group and to ensure that the risk
management and internal control systems are
adequate and effective;

(e)  reviewed connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions (if any);

) reviewed whistle blowing procedure and any reported
incidents;

(g)  met with the Internal Auditor independently to discuss
the work of the Internal Audit Department;

(h)  reviewed the remuneration of the Internal Auditor;

() met with the external auditors, KPMG, independently
to discuss the financial reporting and internal control
issues encountered during the 2019 annual audit;
and

0 reviewed the proposed audit fee for 2020 and
recommended the re-appointment of the external
auditors to the Board for consideration and final
approval by shareholders at the AGM.

Auditors’ Remuneration

During 2020, the audit and non-audit fees payable/paid to
KPMG were: an audit fee of HKS$1.04 million (2019:
HKS$1.03 million) and a non-audit related service fee of
HKS0.11 million (2019: HKS0.12 million). The latter
represented taxation service fees.
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(5) Board Committees (Continued)

(ii) Corporate Governance Committee

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
tEERREE(E)

(5) E=2ZEE2 (&)

(i) EXEREES

The Corporate Governance Committee consists of five

Independent Non-executive Directors.

The main

responsibilities of the Committee are to ensure and uphold
good corporate governance functions of the Company and

its subsidiaries.

TEREARZRBEEHARBIIENIT
EEMAK EERERMERARQT
REWMBLRNRFEEERBEL -

During the year of 2020, the Corporate Governance R-ZZEZTF HEERZE®RY
Committee met twice. The attendance of members is as BITMARGH ZEHFBXRET
follows:
Corporate Governance
Committee meetings
attended/
Names Eligible to attend
BHEAEKEE
i TEEREEEERNRH
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy (Chairman) EHE S E(EE) 2/2
Mr. CHAK Hubert Bkt 2/2
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay FAEER kA 2/2
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan BREE 2+ 2/2
Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P. IS E A - MH, JP. 2/2

At the two meetings, the Corporate Governance Committee
reviewed, among other matters, the Group’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and the relevant
compliance disclosures in the 2019 Corporate Governance

Report and 2020 Interim Report.
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(5) Board Committees (Continued)

(iii) Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee consists of one
Non-executive Director and two Independent Non-executive
Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure
for the remuneration of Directors and Senior Management.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held one
meeting. The attendance of members is as follows:

(5) EBZEE (&)

(i) FMEES
FHZEER RFNTEERM
BB IFRITESAK -

FMEZESEEREERERER
ABMFHBERERB REFE

P FWERRERT AW
EEMEEMT

%

e

Remuneration
Committee meetings

attended/

Names Eligible to attend
BHEAEKREE

i FHZEEEEB ALY
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay (Chairman) =R (EE) 1/1
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy EHEE A 1/1
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P. FThEE L sBS, JP. 1/1

At this meeting, the Remuneration Committee performed,
among other matters, the following duties: (a) reviewed the
remuneration packages of Directors and Senior
Management and recommended the same to the Board for
approval; (b) made recommendation to the Board to grant
share options to Directors and Senior Management; and (c)
recommended to the Board for the extension of the service
contracts with certain Non-executive Directors and
Independent Non-executive Directors for the approval of
shareholders at the 2020 AGM.
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(5) Board Committees (Continued)

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

(iii) Remuneration Committee (Continued) (iii)
Remuneration paid to Executive Directors and Senior

(iv)

Management

Details of remuneration paid to Executive Directors in 2020
are set out in Note 9 to the Financial Statements.

Remuneration paid to Senior Management in 2020 by band

is as follows:

TEER

(5) E=2ZEE2 (&)

¥FMESE (8
MPTEESRSREBEAEXMGW
# B
RIZE-_ZFEINTHRITEEN
HIFE IS SN R A 2O
RZZE-ZF MaEREBAEX
ECE A ?LAT%EI :

Number of staff

HK$8,000,001-HK$9,000,000
HK$4,000,001-HK$8,000,000
HK$3,000,001-HK$4,000,000
HK$2,000,001-HKS$3,000,000
HK$1,000,001-HK$2,000,000

78 #:8,000,001 7T & % %#9,000,0007T
78 #4,000,001 7T & 7% %8,000,0007T
78 #3,000,001 7T & 7% 1 4,000,0007T
78 #2,000,001 7T & 7% #3,000,0007T
78 #1,000,001 7T & 7% #2,000,0007T

Nomination Committee

(iv)

The Nomination Committee consists of the Chairman of
the Board and two Independent Non-executive Directors.

The duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board, to review the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors and
to select suitable candidates for appointment as Directors

in the general meeting of the Company.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the
‘Board Diversity Policy”) with measurable objectives.
Selections of Board candidates shall be based on a range
of diversity perspectives with reference to the Company’s

business model and specific needs,

including but not

limited to gender, age, educational background and
work-profile. The Company recognizes the benefits of
having a diverse Board and sees diversity at the Board
level as an essential element in maintaining its competitive
advantage. The Board composition reflects a full
complement of expertise and skills and diversity
appropriate to the Company’s business activities.

The complete Board Diversity Policy can be found on the

Company’s website.
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(5) Board Committees (Continued)

(iv) Nomination Committee (Continued)
Nomination Policy
The nomination policy of the Company (the “Nomination
Policy”) was adopted on 27 November 2018 to provide

formal,

clear and transparent procedures, process and

criteria for the Nomination Committee to nominate and

recommend suitable candidate to the Board.

Selection Criteria

Nomination Committee and the Board may consider the
following factors, which are neither exhaustive nor decisive,
when assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

(@)

(e)

personal ethics, reputation and integrity;

professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience that are relevant to the Company’s
businesses and corporate development and strategy;

willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge the duties as a director and to make
required commitments;

the “Board Diversity Policy” adopted by the Company
(as amended from to time); and

applicable legal and regulatory requirements (as
amended from time to time).

Nomination Procedures

(@)

For filling a causal vacancy or appointing an
additional director to the Board in accordance with
Article 92 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Nomination Committee shall make
recommendation for the Board’s consideration and
approval. For proposing candidates to stand for
election at a general meeting, Nomination
Committee shall make nomination to the Board for
consideration and recommendation.

Shareholder(s) may nominate a candidate to stand
for election as a director at a general meeting in
accordance with the “Procedures for shareholders to
propose a person for election as a director”
published by the Company from time to time.
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(5) Board Committees (Continued) (5) EEZET (HE)

(iv) Nomination Committee (Continued) (ivy REZEE (#)
Nomination Policy (Continued) REBEK(E)
Nomination Procedures (Continued) HEEEF ()

The nomination proposal should include the
candidate’s biographical information and other
information as required to be disclosed under the
Listing Rules and the candidate’s signed written
consent to be appointed as a director and to the
publication of his/her personal data on any
documents or the relevant websites for the purpose
of or in relation to their standing for election as a
director.

If considered necessary, Nomination Committee may
request the candidate to provide additional
information and documents.

Nomination Committee shall consider the nomination
proposal, evaluate such candidate based on the
selection criteria and review the structure, size and
diversity of the Board to determine whether such
candidate is suitable for recommending to the
Board.

A circular with the candidate information such as the
name, brief biography (including qualifications and
relevant experience), proposed remuneration,
independence and any other information, as required
pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and
regulations will be provided to shareholders before
the general meeting and within the prescribed period
as required under Listing Rules.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters
relating to the recommendation of a candidate to
stand for election at a general meeting.
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The complete Nomination Policy can be found on the
Company’'s website.
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(5) Board Committees (Continued)

(iv) Nomination Committee (Continued)

v)

During the year, the Nomination Committee held one
meeting. The attendance of members is as follows:

(5) EBZEE (&)

(iv) ?n-:%iﬁa (“E)

iﬁu”jf%ﬁu

Nomination

Committee meeting

attended/

Names Eligible to attend
BHE S&EBHE

%A REZEESINH
Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P. (Chairman) fAISLES A MH, JP.(EE) 1/1
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy 488 4 B 5 A 1/1
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P. EThEH L 0 SBS, JP. 1/1

At the meeting, the Nomination Committee performed,
among other matters, the following duties: (i) reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board; (ii) reviewed
the independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors; (iii) reviewed and recommended six retiring
Directors for re-election by shareholders at the 2020 AGM,;
and (iv) recommended to the Board for the extension of the
service contracts with certain Non-executive Directors and
Independent Non-executive Directors for the approval of
shareholders at the 2020 AGM.

Investment Committee
The Investment Committee consists of one Non-executive
Director and three Independent Non-executive Directors.

The duty of the Investment Committee is to oversee the
Company’s investments in financial instruments and the
management’'s execution of the investment policy
guidelines laid down by the Board.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

(5) Board Committees (Continued)

(v) Investment Committee (Continued)

During the year, the Investment Committee convened three

TEER

(5) E=2ZEE2 (&)

v) BEZESE ()
FRN REZESYEA=ZRE

wEE(HE)

& 2

A

meetings. The attendance of members is as follows: ZEHEEMT :
Investment
Committee meetings
attended/
Names Eligible to attend
BHE SEBHE
s REZEEEINRK
Mr. CHAK Hubert (Chairman) BRI A (FE) 3/3
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay AEER A 3/3
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan RER L L 3/3
Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth BF XA 3/3

At the three meetings, the Investment Committee
performed, among other matters, the following duties: (i)
reviewed the execution of the investment policy by Senior
Management; (ii) reviewed the portfolio of the Company’s
investment; (iii) recommended to the Board for the
approval of the proposed investment in discretionary single
bonds portfolio; (iv) recommended amendments to the
investment guidelines for the Board’s consideration and
approval; and (v) recommended to the Board for the
approval of the amendments to the terms of reference of

the Investment Committee.

(6) Company Secretary

During the year, Mr. HO Chi Kin Joseph, the Group’s Senior Vice
President of Legal & Compliance, is the Company Secretary of the
Company. Mr. HO has confirmed that during the year under
review he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training. Mr. HO resigned on 5 February 2021.
has confirmed that he has no disagreement with the Board and
there is no other matter in relation to his aforesaid resignations
that needs to be brought to the attention of the shareholders of
the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. TAlI Kwok Hung is currently the Group’s Senior Vice President
of Legal & Compliance was appointed as the Company Secretary

of the Company with effect from 5 February 2021.
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(7) Shareholders’ Rights

Shareholder(s) holding at least 5% of the total voting rights of all
the shareholders of the Company having a right to vote at
general meetings can send a request to the Company to convene
a general meeting pursuant to Section 566 of the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622). The request must state the general nature
of the business to be dealt with at the meeting and may include
the text of a resolution that may properly be moved and is
intended to be moved at the meeting. The request must be
authenticated by the relevant shareholder(s) and sent to the
Company in hard copy form or in electronic form.

Shareholders may also put forward proposals at general meetings
in accordance with Sections 580 or 615 of the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622). Shareholder(s) representing at least 2.5% of
the total voting rights of all the shareholders who have a relevant
right to vote at the general meeting or at least 50 shareholders of
the Company who have a relevant right to vote at the general
meeting may request the Company to circulate statements
regarding resolutions proposed at the general meeting; or request
the Company to circulate resolutions which may properly be
moved and is intended to be moved at the AGM. The requisition
must be authenticated by the shareholder(s) concerned and sent
to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic form where, (i)
in the case of a requisition for the circulation of statements
regarding resolutions proposed at a general meeting, such
requisition must be received by the Company not later than 7
days before the general meeting; or (i) in the case of a
requisition for the circulation of resolutions to be moved at the
AGM, the requisition must be received by the Company not later
than 6 weeks before the relevant AGM or if later, the time when
the notice of the AGM is dispatched.

Pursuant to Article 101 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
no person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless
recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible for election
to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless notice in
writing of the intention to propose that person for election as a
Director and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to
be elected shall have been given to the Company in each case,
during the period (being a period of at least 7 days) commencing
on the day after dispatch of the notice of general meeting at
which elections to the office of Director are to be considered and
ending on the day that falls 7 days before the date of the general
meeting (both days inclusive). The procedures for shareholders of
the Company to propose a person for election as a Director are
set out in the Corporate Governance section of the Company’'s
website.
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(8) Communications with Shareholders and (8) EER R KR EE BB

Investors

The Company has established Shareholders Communication
Policy and is available under the “Investor Relations” section of
the Company’'s website. The Company encourages two-way
communication with its shareholders and investors to enhance
understanding of the Group’s performance and developments.
Regular newsletters on the Company's latest business
development are published on the Company's website. A free
subscription service is available for interested parties to receive
email notification when there are major updates on investor’s
information webpages.

As the COVID-19 continued to spread during the year, the
Company cancelled the two forums which it would normally
organize to brief the individual shareholders on its 2019 annual
results and 2020 interim results and the latest corporate
developments. During the year, the Company received several
phone enquiries from individual shareholders enquiring about
some specific business development issues. As regards
communications with institutional investors and analysts, three
conference calls were held in 2020 with two institutional
investors and analysts to discuss the Company’'s latest
developments with Senior Management.

Again due to COVID-19, the Company cancelled the media
luncheons which it would have organized normally after the
announcements of its 2019 annual results and 2020 interim
results to brief them about the Company’s financial results and
business developments.

With special precautious measures taken, the Company's 2020
AGM was held with the attendance of all Board members,
including Chairman of the Board and Chairmen of the respective
Board Committees, and Senior Management of the Company to
answer questions raised by shareholders.

Constitutional Document

The Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company
(“Constitutional Document”) is available on the Company's
website and the website of the HKEXnews of the Hong Kong
Exchange and Clearing Limited. There was no amendment to the
Constitutional Document during 2020.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (“‘ESG Report”)
includes our disclosures related to the requirements as set out in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the "ESG
Guide”), Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”).

About Tradelink

Tradelink is an e-commerce services company and its principal activity
is to provide Government Electronic Trading Services (“GETS") for
processing certain official trade-related documents. Leverage its core
competence, Tradelink has diversified its business in other areas
including supply chain solutions, identity management solutions and
payment technology solutions, some of which being operated by the
Company’s subsidiaries. The mission of the Company is to empower its
clients with business enabled e-solutions for their commercial and
financial activities.

Scope of the ESG Report

This ESG Report focuses on aspects which have been identified as
material to the Group’s business by the Board and its key stakeholders
namely, its employees, investors and shareholders, customers, suppliers
and the community. As our core businesses are carried on in Hong
Kong, the scope of reporting in this ESG Report covers Tradelink and its
subsidiaries in Hong Kong for the period from 1 January 2020 to
31 December 2020.

ESG Strategy & Reporting

In accordance with the Listing Rules, the Board has overall
responsibility for the Company’'s ESG strategy and reporting. The
Company has been pursuing its ESG strategy since its adoption by the
Board on 29 March 2016. Our ESG strategy is summarized as follows:

Environmental

- We are committed to sustainable business practices that help
protect the environment.

- We run our business in a responsible manner and minimize
environmental pollution.

- We implement internal policies to reduce environmental impact
and raise employees’ awareness of the efficient use of resources.

— We support or collaborate with organizations which promote
environmental protection.
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Social

- We manage our human resources and maintain our
employer-employee relationship with the employees in strict
compliance with the relevant employment laws.

- We use reasonably best endeavors to engage our suppliers to be
in compliance with their local environment and employment laws.

- We make positive contributions to the community.

Governance

72

- Tradelink is committed to a high standard of corporate governance
and detailed information in relation to governance is shown
separately under the heading “Corporate Governance Report” in
the annual report.

The Board will review the ESG strategy and identify areas for
improvements from time to time or when appropriate.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities to the Audit Committee to
evaluate and determine ESG-related risks to ensure that appropriate and
effective ESG risk management and internal control systems are in
place. The Board has also delegated responsibilities to the Corporate
Governance Committee to review performance and compliance on
corporate governance matters of the Company. Both the Audit
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee would report back to
the Board on their decisions or recommendations for the Board's
consideration and approval.

During the year, the Board received a confirmation from Senior
Management on the effectiveness of the ESG risk management and
internal control systems on the basis of the risk management and
internal control reports. The same reports have been endorsed by the
Audit Committee.
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Stakeholders’ Engagement

The Company values the opinions of its stakeholders and engages them
on a continual basis in order to understand their views, meet or even
exceed their expectations and implement its ESG strategy more

smoothly and successfully.

In 2020, the Company collected the

following stakeholders’ opinions via various channels:

Stakeholders

Concerned matters

IR

KOENSHE

ARAERFOHENBERTHEFRELHE
UEBREENBE HRXEEBLREFHE
Y B IBR T AR TM%% e ke
AR N T _FF AR BZHRRER
ETIRHNENER

Engagement channels

HHE BEINEER SHERE
Employees Employee rights and benefits Staff intranet portal and emails
== Training and development B T M4 &S5

Investors and shareholders

REERKER

Customers
S

Suppliers

HER

Community

o)

The work environment
Work-life balance

& BN R 4& A
Hll kR

TERIE
TEEAE 2 HH T

Investment returns
Business development
Business performance
Business strategies
Corporate governance
R & B}

XBER

EIERI

Eil

hEER

Product/service quality/service
level

Product/service price

Customer information/personal
data confidentiality

Cyber security

Employment practices

Business ethics (anti-corruption
and prevention of bribery)
Corporate governance

Em/  REEEIRBEKF

B

BN B BHR 2

& by EH

RES KWL

> Tt 0 28 03 Itk

e HE MBS T B0 20
0 e 3 0 N\

%w

Business ethics and credit
Fair trade

Mutually beneficial strategic
alliances

Corporate governance
mEEERER
NERP

B =5 F BB R0
TEER

Community development
Social welfare

Zanl i g

it & 18 Al

Announcements, newsletters, circulars, annual
report, interim report, annual general meeting and
conference calls

NE B BE - FWR-PHRE BREEFKR
@& 5 gﬁ = u?ﬁt

Product/service terms and conditions, code of
conduct, contracts, letter of undertaking on
integrity, meetings and training, after-sales service
(customer inquiries or complaints)
iuu/ﬂﬁif%\%?k&lﬂ# BREFSPH B BIE A
FREK B MRS Eéﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂihﬁ)

Negotiation of contracts, meetings

ERaK &&

Volunteer work and charitable activities
EIMRBLESEY

ESG-related risks were also raised and discussed in the Company’s risk
management meetings which were held on a regular basis. Comments
and recommendations were reported back to Senior Management.
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Materiality Assessment

During the year, the stakeholders’ opinions collected were reviewed and
assessed. Taking into account the reporting principles as set out in the
ESG Guide, the business nature and principal activity of the Company,
the relevant information under the Social Areas of the ESG Guide, which
is considered to be important to its investors and stakeholders, would
be disclosed in details in this ESG Report. Information on the relevant
policies adopted by the Company and how such policies comply with
the relevant laws and regulations would also be disclosed.

Given the fact that the Company is an e-commerce services company,
the three aspects under the Environmental Area, namely Emissions, Use
of Resources and the Environment and Natural Resources, are not
considered material enough which need to be disclosed in accordance
with the ESG Guide. The respective reasons are as follows:

For Emissions, the Company’s operation is not involved in air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste in significant
quantities. There are no relevant laws and regulations that have
significant impact on the Company regarding Emissions.

Similarly, for Use of Resources, the Company’s operation is not involved
in direct and/or indirect energy consumption (e.g. electricity, water and
other raw materials) and water consumption in significant quantities. In
addition, the Company’s operation is not involved in packaging materials
used for finished products as the Company does not deliver tangible
products.

For Environment and Natural Resources, the Company considers its
business nature and operation having no significant impact on
environment and natural resources.

Nevertheless, the Company understands the importance of
environmental protection and undoubtedly supports it. In this regard, the
Company constantly reminds its staff to protect the environment and
use energy and resources effectively and efficiently by issuing policies
and guidelines on the related subjects. In this ESG Report, we would
voluntarily disclose the policies and practices which have been adopted
by the Company with a view to conserving the environment.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Environmental

The Company has implemented several environmental policies to
protect the environment. We have been running and will continue to run
our business in a responsible manner and minimize environmental
pollution.

The Company takes actions in daily operations to reduce environmental
impact. They include:

- using LED lamps, reminding staff of turning off lights and
air-conditioning when not in use or out of office,

- keeping air-conditioning at 25°C,

- installing of a new air-conditioning system in the office to improve
the air quality and save energy consumption and costs,

- posting internal posters on saving water,

- installing tap water controllers to limit the water flow and speed
to save water consumption,

- setting up timer for air conditioners and water dispensers to save
electricity,

— using e-forms to reduce use of paper; and

- installing recycling bins for metals, plastics and waste paper
collections in office.

Besides, the Company produces corporate stationeries, reports and
souvenirs made by environment-friendly materials and uses recycled
papers and toners to raise employees’ awareness of efficient use of
resources and conservation of the environment. The Company is willing
to support or collaborate with organizations which promote
environmental protection. All these policies aim at not only
environmental protection but also cost-saving for the Company.

The Company also promotes environmental awareness of our
employees and the good use of resources through different programs.
During the reporting period, the Company has mobilized our staff to
support Non-Governmental Organizations (“NGOs”) campaigns such as:

- collecting used red packets for recycling and pledging to reduce
the printing quantity of company red packets, and

- collecting mooncake boxes for recycling.
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Social

Employment and Labour Practices

Employment

Employee profiles and turnover rates in 2020 of our operations in Hong
Kong, breakdown by gender and age are shown at table below.

i

EERZEIER

[=3-1
TRITEENRFRE SN T _ZTF
HBHRERBERRRAE-

HFEE

Number of Overall turnover rate

employee 2020

EEAH™ TECEFERBRAE

Our workforce BT 235 14.9%
Breakdown by gender R R &5

Female g 100 15%

Male Esgd 135 14.8%
Breakdown by age RERE D

< 25 <255% 16 12.5%

25-29 25p% £295% 41 41.5%

30-39 30p% £395% 52 13.5%

40-49 40p% £495% 86 8.1%

> 50 >507% 40 5%

The Company manages its human resources and maintains its
employer-employee relationship with the employees in compliance with
the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57), the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485), the Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap.
608) and the different legislations against discrimination.

To the Company, employees are valuable assets. The Company
provides equal employment opportunity and competitive remuneration
packages to attract and retain employees. The Company has issued and
would continue to review and update policies and guidelines relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other
benefits and welfare.

The Company offers employee benefits better than the requirements of
Employment Ordinance like fully-paid sick leave, maternity leave and
paternity leave, and provides birthday leave, marriage leave,
compassionate leave, examination leave, voluntary service leave,
medical insurance and ex-gratia payment to retiring employees. The
Company has employed disabled employees and provided them with
disability-friendly working environment. The Company has adopted a
lactation policy and provided a lactation room to support breastfeeding
mothers as part of the Company’s family-friendly policies and benefits.

In order to promote work-life balance, the Company provides flexible
working hours to employees and makes part-time job arrangement for
working parents. The Company has also designated a room to be the
common room for holding staff social activities.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Social (Continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

Health and Safety

The Company provides a safe and healthy working environment and
protected employees from occupational hazards in compliance with
relevant laws and regulations, including without limitation the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509) (“OSHQO”) and the
regulations under the OSHO.

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, to protect the safety and health of staff
against the spread of the virus, anti-coronavirus measures and
guidelines were set up in 2020 including temperature check at reception
for employees and visitors, hand sanitizer in all meeting rooms and
reception, work-from-home arrangement, flexible working hours and
lunch time, provision of 50 masks to each staff each month,
strengthening office cleaning, using Zoom for meetings, staff wearing
masks in public areas and in face-to-face conversations and 1-meter
social distancing, etc. Staff activities including Annual Dinner and
Christmas Party could not be held this year. However, dining vouchers
were given to department heads for organizing team meals with staff as
appropriate.

The Company has purchased an Automated External Defibrillator ("AED")
in 2018. Training on AED was provided to staff. From time to time, the
Company provides occupational health and safety information to its
employees so as to raise their awareness on workplace safety.

The Company always puts office safety as their top priority. The
Company would do its utmost to minimize the risk of fire in office. In
accordance with fire regulations, all Tradelink offices have been
installed with fire sprinklers and fire extinguishers, which are checked
annually by qualified persons. In order to increase the staff's safety
awareness, fire drill is conducted regularly to show the location of fire
exits and the way to the exit in case of a fire. Training on fire safety
was also organized for staff.

Development and Training

The Company has policy on training subsidy. The Company supports
employees to attend external, job-related training courses and seminars
to improve their knowledge and skills for discharging their duties at
work and enhance their career progression. Moreover, the Company
provides training subsidy to staff for payment of course fees and
examination fees for job-related courses or qualifications.

Labour Standards
The Company abides by the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57) and its
regulations and have not employed any child and forced labour.
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Social (Continued)

Operating Practices

Supply Chain Management

The Company values mutually beneficial long standing relationships
with the suppliers and customers by providing high quality services to
customers and developing mutual trust with suppliers.

In the Company’s procurement policy, it is specifically stated that the
Company would use its reasonably best endeavors to select and
engage suppliers which are in compliance with their local environmental
and employment laws. Moreover, the Company requests its key
suppliers to provide written compliance confirmations confirming, inter
alia, that they are in compliance with their local environmental laws and
regulations and they will run their businesses in a responsible manner
and minimize environmental pollution.

Product Responsibility

The Company provides hotline service, on-site technical support and
training for customers who use our services and products. The
Company also pledges to continuously improve its service and products
through enhancements and upgrades with an aim to deliver the best
possible reliable and quality solutions to our customers. The Company
does the best to meet the set service targets and strives to achieve
high standard in different aspects of its operations.

Tradelink observes the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486)
(the "PDPQ") and the data collection principles under the PDPO in
conducting its business. The Company educates and requires its staff
to handle personal data of its customers carefully and properly. Access
to the personal data of the customers is limited to those employees
who have a genuine need to access to such personal data in order to
perform the services to the customers. The Company will only process
the personal data of its customers to the extent, and in such a manner,
as is necessary for the purposes of provision of its services and in
accordance with the customers’ instructions and will not process the
personal data for any other purposes. The Company will not disclose
the personal data of its customers to other third parties without the
consent of its customers. The Company stipulates clearly its privacy
obligations to customers in its Privacy Policy which will be reviewed and
updated from time to time to take account of legislative amendments
to PDPO, other applicable privacy law and trends and practices in other
advanced jurisdictions. In the financial year under review, the Company
has updated its Privacy Policy with specific reference to marketing
activities so as to afford its customers more privacy protections and
options.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2020

e (&)

EBER

HEgEE
ARARBREHERREPNRSREEENH
F RAEPRUSEZRRY TRHEEHRYE
=REK -

AARHRBHEFRER  AREHAE RIS
BENEERZBETHEMREREREN N
HEE - Wi ARAERETEHEFREHRSE
EESTHER AR (K ) BB TEMRE
EPIFOER  AABEERBRFE SRARERKE
M ABERT -

EmEE

AR A AE AR AP AR 75 I mm ) B P AR S AR AR
B RISEM SR BB - AR R AR BBN
ERTR BENEERBRER EEREP
RESAENSEZENATAR - ARFZREA
EABREERBBRZHINEIRBEERZ IR

BREEE

B 5 BETEBENEBE(EANE R (FLE) &
FUDCTFLBR GBI 1) - 3 0 AR 8 28 765 5 2 PR AL B 1591
ETHRAKEER - ARAEELREHESR
ZEMEEWEETEPHNEAER - EEERR
REPRHERBEAAERMENEPEAANE
e ARBEREHRRBE RRREFPNE TG
BHEABERLIAMTAITE BTG REEME
ABRHEEMEMAR - AABRTENKREIE
FRENBATEATMEME=7HEZFHE
AER  RABRELERRPRAETAES R
FREBHEMR U2RLEBEINERT  EtE
RAMLBRRAREM A ERZEERENBE R
HOR T AR A B 3 B AL IR o 42 0 B A B IR
FES  ARFCHAGE LR EHELE
BE NWAEEFPRHEZILEBRIENERE -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Social (Continued)

Anti-corruption

The Company has zero tolerance to corruption. As a matter of fact, the
Company is deemed a “public body” under the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201) to reflect the nature of the GETS services and the
Company’s market position as a major service provider with a licence
granted by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (the “Government”) in running important public functions. In this
regard, Senior Management and directors of the Company who will likely
be regarded as “public officials” for the purpose of the common law
offence, have been advised on their various liabilities under the
common law offence on “misconduct in public office”.

For employees in general, in order to comply with Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201) and other relevant anti-corruption laws and
regulations, the Company has adopted a Code of Ethics and Conduct
(the “Code”) which is applicable to all employees of the Group. The
Code which is subject to the review and comment by the Independent
Commission Against Corruption (“ICAC”"), provides the details about the
liabilities as employees of a public body. All employees are required to
read the Code and understand and observe them both in letter and in
spirit at all times. They must observe the prescribed standards of
behavior when performing duties at work. The Code addresses, inter
alia, the following key areas:

- Proprietary and Confidential Information
- Conflict of Interest

- Prevention of Bribery

- Gifts, Gratuities, Hospitality

- Notification of Suspected Corrupt Conduct
- Personal and Private Dealings

Moreover, the Company has whistle-blowing procedures to encourage
staff to report, on a confidential basis, any misconduct, dishonesty,
corruption, illegal activity or wrongdoing within the Company which they
become aware of to the Vice President (Internal Audit), who is the
delegate of the Audit Committee. If the whistle-blower believes that the
Vice President (Internal Audit) has a conflict of interest in the matter,
the report can be made directly to the CEO. Likewise, if it is believed
that the CEO has a conflict of interest in the matter, the report may be
made directly to the Chairman of the Audit Committee or the Chairman
of the Board. No such report was received during the reporting period.
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Social (Continued)

Community

Community Investment

With our commitment to help improving the community well-being, we
continuously encourage our staff, their families and friends to
participate in different voluntary activities. To this end, one measure
which the Company has introduced to motivate staff to participate in
voluntary services is our implementation of a voluntary service leave
policy under which a staff can take up to 2 days’ full paid leave in a
year for his/her participation in service of a charitable nature. During the
reporting period, 3 days of voluntary service leave were taken by our
staff in total (2019: 12.5 days of voluntary service leave were taken by
staff). We encouraged our staff to bring the community involvement in
their daily life by putting words into action.

During the reporting period, the Company joined the following charitable
and community work organized by local NGOs or community groups.

. Joining World Vision's Skip-A-Meal Campaign

Tradelink supported World Vision’s Skip-A-Meal Campaign held in
June 2020 and encouraged staff to donate their meal money to
help children and families who were facing food crisis due to
climate change. The funds raised from this Skip-A-Meal
Campaign were used to support World Vison's work in
disaster-hit Somalia, South Sudan and Zimbabwe to meet the
needs of the hungry in these countries.

. Participating in Packing Virus Prevention Materials for Direction
Association for the Handicapped
Tradelink recruited staff and their families or friends to be
volunteers to pack the virus prevention materials to be distributed
to the members of Direction Association for the Handicapped (#&
MR EE A LTHE) in September 2020.

Charity Donation

To promote our care for the community, we not only participated in
voluntary services and donation, but also encouraged our customers to
join in with us. Under our customer loyalty program, customers could
use their bonus points to make charity donations to charitable
organizations such as the Hong Kong PHAB Association, Direction
Association for the Handicapped and Oxfam Hong Kong. During the
reporting period, we had more than 200 customers donating their bonus
points to these three charitable organizations.
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Social (Continued)

Community Recognition

In appreciation of the various social aspects of work we have done, we
are pleased that we currently have the following recognitions awarded

by related organizations.

Award:
#2215 ¢

BiE-tEg K

e (&)
?ié:w

B8 B AL AR N DI 880 o

Organizer:

EWMEMN

BHRZETERBNTIFERTEE -

I ER A4

Award for Family-Friendly Employers to Tradelink
XEREREE-E5B

Award for Breastfeeding Support to Tradelink
XFHEHARHE -Z58

Good MPF Employer Award to Tradelink and Digi-Sign
[TE® & £ ]— & 5B K&Digi-Sign

Support for MPF Management Award
RS EER

Caring Company Logo to Tradelink and Digi-Sign
[ REREEIER — & %8 &Digi-Sign

List of Barrier-free Companies to Tradelink
BEBAECERE -E58

“Green Office” label and “Eco-Healthy Workplace” label in
Green Office Awards Labelling Scheme (GOALS)
HZEMAERENF S(GOALS)M T4 B I A E IS
[z TAER IR

Family Council and Home Affairs Bureau

REZGRRREBLR

Family Council and Home Affairs Bureau

REZGERRREBLR

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority
BHMEATESIEEER

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority
BHMEATESIEEER

Hong Kong Council of Social Service

EBTEeRBH S

Hong Kong Council of Social Service

EBTEeRBH S
World Green Organisation
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their Annual Report together
with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2020.

Principal Place of Business

The Company is a company incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong
and has its registered office and principal place of business at 11th and
12th Floors, Tower B, Regent Centre, 63 Wo Yi Hop Road, Kwai Chung,
Hong Kong.

Principal Activity

The principal activity of the Company is the provision of Government
Electronic Trading Services (‘GETS") for processing certain official
trade-related documents. Leveraging its core competence, the Company
has diversified its business into other areas including supply chain
solutions, identity management solutions and payment technology
solutions, some of which being operated by the Company’s subsidiaries.

The principal activities and other particulars of the Company’s
subsidiaries are set out in Note 75 to the “Notes to the Financial
Statements”.

Business Review

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year, a discussion
on the Group’s future business development and possible risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing are set out in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” and ‘Management Discussion and
Analysis” and these sections form part of this Directors’ Report.

The Group'’s financial risks are shown in Note 26 to the sections headed
“Notes to the Financial Statements”.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators can be found throughout this Annual
Report.

The Board believes that a strict compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations is pivotal to the success of the Company. For this purpose,
the Board has delegated responsibilities to the Audit Committee, the
Corporate Governance Committee and Senior Management to monitor
and implement the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with the legal and regulatory requirements that have a significant
impact on the Company.
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Business Review (Continued)

As an entity incorporated and listed in Hong Kong, the Company is
governed, managed and operated pursuant to the Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622), the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571), the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited on the corporate level. The Board has adopted the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, and its
committees have their own terms of reference defining their respective
rights, duties and obligations. Besides, the Company is deemed to be a
“public body” under the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201) to
reflect the nature of the GETS services and the Company’'s market
position as a major service provider granted a licence by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the
“Government”) in running important public functions. The Company has
also acted in strict compliance with the Employment Ordinance (Cap.
57), the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485), the
Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608) and the different legislation
against discrimination.

On the operational level, the various businesses of the Group are
conducted in accordance with, among others, the Competition
Ordinance (Cap. 619), the Unsolicited Electronic Messages Ordinance
(Cap. 593), the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486) and the
Electronic Transactions Ordinance (Cap. 553). The member companies
of the Group have registered their trademarks and domain names to
protect their intellectual property rights, which are considered crucial to
their businesses. In particular, the Company conducts its core business
of providing the GETS services to the trading and logistics sectors in
conformity with the Import and Export Ordinance (Cap. 60) and the
GETS Contract signed with the Government in addition to the
above-mentioned ordinances.

For the Group’s environmental policies and performance and the key
relationships with its employees, customers, suppliers and community,
the discussions are shown in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report ("ESG Report”) and the ESG Report forms part of this Directors’
Report.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
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Major Customers and Suppliers

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during
the financial year is as follows:

TEEFREER

RAMBRFEIEEFPRHEEED BIEE R EE
MEEERRBEENDT

Percentage of the Group’s Total

EEAEEAENE DL
Sales Purchases
SHEHE B
The largest customer BREP 3.9%
Five largest customers in aggregate FA AZEF A&t 13.0%
The largest supplier BARHERD 3.1%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate ~ A K#ERE A 5t 9.2%

At no time during the year have the Directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in
these major customers or suppliers.

Financial Statements

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the
state of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs at that date are set out
in the financial statements on pages 106 to 201.

Recommended Dividend

An interim dividend of HK 1.95 cents per share (2019: interim dividend
of HK 3.3 cents per share) was paid on 9 October 2020.

The Directors now recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK
7.25 cents per share (2019: final dividend of HK 6.5 cents per share) for
the year ended 31 December 2020. The proposed dividend is expected
to be paid on or about 26 May 2021 to qualified shareholders subject to
shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM.
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are set out
in Note 74 to the “Notes to the Financial Statements”.

Share Capital

Details of the issue of shares and the movements in share capital of the
Company during the year are set out in Note 25 to the "Notes to the
Financial Statements”.

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the financial year 2020 and up to
the date of this report were:

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SBS., J.P.

Executive Directors

Mr. TSE Kam Keung

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily

Non-executive Directors
Dr. LEE Delman

Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth
Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHAK Hubert

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P.

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company at the date of this
report are shown on pages 39 and 44.

In accordance with Article 100 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, at each AGM one half of the Directors for the time being (or,
if their number is not a multiple of two, then the number nearest to but
not greater than one half) shall retire from office. Mr. TSE Kam Keung,
Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew, Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SBS., J.P,
Dr. LEE Delman, Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth and Ms. CHAN Chi Yan will
retire at the forthcoming AGM. All retiring Directors, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.
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Directors (Continued)

The Directors of subsidiaries during the financial year 2020 and up to
the date of this report were:

Mr. TSE Kam Keung

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily
Ms. CHU Pik Kwan, Peggie

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to the Company's Articles of Association, subject to the
statutes, every Director of the Company shall be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which Director
may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of the
Director's office or otherwise in relation thereto. Such permitted
indemnity provision is in force at any time in the financial year and at
the time of approval of this report.

Director’'s Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts

Dr. LEE Delman was appointed as a Non-executive Director on
29 October 2012 and is the President and Chief Technology Officer for
TAL Apparel Limited and accordingly may be regarded as interested in
all contracts and other dealings between TAL Apparel Limited and
members of the Group during the year under review.

Apart from the foregoing, no contract, transactions or arrangements of
significance to which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party or
were parties, in which a Director of the Company or any entities
connected with the Director had a material interest, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has an
unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than normal
statutory compensation.

All Directors shall retire by rotation in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company and the Listing Rules or at such time as
may be required by resolution of the Board of the Company.

Details of three Executive Directors’ employment contracts, four

Non-executive Directors’ and five Independent Non-executive Directors’
service contracts are set out below.
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Directors’ Service Contracts (Continued)

Mr. TSE Kam Keung signed an employment contract to act as the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 1 July 2015, for a
three-year term until 30 June 2018, subject to a 3-month written notice
to terminate the contract by either the Company or Mr. TSE. The
contract extended upon its expiry on 30 June 2018 for a period of not
more than 3 years with other terms remain unchanged.

Under the employment contract of 30 August 2004 signed between the
Company and Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew, the contract can be
terminated by the Company or Mr. CHENG by giving one month’s notice
or payment in lieu of notice. On 15 November 2011, Mr. CHENG was
appointed as Acting Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and
on 26 June 2012, he became the Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the
Company. In line with the business developments of the Company, he
was re-designated as the Chief Technology Officer of the Company on
1 January 2017.

Under the employment contract between the Company and Ms. CHUNG
Shun Kwan, Emily dated 20 March 2008, Ms. CHUNG acts as the Chief
Operations Officer of the Company. The contract can be terminated by
the Company or Ms. CHUNG by giving one month’s notice or payment
in lieu of notice. Since Ms. CHUNG reached retirement age at her 60,
her employment contract was extended on 14 July 2016, 17 July 2017,
16 July 2018, 16 July 2019 and 22 July 2020 respectively, each for a
1-year period.

In the 2017 AGM, the Company entered into service contracts with three
Non-executive Directors, namely Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SBS., JP,
Dr. LEE Delman and Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth; two Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAU Tak Hay and Ms. CHAN Chi
Yan, each for a period of three years. The service contract can be
terminated by the Company or the Director by giving one month’s notice
in writing or payment in lieu of notice. The extension of the service
contracts with the aforesaid Directors for a period of three years with
other terms remain unchanged were approved by shareholders at the
2020 AGM.

In the 2018 AGM, the Company entered into service contracts with a
Non-executive Director Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent and three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAK Hubert,
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy and Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, MH., J.P,
each for a period of three years. The service contract can be terminated
by the Company or the Director by giving one month’s notice in writing
or payment in lieu of notice.
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Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at 31 December 2020, Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SBS, JP., a
Non-executive Director, had a deemed interest in 101,125,000 shares of
the Company through his indirect shareholding in TAL Apparel Limited
and 95,673,000 shares in the Company through his direct shareholding
in Eastex (HK) Limited respectively. Dr. LEE Delman, a Non-executive
Director, had a deemed interest in 101,125,000 shares of the Company
through his indirect shareholding in TAL Apparel Limited. The deemed
interests 101,125,000 shares of the Company held by Dr. LEE Nai Shee,
Harry, S.B.S, J.P. and Dr. LEE Delman were the same shares held by TAL
Apparel Limited. Mr. TSE Kam Keung, Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew
and Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily, Executive Directors of the Company,
held 4,070,000, 2,755,843 and 2,994,605 ordinary shares of the Company
registered in their own names respectively as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFQ").

The Directors of the Company are entitled to options under the share
option schemes of the Company, details of which are set out in the
section “Share Option Schemes” below.

Apart from the foregoing, none of the Directors of the Company or any
of their spouses or children under eighteen years of age has interest or
short positions in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company, any of its holding company, subsidiaries or other associated
corporations, as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Companies.

Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme currently in operation was adopted on 9 May
2014 (the “Share Option Scheme 2014"). Under the Share Option
Scheme 2014, the Board has the absolute discretion to offer any
employees (whether full or part-time), directors (including Independent
Non-executive Directors), consultants, business associates or advisers
of the Company or any company within the Group options to subscribe
for shares of the Company, provided that the total number of shares
issued or to be issued to any one grantee in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue. The grantee shall
pay HKS$1.00 to the Company as nominal consideration for the grant
upon acceptance of the offer of an option. Each option has a 10-year
exercise period and the details of vesting conditions are set out in Note
24(a) under the heading “Notes to the Financial Statements” on pages
179 to 182. The Share Option Scheme 2014 will expire on 8 May 2024.
However, share options granted under this Share Option Scheme before
its expiry date will remain valid, subject to the same terms and
conditions.
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Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme 2014 is:

(a)  to assist the Company to attract and retain the best available
personnel; and

(b) to provide additional incentives to employees, directors,
consultants, business associates and advisers to promote the
success of the Group;

by providing them with an opportunity to have a personal stake in the
Company through an offer of grant of options. The Shares subject to
the Share Option Scheme 2014 will be identical in nature with the other
Shares of the Company.

The total number of share which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme 2014 shall not
exceed in aggregate 10% of the issued capital of the Company at its
adoption date, being 79,207,319 shares on 9 May 2014 (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit"). Options that have lapsed shall not be counted for the
purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit. The Scheme
Mandate Limit may be renewed by obtaining approval of shareholders in
general meetings of the Company provided that such total number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme 2014 under the Scheme Mandate Limit
as renewed shall not exceed 10% of the shares issued at the date of
approval of such limit (the "Refreshed Limit"). Options previously
granted (including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised)
shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Refreshed Limit.

The subscription amount payable in respect of each share option upon
exercise of an option shall be determined by the Board and shall be not
less than the greater of:

(i) the closing price of the shares on the SEHK’s daily quotation sheet
on the date, which must be a business day, of a written offer of
such option (the “Date of Grant”); and

(ii) the average closing price of the shares on the SEHK as stated in
the SEHK's daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the Date of Grant.

At the AGM of the Company on 8 May 2015, shareholders approved the
amendments to clauses 10.1(D), 10.1(E) and 2.1 of the Share Option
Scheme 2014. Such amendments to the Share Option Scheme 2014
give the Board a discretion to waive or extend the 90-day Limitation
with authority to impose conditions to any such waiver or extension and
to provide an appropriate exercise period for each grant of options
during the scheme period. This provides the Board with necessary
flexibility it needs to deal, in the best interest of the Company, with the
different types of situations that may arise over the course of the
ten-year validity period of the Share Option Scheme 2014.
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Share Option Scheme (Continued) BREE (&)

The following table discloses movements in the Company's share TNERBEFRAR A BRERNE
options during the year:

Effect of
options lapsed
upon termination

No. of options of employment/  No. of options Market value
outstanding as No. of options No. of options No. of options expiry of the  outstanding as Exercise  per share on
at 1 January granted during exercised during cancelled during 10-year exercise at 31 December Exercise  price per exercise of
2020 the year the year the year period 2020  Date granted  period share options*
R-B-%BF HALEE/ R-B-2F BRE
—A-A +ETES +t=A=+-8 TR
8 AR AT BB FRRHE FRITEN FREHN E S e AR AT G Y BR FREH
BREBE BRERE BREHE BREBE BRENY BREHE REAHW TEE TRE # T
HKS HKS
BT B
Directors
Eis
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, 900,000 - - - - 900,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 -
S.B.S., JP. - mE +4F
FhHE®RL ~AZ+H
SBS., JP. 100,000 - - - - 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 178 -
—E-0F tF
tA=A
Dr. LEE Delman 200,000 - - - - 200,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 -
FEABL “E-ME &
~A=+H
100,000 - - - - 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 178 -
—Z-8F +F
+tA=A
Mr. YING Tze Man, 200,000 = - - = 200,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 -
Kenneth —E-ME +F
BFXRE ~A=+HE
100,000 - - - - 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 -
—ZT-8F +F
+A=AH
Mr. CHAK Hubert 900,000 - - - - 900,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 -
BHBRiE —E-mFE +F
~A=+H
100,000 - - - - 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 -
—T-8F TF
tHA-H
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay 500,000 - - - - 500,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 -
BAEELE = mE +45
~A=+H
100,000 - - - - 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 178 -
—T-8F TF
+tA=AH
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, 800,000 - - - - 800,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 -
Jimmy —ZT-mF +F
BB L ~A=+H
100,000 = - - = 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 -
—T-8F tF
+tA=H
Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, 900,000 - - - - 900,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 -
MH., J.P. —T-ME +F
[EbE-S: . ANA=+H
MH., J.P. 100,000 - - - - 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 178 -
—E-0F tF
tA=A
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Share Option Scheme (Continued) BEREE (&)

Effect of

options lapsed

upon termination
No. of options of employment/  No. of options Market value
outstanding as No. of options No. of options No. of options expiry of the  outstanding as Exercise  per share on
at 1 January granted during exercised during cancelled during 10-year exercise at 31 December Exercise  price per exercise of
2020 the year the year the year period 2020  Date granted  period share options*
R-B-%BF BLILEE/ R-B-2F BRE
—A—-AR +ETES +=A=+-8 TR
8 AT B FREHN FRITEN FREHN EE PS4 i RAT M sk BRERHB
BREHE BREBE BRERE BREHE BRENYE BREBE RHBAM fTEE THEE BT BN
HKS HKS
BT BT

Mr. TSE Kam Keung 200,000 - - - - 200,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 -
Bk St —T-MEFE t+F
~AA=+H
100,000 - - - - 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 -
—T-1% +4
+tA=H
1,200,000 - - - = 1,200,000 04/07/2016 10 years 1.57 -
—E-RE +F
+AmA
2,400,000 - - - - 2,400,000 28/04/2017 10 years 1.592 -
—T—tH +F
mAZ+NR
2,400,000 - - - - 2,400,000 04/05/2018 10 years 1.34 -
—ZE-NF +F
TAMA
2,400,000 - - - - 2,400,000 12/04/2019 10 years 1.406 -
—T-NE t+F
mA+=H
- 2,400,000 - - - 2,400,000 17/04/2020 10 years 1.09 -
—EoZ2E +F
mA++AE

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, 1,200,000 - - - - 1,200,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 -
Andrew —T-mE +F
BlrBEE ~A=t+H
1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 -
—T-8F +F
+A=H
900,000 - - - - 900,000 04/07/2016 10 years 1.57 -
—E-RE +F
+tAmE
500,000 - - - - 500,000 28/04/2017 10 years 1.592 -
—T—tF +F
mA=Z+N\B
900,000 - - - - 900,000 04/05/2018 10 years 1.34 -
—E-N\F +F
HAMA
1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000 12/04/2019 10 years 1.406 -
—T-NF +F
mA+=8
- 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 17/04/2020 10 years 1.09 -
ZE-FF +F

Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, 500,000 - - - - 500,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 -
Emily —T-mEF +4F
EIERE L+ ~A=+H
700,000 - - - - 700,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 -
—E-8F +F
+tA=8H
900,000 - - - - 900,000 04/07/2016 10 years 1.57 -
ZT-RF TF
+AmAE
1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000 28/04/2017 10 years 1.592 -
—E—tF +F
mA=+NR
1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000 04/05/2018 10 years 1.34 -
—T-\F +F
AAMEH
1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000 12/04/2019 10 years 1.406 -
—E-NE +F
mA+=R
- 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 17/04/2020 10 years 1.09 -
—T-T% +4F
mA++R
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Share Option Scheme (Continued)

BRESS(E

Effect of
options lapsed
upon termination

No. of options of employment/  No. of options Market value
outstanding as No. of options No. of options No. of options expiry of the  outstanding as Exercise  per share on
at 1 January granted during exercised during cancelled during 10-year exercise at 31 December Exercise  price per exercise of
2020 the year the year the year period Date granted  period share options*
R-2-%2fF RALZE BRE
—A—-AR TETES TR
8 AR AT B FRRHH FRITEN FREHN E e BR BRRH
BREBE BRERE BREHE BREBE BRENKE REAHW TEE ﬁﬁf?; B EN
HK HKS
fiow BT
Employees 2,000,000 = - - (400,000) 1,600,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 -
g “T-ME &
~A=+H
1,900,000 - - - (400,000) 1,500,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 -
—R-0F tF
tA=H
2,100,000 - - - (400,000) 1,700,000 04/07/2016 10 years 1.57 -
—ZT-RF +F
+tAmA
2,300,000 - - - (300,000) 2,000,000 28/04/2017 10 years 1.592 -
—T—tF +F
RA=+N8
2,900,000 = - - (400,000) 2,500,000 04/05/2018 10 years 1.34 -
—T-)\F +F
RAMA
3,100,000 - - - (300,000) 2,800,000 12/04/2019 10 years 1.406 -
—E-NF +F
mA+=A
- 3,500,000 - - (400,000) 3,100,000 17/04/2020 10 years 1.09 -
ZT-2F +F
mA++tA
Ex-employees 2,900,000 - - - - 2,900,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 -
SEE —T-mE +F
~NA=+H
2,900,000 - - - - 2,900,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 -
—T-1F TF
+tA=H
2,100,000 - - - - 2,100,000 04/07/2016 10 years 1.57 -
—E-RF +F
tAmA
500,000 - - - - 500,000 28/04/2017 10 years 1.692 -
—T—-tF +F
mA=Z+NR
Total 47,100,000 7,900,000 - - (2,600,000) 52,400,000
@t
A Being the weighted average closing price of the Company's ordinary shares ~ * ANARREBIRNEERRETE B BRI

immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised.

The options granted to the Directors are registered under the names of
the Directors who are also the beneficial owners.

Information on the accounting policy for share options granted and the
weighted average value per option is provided in Notes 7(qg)(ii) and
24(a) to the “Notes to the Financial Statements” respectively.

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year was the Company,
or its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of
the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in the Company or any other body corporate.
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Equity-Linked Agreements

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year, save for the share option schemes
described in this report.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares and Underlying
Shares

The Company has been notified of the following interest in the
Company'’s issued shares as at 31 December 2020 amounting to 5% or
more of the ordinary shares in issue:

Directors’ Report (Continued)
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FTERRRRMOKREBERSGH
BERAR

ARFEER _E_ZF+_A=+—HEEX
NADETRNHOERZEDHITEBBRS%H AL
BRRERMT

Ordinary shares

ZBER
Corporate/

Registered individual Number of % of total

shareholders interests shares issued shares

a"/ HERTRSG

BRERRE PN E gk ¢=| wEYEIH

Substantial Shareholders FERR

South China (Jersey) South China (Jersey)

Holdings Ltd. Holdings Ltd. - 101,125,000 101,125,000 12.73%
TAL Apparel Limited GEBXKERAA 101,125,000 — 101,125,000 12.73%
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, ZhEEL

SBS., JP. SB.S., JP. - 95,673,000 95,673,000 12.04%
Eastex (HK) Limited Eastex (HK) Limited 95,673,000 — 95,673,000 12.04%

The register of interest in shares and short positions kept under
Section 336 of the SFO indicates that the interest disclosed by South
China (Jersey) Holdings Ltd. is the same as the 101,125,000 shares
disclosed by TAL Apparel Limited, its 100% owned subsidiary; and the
interest disclosed by Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SB.S, J.P, is the same as
the 95,673,000 shares disclosed by Eastex (HK) Limited, his 100%
wholly owned company.

Apart from the above, the Company had not been notified by any person
who had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as at 31 December 2020, which was recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

REFES REE GO EBKREFHRMOER X
K2 &M ATR - South China (Jersey) Holdings
Ltd i e i e B X BUR AR AR (K2 & W
J& A 7)) P 4% 78 19101,125,0008% A% 15 B A — #E i%
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Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors of the Company as at the date of
this Annual Report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules.

Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions

There are no connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions pursuant to the Listing Rules during the year of 2020.

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

The Company did not have any bank loans and borrowings as at
31 December 2020.

Summary of Financial Information

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on pages 202 to 203 of the
Annual Report.

Retirement Scheme

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) for all qualifying employees. Particulars of this retirement
scheme are set out in Note 23 to the ‘Notes to the Financial
Statements”.

Independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors (“INEDs") an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. All INEDs are considered independent
apart from their independence confirmations received and also through
their participations and discussion of the Company's business during
the year which INEDs demonstrated their ability to continue to bring in
fresh perspectives and independent judgements to the Board and
respective Board Committees.
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Auditors

The Company’s auditor, KPMG, will retire at the forthcoming AGM and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of the Company is to be proposed
at the forthcoming AGM.

By Order of the Board

Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SBS, JP.
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 March 2021
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Purchase, Sales or Redemption of the
Company’s Listed Securities

During the vyear, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of its listed securities.

Closure of Register of Members

The register of members will be closed from Tuesday, 4 May 2021 to
Friday, 7 May 2021, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer
of shares will be registered to determine the shareholders’ entitlement
to attend and vote at the annual general meeting ("AGM”) to be held on
Friday, 7 May 2021. In order to qualify to attend and vote at the AGM,
all duly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai,
Hong Kong for registration, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 3 May
2021.

The register of members will also be closed from Thursday, 13 May
2021 to Monday, 17 May 2021, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for the final
dividend, all duly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai,
Hong Kong for registration, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday,
12 May 2021.
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Report of the Auditors
B E RS S

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tradelink
Electronic Commerce Limited and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out
on pages 106 to 201, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2020, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020 and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auwditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Report of the Auditors (Continued)
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements for the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Revenue recognition in respect of the provision of
front-end Government Electronic Trading Services
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Refer to notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies on pages 115 to
117.
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The Key Audit Matter
BREESEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit
EPNEBFNMUERZEE

Revenue of the Group is derived from the provision of
front-end Government Electronic Trading Services (“GETS")
for processing certain official trade-related documents and
from project and other service income. Revenue from GETS
constitutes a major portion of the E-=Commerce segment,
which accounted for 67% of the Group’s revenue for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

Revenue is recognised when the customer obtains control
of the promised service in the contract.

The Group uses complex information technology (“IT")
systems to track the point of service provision for GETS.
The calculation of the GETS charge is automatically
performed by the IT systems based on pre-defined key
parameters, including unit price and transaction volume.
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Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue
in respect of GETS included the following:

with the assistance of our internal IT specialists,
identifying and evaluating the key relevant IT
systems and the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls, with
particular emphasis on the capturing and recording
of GETS transactions.

with the assistance of our internal IT specialists,
assessing the calculation logic of the pre-defined
formulae built into the IT systems and the related
parameters (including unit price and transaction
volume) used in the calculation of GETS charges;

comparing the details of the monthly manual journal
entries relating to the input into the accounting
system of aggregate GETS revenue with the reports
generated by the IT systems, on a sample basis;
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Key audit matters (Continued)

Revenue recognition in respect of the provision of
front-end Government Electronic Trading Services
(Continued)
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Refer to notes 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies on pages 115 to
117.
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The Key Audit Matter
REERTEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit
RPN BFNMAERZEE

A record of GETS transactions is generated by the IT
systems from which the GETS charges, in an aggregate
amount, are manually input into the accounting system on
a monthly basis.

We identified revenue recognition in respect of GETS as a
key audit matter because of its significance to the Group’s
total revenue and because the reliance on complex IT
systems with the subsequent manual input into the
accounting system increases the risk of error in recording
revenue.
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comparing the unit price for each GETS charge as
recorded in the IT systems with details in contracts
signed with customers, on a sample basis, and to
test the operating effectiveness of internal controls
in respect of the authorization of and input of the
unit price changes;

comparing cash receipts from customers during the
year and subsequent to the financial year end with
invoices issued to customers during the year, on a
sample basis; and

inspecting underlying documentation for other
manual journal entries relating to revenue which
were considered to be material or met other specific
risk-based criteria.
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Key audit matters (Continued)

Loss allowance of debt securities measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income

BAEET SR (&)
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Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies on pages 123 to 124.
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The Key Audit Matter
BRESEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit
EPNEBFNMERZEE

The Group invests in corporate bonds to earn interest
income as part of the Group’s cash management strategy,
which is governed by the investment guidelines approved
by the investment committee of the Group. As at 31
December 2020, the Group held a portfolio of debt
securities measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (‘FVOCI") with a fair value of
HKS104 million.

The Group measures loss allowance of debt securities
using the expected credit loss (‘ECL") model, which

requires an ongoing measurement of credit risk associated -

with a financial asset. It is subject to a number of key
parameters and assumptions, including the estimates of
probability of default, loss given default and discount rate,
adjustments for forward-looking information and other
adjustment factors. Management judgment is involved in
the selection of those parameters and the application of
the assumptions.
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Our audit procedures to assess the loss allowance for debt
securities measured at FVOCI included the following:

obtaining an understanding on the key parameters and
assumptions of the ECL model adopted by
management, including the basis of the segmentation
of the debt securities based on credit risk
characteristics, the historical default data, and the
assumptions involved in management’s estimated loss
rate;

evaluating the appropriateness of the key parameters
and assumptions adopted in the calculation of loss
allowances by comparing against historical default data
and seeking collaborative evidence from external
sources;
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Key audit matters (Continued)

Loss allowance of debt securities measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (Continued)
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Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies on pages 123 to 124.
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The Key Audit Matter
RMEERTEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit
RPN BFNMAERZEE

We identified the loss allowance of debt securities -

measured at FVOCI as a key audit matter because of the
significance of these financial assets to the Group’s total
assets and because the recognition of ECLs is inherently
subjective and requires the exercise of significant
management judgement.
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evaluating the validity of management’s assessment on
whether the credit risk of the debt securities has, or
has not, increased significantly since initial recognition
and whether the debt securities is credit-impaired by
selecting samples based on specific risk criteria; and

assessing whether the disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements on loss allowance of debt
securities is appropriate with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards.
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Information other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’'s
report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibilities
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguard applied.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Sylvene Fong.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

23 March 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
Feahlaak

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZEZE T -_ZTF+ A =+—HILFE

2020 2019

ZEZEF —TE-NF

Note HK$'000 HKS$'000

B &t BET T BT T

Revenue W z= 3 261,213 337,175
Interest income 8 WA 10,450 14,985
Other net income Hoh Uy 2= 5 58 5 6,137 1,611
Cost of purchases FREE AR (23,788) (87,916)
Staff costs 18 8 Bt A 6(a) (120,824) (119,143)
Depreciation e 6(b) (9,088) (8,022)
Other operating expenses HiE gy 6(c) (31,413) (37,471)
Profit from operations mERR 92,687 101,219

Reversal/(recognition) of impairment 4 Bf % & & 5 E 5 18

loss on other financial assets Bm (R 26(a) 99 (1,303)
Impairment loss on interest in R E QR S

an associate EOpERI=N Sk 16(b) (9,000) (4,500)
Share of results of associates IRl AN ¥ (1,395) 798
Profit before taxation Fx i B0 = R 6 82,391 96,214
Taxation 18 7(a) (9,591) (14,013)
Profit for the year KEEBR 72,800 82,201
Earnings per share (HK cents) FR2BR B 13
Basic 2R 9.2 10.3
Diluted #E 9.2 10.3

The notes on pages 114 to 201 form part of these financial statements. 1148 = $201 8 & M 5 18 5 81 75 ] & &0 — 36
Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company %3 o 17K 4 & ¥ F 5 BC 3 JE R~ F & & &) B AE 15
attributable to the profit for the year are set out in Note 77. BEARREFBERHNH T -
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meBakEtZzEmliaR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HZEZE-ZZT-_FTF+-_HA=1+—HIFE

2020 2019

— 7 —_ qi —=F— jlt EE

Note HKS$’000 HKS'000
Jiokz3 BT T BT I

Profit for the year KEERR 72,800 82,201

Other comprehensive income for the 74 [ H b 2 H g 3%
year (after tax and reclassification (BRBREHSE

adjustments): FHEE)
ltems that may be reclassified HEeggs8HmoHEz
subsequently to profit or loss: BamxmIER -
Exchange differences on translation REBBBEINEBH
of financial statements of the MR EME
operations outside Hong Kong fE 5 =58 944 (477)
Debt securities measured at fair value % 38 H fth 2 H W5 1%
through other comprehensive ~rnBEJ FVOCI D
income (“FVOCI") — net movement FATENERE
in fair value reserve - 2nBERE
) EE 12 6,015 11,511
Total comprehensive income AEETENRFZERE
for the year 79,759 93,235

The notes on pages 114 to 201 form part of these financial statements. 1148 = 52018 & I 5 # 5L B 75 R = 00 — 3B
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
FEeMBERRE

As at 31 December2020 W-_ZE-_ZTF+_-F=+—H

2020 2019
—E_ZHF —TE-NF
Note HK$'000 HKS$'000
B &t BET T BT T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment WE - WERE&E 14(a) 24,064 23,710
Goodwill G 15(b) 9,976 9,976
Interest in associates Frib B & A Rl &= 16 4,542 13,977
Other financial assets Hmi g EE 18 69,914 279,118
Deferred tax assets BEERIBEE 8(b) 652 1,230
109,148 328,011
Current assets RENEE
Trade receivables and contract assets [EWBEF M A N EE 79 64,711 63,587
Other receivables, prepayments and E b B YORRIE ~ FEAS FRIE
other contract costs R H A& KR AR 20 16,503 18,749
Other financial assets H B & E 18 222,215 38,524
Deposits with banks RITF R 69,073 12,238
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEE 102,956 131,184
Taxation recoverable AT Y Bl 75 I8 8(a) 1,639 -
477,097 264,282
Current liabilities REEE
Trade creditors, contract liabilities and EfIBER - AW EE
other payables R E A FE < 5B 21 196,313 204,893
Taxation payable FEH AR TE 8(a) 226 11,859
196,539 216,752
Net current assets REBEEFE 280,558 47,530
Total assets less current liabilities EEHERADER 389,706 375,541
Non-current liabilities kRBEF
Provision for long service payments RERB S BEE 22 3,012 3,120
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIBEAE 8(b) 1,167 1,030
Other payables H A fE 1~ ;IE 21(d) 1,200 464
5,379 4614
NET ASSETS EEFE 384,327 370,927
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

fim e AR R (&)

As at 31 December2020 W-_ZE-_ZETF+_-_A=+—H

2020 2019
—BEHF —E-hEF
Note HK$'000 HKS$'000
B &t BT BT T

Capital and Reserves BEXRFEE
Share capital N 25(b)(i) 296,093 296,093
Reserves & 88,234 74,834
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 384,327 370,927

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on EEEEGWN _-_T-_—F=F-+=Hit&EKEE

23 March 2021. T 2% o

Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SB.S, J.P. *E

Chairman ZEJ3/EE L SBS, JP.
TSE Kam Keung HITEE

Executive Director o 85 58

vl

The notes on pages 114 to 201 form part of these financial statements. 1148 = 2018 & M 5 # 5 B 75 R = 00 — 3B
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

REEREHR

C T R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZEZE T -_ZTF+ A =+—HILFE

110

Share Capital Exchange Fair value Other Retained Total
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve profits equity
DR
B eN-{ ] ERfE BERE Hitfe REER REEE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i#E  E%In BETR BETR BETR BETR BETR BETR
As at 1 January 2019 WZB-AF-F-8 296,093 5951 915 (17,154) 12 64940 350,757
Changes in equity for 2019 CE-NENRAEEEE
Dividends approved in respect of the previous year LFEEHRERS 71 - - - - - (47678) (47,678)
Equity-settled share-based transactions INREEELIARG B
ERNRS - 836 - - - - 836
Lapse of share options BREXY - (37) - - - 37 -
Profit for the year RERRF - - - - - 82,001 82,201
Other comprehensive income for the year FEREMEZANG - - (477) 11,511 - - 11,084
Total comprehensive income for the year AEE2ENERE - - (477) 11,511 - 82,201 93,235
Dividends declared in respect of the current year FERBRBREMRE 1 - - - - - (26223) (26223)
As at 31 December 2019 R-B-AE+=B=1+-R 296,093 6,750 438 (5,643) 12 73,277 370,927
Changes in equity for 2020 CECZENRARESD
Dividends approved in respect of the previous year LFEEHERE 11 - - - - - (51,651) (51,651)
Equity-settled share-based transactions IR B E 0 IAR
ERORS = 787 = = = — 787
Lapse of share options BRIEXN - (361) - - - 361 -
Profit for the year AEERF - - - - - 72,800 72,800
Other comprehensive income for the year AEEEMEZENE - - 944 6,015 - - 6,959
Total comprehensive income for the year AEE2ENEER - - 944 6,015 - 72,800 79,759
Dividends declared in respect of the current year KEEDRERENRE 71 - = = = = (15,495) (15,495)
As at 31 December 2020 R-B-BE+=B=+-8 296,093 7,176 1,382 n 12 79292 384,327
The notes on pages 114 to 201 form part of these financial statements. 1148 & $201 8 & M 5 18 5 B 75 ] % &0 — 30
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

%/ iﬁ- ﬁ AIL E ie

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #HZEZE-ZZT-_FTF+-_HA=1+—HIFE

2020 2019
—_ 7 —_ $ :%_hﬂz
Note HK$ 000 HKS'000
M it BT BT
Operating activities REEE
Profit before taxation B B4 Al Vg A 82,391 96,214
Adjustments for: EE
Interest income on debt securities FEEHE 2R
measured at FVOCI BARBEFENED
7 5 A B A (8,488) (12,364)
Interest income on deposits with banks R 7T 1%z 89 ) B 4k A (1,962) (2,621)
Net loss/(gain) on disposals of debt & B A A 2 E W
securities measured at FVOCI BEARBHEFTENES
BEHEBR (W
B BB 5 9,710 (218)
Investment income from units in FREBEZEANEE
investment funds measured at fair (TFVPLDFFEMIEE
value through profit or loss (“FVPL") EeBURERA 5 (435) -
Fair value gain on units in investment FEBEFTEAAEE=
funds measured at FVPL MR ERG BN R
ERERE 5 (389) -
Fair value gain on debt securities FERBEREANEBAENE
measured at FVPL 18 7% 7% %EI’J RNirfEE
g 25 5 (1,907) -
Net loss on disposals of associates HEBERAEE
F R 5 47 —
Equity-settled share-based payment LA B hE 45 B30 LA IR 19 3
A A 6(a) 787 836
Depreciation e 6(b) 9,088 8,022
Impairment loss on trade receivables  JEWBR T M A K& E R E
and contract assets B8 6(c) 614 1,751
Net foreign exchange loss fE 5 & 185 5 6(c) 1,525 2,071
Net loss on disposals of property, plant H& % « BE & &
and equipment EEFE 4 6
Impairment loss on interest in an R—HEBE QRN
associate REEE 16 9,000 4,500
(Reversal)/recognition of impairment E{@Eﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%?ﬁ
loss on other financial assets (BE), TR 26(a) (99) 1,303
Share of results of associates SRl RN ¥ 1,395 (798)
Operating profit before changes in REITEEESEHAMNE
working capital =% 101,281 98,702
Increase in trade receivables, contract JEWERFK - AN EE -
assets, other receivables, H i fE GRIE - T R
prepayments and other contract T8 e B fth & 49 B AN N
costs (2,014) (24,328)
(Decrease)/increase in trade creditors, &1 B 3k ?’]%1 \
contract liabilities and other payables Hﬁﬂfﬁ (WQ\)/
g (3,280) 16,5071
Decrease in customer deposits BREFIZESHD
received (6,367) (6,339)
Cash generated from operations REELENRE 89,620 84,536
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid BE#MEBNGEH (22,159) (3,043)
Tax outside Hong Kong paid BB BHINIA (11) (36)
Refund of Hong Kong Profits Tax REBBNEM 22 -
Net cash generated from operating RETHEENESTE
activities 67,472 81,457

—ETFEH
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Continued)

e RERGE)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZEZE T -_ZTF+ A =+—HILFE

2020 2019
—E-EH —T—NF
Note HK$'000 HKS'000
H it BET T BT T
Investing activities RETEE
Proceeds from disposals of debt HEFEBEMEEWE
securities measured at FVOCI BRAREEFENES
& H SRR 229,618 66,214
Payment for purchase of debt fE N E B E M2 E K E
securities measured at FVOCI RAnEBEEFENER
BH X RE (21,786) (27,885)
Payment for purchase of units in BEAZBEREANEEA
investment funds measured at FVPL T EMREE S EM
BT 4 38 (31,194) -
Payment for purchase of debt BABZBERRANEAR
securities measured at FVPL FTENEBESFMZN
%8 (154,410) -
Payment for purchase of property, plant B A% % - BE K& &
and equipment FT %~ 5k 18 (6,646) (3,593)
Interest received B U F & 13,457 15,804
Investment income received 2EE R A 435 -
Proceed from disposal of an associate H & — < QR ATS
KIE 23 -
Payment for investment in an associate 7 — & B 4 A &7 M3 & A
X RRIA (70) -
Placement of deposits with banks FARTIFR (56,830) (8,521)

Net cash (used in)/generated from RETE (A ELEW

investing activities ReFH (27,403) 42,019
Financing activities RESEE
Capital element of lease rentals paid EBENHEEHEE$NEARITTE (1,093) (606)
Interest element of lease rentals paid EfHEREHFETE (58) (38)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders of 2 1A ARG AH

the Company fi% 2 (67,146) (73,901)
Net cash used in financing activities BEEBFFANBEESEE (68,297) (74,545)

Net (decrease)/increase in cashand RERBEESZHE(HD)

cash equivalents EnEE (28,228) 48,931
Cash and cash equivalents as at R—B—BWHRER

1 January REeEEE 131,184 82,253
Cash and cash equivalents as at R+=-—A=+—8B®

31 December HeFBESEE 102,956 131,184

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents BE& R B EZEE D
Bank deposits with maturity less than R =18 B R 2| #F A9 R 77

3 months TR 46,568 114,958
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFHERAS 56,388 16,226
102,956 131,184
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Continued)

AR RERGE)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZE=—T-_ZTF+ - A=+—HIEFE

Reconciliation of lease liabilities arising
from financing activities:

The table below details changes in the Group's lease liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Lease
liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's
consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing
activities.

METBEEANHESEENY
BE -

TEHLAKERABEEZDNEER EHR
B AERGRHREED RETHELOE
EREAEREREDEAARR L REHEA
RENGARSEERTHAAREEDELN
ReRBHEAE -

2020 2019
ZEZEF —E-hF
Note HK$’'000 HKS'000
B it BT BT T
As at 1 January R—A—H 951 814
Changes from financing cash flows: RBIERLSHKENE T :
Capital element of lease rentals paid BNHEEREHNEARTE (1,093) (606)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BEfHEEE LM B ITE (58) (38)
Total changes from financing MERSRENEE B
cash flows (1,151) (644)
Other changes: Hih@ g :
Increase in lease liabilities FRNFTLHEENEE
from entering into new leases BEEM
during the year 2,564 743
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFNE 14(b) 58 38
Total other changes H i B %E 2,622 781
At 31 December R+=-—HA=+—8H 2,422 951

The notes on pages 114 to 201 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B 7% ¥k 3% M &%

114

1

Significant accounting policies

(@)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“SEHK").
Significant accounting policies adopted by the Company
and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) are discussed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 7(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2020 comprise the Group and the Group's
interest in associates and a joint venture.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis, except for
other financial assets measured at their fair values (Note

10)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

BY %% 3R =PI 5 (48)

1 Significant accounting policies 1 FEGSHBEEGE)
(Continued)
(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (b) BFF&IRET A GmEBEE (&)
(Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods. Major sources of estimation
uncertainty are disclosed in Note 2.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued the following amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the Group:

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a Business

Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions

None of these amendments have had a material effect on
how the Group’s results and financial position for the
current or prior periods have been prepared or presented.
The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sale of goods or the provision of services
in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to
be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1

Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(d) Revenue and other income (Continued)

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer for
more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present
value of the amount receivable, discounted using the
discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction with the customer, and interest
income is accrued separately under the effective interest
method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing benefit to
the Group, revenue recognised under that contract includes
the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. The Group takes advantage
of the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15
and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a
significant financing component if the period of financing

is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income

recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Transaction fees, handling fees and registration

fees

Revenue is recognised when the control over the
services have been transferred to customers.

(ii)  Annual subscription fees

Revenue is recognised on a time-apportioned basis
by reference to the period of the subscription.

(iii) Sale of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the
control of the goods have been transferred to
customers and is after deduction of any trade

discounts.

(iv) Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the shareholder’'s right to receive

payment is established.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

BY %% 3R =PI 5 (48)

Significant accounting policies

(Continued)
(d) Revenue and other income (Continued)
(v) Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at FVOCI that are not credit-impaired, the
effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of
loss allowance) of the asset (see Note 7(k)(i)).
(vi) Services income

Maintenance and support income

Maintenance and support income is recognised at
the amount to which it has a right to invoice, which
corresponds directly to the value to the customer of
the Group’s performance completed to date.

Others

Services income is recognised when the control of
the relevant services have been transferred to
customers and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

When the outcome of a contract can be reasonably
measured, revenue from the contract is recognised
progressively over time using the cost-to-cost
method, i.e. based on the proportion of the actual
costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be
reasonably measured, revenue is recognised only to
the extent of contract costs incurred that are
expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised in accordance with the policy set out in
Note 1(0).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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(&)

Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment are
stated in the statement of financial position at cost less
accumulated depreciation (or amortisation) and impairment
losses (Note 1(k)):

= buildings held for own use which are situated on
leasehold land, where the fair value of the building
could be measured separately from the fair value of
the leasehold land at the inception of the lease (see
Note 1());

= interest in leasehold land; and

= other items of plant and equipment, including right-
of-use assets arising from leases of underlying plant
and equipment (see Note 7(j)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in
profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight line method over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold improvements lower of 5 years or
the remaining term of

the lease
Platform hardware and 3-5 years
software, computer and
office equipment
Motor vehicles 3 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Building 20 years
Leasehold land unexpired term of
the lease

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and
its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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1 Significant accounting policies 1 2 BUR (&)
(Continued)
(f)  Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests ) MEBARKRFEZERER

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other
parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and any
unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised
gains but only to extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to measure any
non-controlling interests either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s
net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling interests
and other contractual obligations towards these holders are
presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position in accordance with Note
7(n) depending on the nature of the liability.
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1

Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

®

(9)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the
amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at
fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset (see Note 7(i) or,
when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or joint venture (see Note 7(g)).

In the Company’'s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less any
impairment losses (see Note 7(k)), unless the investment is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group
that is classified as held for sale).

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over its management, including participation in the
financial and operating policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or
Company and other parties, contractually agree to share
control of the arrangement and have rights to the net
assets of the arrangement.
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TEETEHE(E)

1 Significant accounting policies 1
(Continued)

Associates and joint ventures (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements
under the equity method, unless it is classified as held for
sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale). Under the equity method, the investment is
initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the
Group's share of the acquisition-date fair values of the
investee's identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). The cost of the investment includes
purchase price, other costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment
into the associate or joint venture that forms part of the
group’s equity investment. Thereafter, the investment is
adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group's
share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss
relating to the investment (see Notes 7(h) and (k)). Any
acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and any
impairment losses for the year are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the
investees’ other comprehensive income is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate or the joint venture, the Group’s interest is
reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is
discontinued except to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the
Group's interest is the carrying amount of the investment
under the equity method together with any other long-term
interests that in substance form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate or the joint venture.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates and joint venture are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
investee, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case
they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in
a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method.
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1

Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(9)

(h)

Associates and joint ventures (Continued)

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate or joint control over
a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of the
entire interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former investee at the date when significant influence
or joint control is lost is recognised at fair value and this
amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
of a financial asset (see Note 17(i)).

In the Company’'s statement of financial position, its
investments in associates and joint venture are stated at
cost less impairment losses (see Note 7(k)), unless
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group
that is classified as held for sale).

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of

0) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree; over

(i)  the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets
and liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain
purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is
allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash
generating units, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination and is tested annually for
impairment (see Note 7(k)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in
the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.
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1 Significant accounting policies 1 FEGSHBEEGE)
(Continued)
(i) Other investments in debt and equity securities (i) HMEBRRABHRE

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/
sell the investment. The investments are initially stated at
fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs,
except for those investments measured at FVPL for which
transaction costs are recognised directly in profit or loss.
For an explanation of how the Group determines fair value
of financial instruments, see Note 26(e). These
investments are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification.

(i) Investments other than equity investments
Debt securities held by the Group are classified into
one of the following measurement categories:

= amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Interest income from the investment
is calculated using the effective interest
method (see Note 7(d)(v)).

= FVOCI, if the contractual cash flows of the
investment comprise solely payments of
principal and interest and the investment is
held within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both the collection of
contractual cash flows and sale. Changes in
fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the
recognition in profit or loss of expected credit
losses, interest income (calculated using the
effective interest method) and foreign
exchange gains and losses. When the
investment is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income
is recycled from equity to profit or loss.

= FVPL if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost
or FVOCI. Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognised
in profit or loss.
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1

Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(i) Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)
(ii)  Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVPL unless the equity investment is not held for
trading purposes and on initial recognition of the
investment the group makes an election to
designate the investment at FVOCI such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets the definition
of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where such
an election is made, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income remains in the fair
value reserve until the investment is disposed of. At
the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the
fair value reserve is transferred to retained earnings.
It is not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends
from an investment in equity securities, irrespective
of whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are
recognised in profit or loss as other income in
accordance with the policy set out in Note 7(d)(iv).

(j) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from
that use.

(i) As a lessee
Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all
leases.
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1 Significant accounting policies 1 FEGSHBEEGE)
(Continued)
(j) Leased assets (Continued) ) HEEE@#E
(i)  As a lessee (Continued) (i) fEARABAAGE)

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets
which, for the Group are primarily office equipment.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on
a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-
use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less any
lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see Notes 7(e)

and 7(k)(ii)).
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Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(0)

Leased assets (Continued)

0]

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is
a change arising from the reassessment of whether
the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase, extension or termination option. When the
lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration
for a lease that is not originally provided for in the
lease contract (‘lease modification”) that is not
accounted for as a separate lease. In this case the
lease liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the
modification. The only exceptions are any rent
concessions which arose as a direct consequence of
the COVID-19 pandemic and which satisfied the
conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16
Leases.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in ‘property,
plant and equipment’ and presents lease liabilities in
‘other payables” in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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1 Significant accounting policies 1 FESHEEGE)
(Continued)
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets k) FEBEEREERE
(i)  Credit losses from financial instruments and (i) HBHERMIAREGHEENEE
contract assets BB
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected ANEBEF T5EE BREHRE
credit losses (“ECLs") on the following items: EEE(TECL]) mERE :
- financial assets measured at amortised cost = TR KR ET 2 R BT 15
(including cash and cash equivalents and EERERaEES
trade and other receivables); EEARERERERRE
fib JE UL FRIR)

= contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15 (see
Note 1(1)); and

= debt securities measured at FVOCI.

Other financial assets measured at fair value,
including units in bond funds and debt securities
measured at FVPL, are not subject to the ECL
assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the
difference between the cash flows due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls of fixed-rate financial
assets, trade and other receivables and contract
assets are discounted using effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an approximation
thereof where the effect of discounting is material.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

= 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

= lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items to
which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract
assets are always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs
unless there has been a significant increase in credit
risk of the financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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1 Significant accounting policies 1 FEGSHBEEGE)
(Continued)
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued) k) FEEBEEREEREE)
(i)  Credit losses from financial instruments and (i) HE2RMIAREGHNEENEE

contract assets (Continued) B8 (&)
Significant increases in credit risk /,: E 7 S KX 1548 0
In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial BRI eRIANGEERRE
instrument has increased significantly since initial L ERARE G REZIG N
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default RNEE SRS A E aﬂﬁﬁ’]ﬁrﬂ
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the TAZNREKEYLERB

reporting date with that assessed at the date of
initial recognition. In making this reassessment, the
Group considers that a default event occurs when
the financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

= failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

= an actual or expected significant deterioration
in a financial instrument’s external or internal
credit rating (if available);

= an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; and

= existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor's ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’'s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss. The Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account, except for
investments in debt securities that are measured at
FVOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
fair value reserve.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with Note
7(d)(v) is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial
asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on the amortised cost
(i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance)
of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset
is credit-impaired when one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset have occurred.
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1 Significant accounting policies 1 FEGSHBEEGE)
(Continued)
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued) k) FEEBEEREEREE)
(i)  Credit losses from financial instruments and (i) HE2RMIAREGHNEENEE

contract assets (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income (Continued)
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

= significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

= a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

= it becoming probable that the borrower will
enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

= significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; or

= the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or
contract asset is written off (either partially or in full)
to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
determines that the debtor does not have assets or
sources of income that could generate sufficient
cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal of
impairment in profit or loss in the period in which
the recovery occurs.

&8 (&)
FIEWA Gt HEE ()
MBEEHREERENZ
BRATASEEMN:

- BEBABHEAMBER
LA

- EREH mERHpE
HEEMNERALD

e

ERAT R RREL
2

ETHMTBER

- %Z ?ﬁ F\T?_ i’/7_7 Zf-‘é /)3-1jﬁ 32 /f
BRIBENEREFHEE
BABKIFZE 5

- BTABAREZBEGE
HREFRTS °

W 5 B
ERREWK NI BEIRE - B
BERSHNEENROLES
s (Fok 2 ) - ZBERB
FHAEAEBEEEEB AL
BEEERRARRATELERHA
RERNEEMBESE -

81 i35 & 2 RO TR AR MR B 0 MR
[e] 5 ] 7 18 a5 7 AR 25 R (B R
=

BEZBETESERALA



Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

R7 %% ¥k = B

st (#E)

1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

132

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may be
impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

= property, plant and equipment, including right-
of-use assets;

= goodwill; and

= investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures in the Company’s statement of
financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill,
intangible assets that are not yet available for use
and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives,
the recoverable amount is estimated annually
whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

= Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit).
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1 Significant accounting policies 1 FEGSHBEEGE)
(Continued)
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued) k) FEEBEEREEREE)

(i) HMFRBEENRE(E)

(ii)  Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses 858 7 (B &5 18
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or MEEXEMBEMES
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or the EEBMUNREAERR

cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the cash-generating unit (or group of units)
and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the
other assets in the unit (or group of units) on
a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset's carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.
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(&)

1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(k)

)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(iii)  Interim financial reporting and impairment
Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the
Group is required to prepare an interim financial
report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial
reporting, in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim period, the
Group applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the
end of the financial year (see Note 1(k)(i)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent
period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller
loss, would have been recognised had the
impairment been assessed only at the end of the
financial year to which the interim period relates.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue (see Note 7(d)) before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the payment terms set
out in the contract. Contract assets are assessed for ECL
in accordance with the policy set out in Note 7(k) and are
reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional (see Note 7(m)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see Note 7(d)). A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognised (see Note 7(m)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities
of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method (see Note 7(d)).
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(Continued)

(m) Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount
is presented as a contract asset (see Note 7(1)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit losses
(see Note 1(k)(i)).

(n) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost.

(o) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can
be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

1 Significant accounting policies 1 FEGSHBEEGE)
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1

(&)

Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(p) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the vyear, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous

years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax

losses and unused tax credits.

All deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences include those that will arise from the
reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary difference or in periods into which a
tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried
back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary differences
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
unused tax losses and credits, that is, those differences
are taken into account if they relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or

credit can be utilised.
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1 Significant accounting policies 1 FEGSHBEEGE)
(Continued)
(p) Income tax (Continued) (p) FEH (&)
The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based EERANECHBEREREREE

on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it
becomes probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

= in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

= in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if
they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

= the same taxable entity; or

= different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise the
current tax assets and settle the current tax
liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.
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Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(a)

Employee benefits

@

(ii)

Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits
that are due to be settled within twelve months after
the end of the period in which the employees render
the related service. Salaries, annual bonuses, paid
annual leave, contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans and the cost of non-monetary
benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees.
Where payment or settlement is deferred and the
effect would be material, these amounts are stated
at their present values.

Share based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees
is recognised as an employee cost with a
corresponding increase in a capital reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured at grant date
using the Black-Scholes model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. Where the employees have to meet
vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally
entitled to those share options, the total estimated
fair value of the share options is spread over the
vesting period, taking into account the probability
that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior years is charged/credited to the
profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the
original employee expenses qualify for recognition as
an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the
capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of share options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve)
except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market price of
the Company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the capital reserve until either the
option is exercised (when it is included in the
amount recognised in share capital for the shares
issued) or the option expires (when it is released
directly to retained profits).
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1 Significant accounting policies 1 2 BUR (&)
(Continued)
(q) Employee benefits (Continued) (q9 EEEF(E)
(iii) Provision for long service payments (iii) REOBRBELBE
Provision is made for potential long service payment REEEREERKRREFEILER
obligations that may arise upon cessation of 1@ T B] A2 EE A 1) TE R B AR 75
employment of the Group’s employees in the future, SEBIELEE BUBEEE
to the extent that there is a reasonable probability “b?,\%iﬁ%f%ﬁﬁ ZER

HBIYIRB AR RS BRI S
R HEEEBERERY
e K RIS AR
BT AFEETE °

that the amounts are likely to become payable. Such
provisions are made on a systematic basis, taking
into consideration the salary and years of service of
the employees who may qualify for such payments
in the future based on their past services rendered.

(r) Translation of foreign currencies () sNEBrE
Foreign currency transactions during the year are FAMINER SRR HE BNEX
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the BME - PIINEHENEEEEREA
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities BHEREPRNERRE - EX
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the BERBmRANER -
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss.

INEERAAENIIEIFEEEE
RABENRZXZGBMNERTE -2
SRHMAARAVFERZEIE

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the BKEeEXBEMNBH U2 EE
Company initially recognises such non-monetary assets or FIRMIINE IR EEREA TETJM
liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated AEAREBEARRMERKRE

in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are

translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the

dates the fair value was measured.

SEAEBHERETIRER 5 B L
ERME DB - IR KRIAR

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the

foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Statement of financial position items,
including goodwill arising on consolidation of foreign
operations acquired on or after 1 January 2005, are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount
of the exchange differences relating to that foreign
operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when
the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

(BHEAAH_ZTRAF A —HHK
ZERBANIIEEBOREMESE
B R RIZ R 5 5 R 9 U T B R
EReE¥ - EXZENEMEEI
mPER LERRA 2N ER
T EYBE 5

MNHENEEBR  BZIEEH
FANRFELZERNERLE
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(s) Related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are
considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

0) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)  is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

0) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1 Significant accounting policies 1 2 BUR (&)
(Continued)
(s) Related parties (Continued) (s) PBAHEEAL ()
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following (b) MAFE THEMMGH - BIEE

ELEAKEARY (&)

conditions applies: (Continued)

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by (i) ZEBIH nf7(s)(a)}5ﬁ

a person identified in Note 7(s)(a). R EY A T2 il 3 R
P o

(vi) A person identified in Note 7(s)(a)(i) has (i)  RHAE1(s)(@)()FT 7 7
significant influence over the entity or is a HEBBEEATZE N
member of the key management personnel of AT ®2 EZ &8 (%
the entity (or of a parent of the entity). ZEBHNEAR) A E

ZEBAE -

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which (vii) ZEBRIZEERBMBES
it is a part, provides key management B ERK S ATZ%ZK
personnel services to the Group or to the SENAEEE QAR
Group's parent. 1,\£¢<%“1¥)\,§\Hﬁf% o

Close members of the family of a person are those family EATHERK l?ﬁfé BiETEHA &

members who may be expected to influence, or be BZANTHZEBIHIHNREK

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity. T uZ/\iEﬁ% EBRHTE
m%ﬁﬁﬁo

(t) Cash and cash equivalents t BHekR£EHE

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECL in accordance with the policy set out in Note 7(k).

RERReSERERTRFER
£ RIRTT N E h B A5 4% 8 0 0% A8
FREAEELHAREMNSERS
mEMEkeRBERE HEEE
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1

(&)

Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(w)

v)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products or
provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil a
contract with a customer which are not capitalised as
inventory, property, plant and equipment (see Note 7(e)) or
intangible assets.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs
that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer
that it would not have incurred if the contract had not been
obtained e.g. an incremental sales commission.
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised
when incurred if the costs relate to revenue which will be
recognised in a future reporting period and the costs are
expected to be recovered. Other costs of obtaining a
contract are expensed when incurred.
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1 Significant accounting policies 1
(Continued)

(v) HtEHRE )

(v) Other contract costs (Continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs relate
directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide goods or services in
the future; and are expected to be recovered. Costs that
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract may include direct labour,
direct materials, allocations of costs, costs that are
explicitly chargeable to the customer and other costs that
are incurred only because the Group entered into the
contract (for example, payments to sub-contractors). Other
costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalised as
inventory, property, plant and equipment or intangible
assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Impairment losses are recognised to the extent that the
carrying amount of the contract cost asset exceeds the net
of (i) remaining amount of consideration that the Group
expects to receive in exchange for the goods or services to
which the asset relates, less (i) any costs that relate
directly to providing those goods or services that have not
yet been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged to
profit or loss when the revenue to which the asset relates
is recognised. The accounting policy for revenue
recognition is set out in Note 7(d).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of
financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of
an asset are deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and consequently are effectively recognised in profit
or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.
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Accounting judgements and estimates

Key sources of estimation uncertainty in relation to the
preparation of these financial statements are as follows:

Goodwill

Note 75(b) discloses management’s judgement in relation to the
identification of the Group’s E-commerce segment as the
appropriate cash generating unit for goodwill impairment
assessment. Further to that, management takes into
consideration the projected volume and activity level and cash
flows of the E-commerce businesses, discounted to present value
at a risk-adjusted discount rate. These projections are based on
assumptions that take into consideration management’s
knowledge of the business environment and their judgement on
future performance. There is inherent uncertainty in the
estimation process and the underlying assumptions relating to
the future, and accordingly actual performance may differ
significantly from the projection.

Investments in associates

The Group reviews internal and external sources of information at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that the
Group's interest in Guangdong Nanfang Haian Science &
Technology Service Company Limited (“Nanfang”), an associate
of the Group (Note 76), may be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased.
The Group estimates the interest in Nanfang's recoverable
amount when any such indication exists. The recoverable amount
of the interest in Nanfang, or of the cash-generating unit to which
it belongs, is the greater of its net selling price and value in use.
In assessing whether there is any impairment in the carrying
value of the Group’s interest in Nanfang, management may take
into consideration the projected volume and activity level, future
growth rate, and cash flows of the underlying business of
Nanfang, discounted to present value at the risk-adjusted
discount rate. These projections are based on assumptions that
take into consideration management's knowledge of Nanfang's
business environment and their judgement on future performance
and underlying risks. There is inherent uncertainty in the
estimation process and the underlying assumptions relating to
the future, and accordingly actual performance may differ
significantly from the projection.
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Accounting judgements and estimates 2

(Continued)

Investments in debt securities

For investment in debt securities measured at FVOCI, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there
has been a significant increase in credit risk of the debt
securities since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. As
explained in Note 17(k)(i), ECL is remeasured at each reporting
date to reflect changes in the debt securities’ credit risk since
initial recognition. In measuring ECL, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

The evaluation of credit risk of a debt security requires analysis
of the credit standing of a particular issuer and involves
management judgement. When assessing credit risk of debt
securities, the Group places emphasis on issuer specific factors,
such as significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency on
interest or principal payments. A credit rating downgrade,
worsened liquidity or decline in fair value below the amortised
cost is not by itself considered a loss event, but rather
incorporated in the credit risk analysis along with other available
information. Particular attention will be on those individual debt
securities for which there was a cumulative fair value loss at
each reporting date.

Revenue

The principal business of the Group is the provision of
Government Electronic Trading Services (“GETS") for processing
certain official trade-related documents. The principal activities of
the subsidiaries are set out in Note 75 to the financial
statements.

Revenue represents the value of services provided and goods
supplied to customers. All of the Group’s revenue is within the
scope of HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers. The
amount of each significant category of revenue recognised during
the year is disclosed in Note 4.

Details of concentrations of credit risk arising from customers
are set out in Note 26(a).
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Segment reporting

The Board of Directors of the Group reviews the internal reporting
by segments to assess performance and allocate resources. The
Group has identified the following reportable segments:

E-Commerce: This segment generates income from
processing government trade-related
documents and supply chain solutions.

Identity This segment generates income from the
Management: provision of security products, digital
certificates, security solutions and
biometric-based authentication solutions for

identity management.

Other Services: This segment comprises handling fees for
the conversion of paper form to electronic
messages, income from the provision of
technical support and other project services.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference to fees and sales generated and the expenses
incurred by those segments. The measure used for reporting
segment results is profit before interest, taxation and
depreciation.
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Segment reporting (Continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
timing of revenue recognition, as well as information regarding
the Group's reportable segments results as provided to the Board
of Directors for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance for the years ended 31

7 #B W E ()

REDBEREDIINZEE G QWS-
FEETESEUMEERDE R D BERE
FENERASREHE T _ZTFER_F
—NEFTZA=ZT—BIEFEAZHRDF

XEHS

J5AF o

LA

December 2020 and 2019 are set out below.

31 December 2020
—E-Z2F+=-HA=t-—-H

Identity
E-Commerce = Management Other Services Total
EfHE BHER H At AR % st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
Disaggregated by timing of BRALZEHES T
revenue recognition
Point in time BB 136,584 16,608 17,590 170,782
Over time & 5 37,426 47,033 5,972 90,431
Revenue from external customers EIBINE 174,010 63,641 23,562 261,213
Inter-segment revenue B - 7,821 4,730 12,551
Reportable segment revenue AE2H S Pk E 174,010 71,462 28,292 273,764
Elimination of inter-segment revenue 1 85 5 20 F 2 (12,551)
Consolidated revenue e W 261,213
Reportable segment profit w2/ IEF 59,089 17,636 9,988 86,713
Interest income B M A 10,450
Other net income Hib W F 5 6,137
Depreciation weE (9,088)
Reversal of impairment loss on Hin B EEREBBER
other financial assets 99
Impairment loss on interest in an associate 7 — BB & A Bl &
HmEE B (9,000)
Share of results of associates IR AN (1,395)
Unallocated corporate expenses AAELERAZ (1,525)
Consolidated profit before taxation GABRBADER 82,391

—TE_TFFR

BEZBETESERALA
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4 Segment reporting (Continued)

4 7

=D& ()

37 December 201

9

—E-nFt=A=+-8

Identity

E-Commerce ~ Management Other Services Total

BfEE FHER H fth B 7% Mt

HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000

BB T T BT T BT T BB T T

Disaggregated by timing of BRARZHES Y
revenue recognition
Point in time 2015 207,501 16,748 27,065 251,314
Over time Ka 5 38,830 39,085 7,946 85,861
Revenue from external customers oz 246,331 55,833 35,011 337,175
Inter-segment revenue 7 BP e R & - 7,823 9,592 17,415
Reportable segment revenue 2% 55k 246,331 63,656 44,603 354,590
Elimination of inter-segment revenue H 85 2Bz (17,415)
Consolidated revenue mEWE 337,175
Reportable segment profit A28 A 69,241 10,630 14,845 94,716
Interest income F B WA 14,985
Other net income Hh ez %8 1,611
Depreciation e (8,022)
Impairment loss on other financial assets HmMBEEREER (1,303)
Impairment loss on interest in an associate 7 — [ B ‘& 1 A # 2%

8RB & 1B (4,500)

Share of results of associates IRl R WNEIE 798
Unallocated corporate expenses APECERAX (2.071)
Consolidated profit before taxation FEBRBUATEA 96,214

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2020



Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

BY %% 3R =PI 5 (48)

4 Segment reporting (Continued) 4 HHFHE(E)

() RESHEBBEEFZEITNEN

(i) Revenue expected to be recognised in the future

arising from contracts with customers in existence
at the reporting date

As at 31 December 2020, there is no transaction price
allocated to the remaining performance obligations under
the Group's existing contracts (2019: Nil). This amount
represents revenue expected to be recognised in the future
from services contracts entered into by the customers with
the Group.

The Group has applied the following practical expedients in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts for
provision of services such that the above information does
not include information about the revenue if either of the
following conditions is met:

(a)  the performance obligation is part of a contract that
has an original expected duration of one year or
less; or

(b)  the entity applies the practical expedient in HKFRS
15.B16 such that it recognises revenue at the
amount to which it has a right to invoice, which
corresponds directly to the value to the customer of
the entity’s performance completed to date (e.g. a
service contract in which the entity bills a fixed
amount for each hour of service provided).

Geographic information

No geographic information is shown as the revenue and
operating profit of the Group is substantially derived from
activities in Hong Kong.
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5 Other net income 5 Hftthz F5E
2020 2019
—E-_TF —E-NF
Note HK$’'000 HKS$'000
Bt aF BT T PEEEFIT
Net (loss)/gain on disposals of debt &% B E b 2w Yk 25
securities measured at FVOCI BARBEFENES
FHH(BR), M=
B 58 (9,710) 218
Investment income from units in FERBREAEEFE

investment funds measured at HIREESEUNKRE

FVPL A 435 -
Fair value gain on units in FERBREANEEFE

investment funds measured at HNIREESEUNAR

FVPL LR E 389 -
Fair value gain on debt securities ~ FRIEFE AR BE=

measured at FVPL MEKBEFNANEE

U %5 1,907 -
Government grants for Employment (Rt 351 S| BF B &

Support Scheme (a) 12,980 —
Government grants for Enterprise ¥ SEAEBFHED S

Support Scheme (b) 183 767
Government grants for Research and #iff 3¢ 82 (1 %% 18 < [0 % =1 I

Development Cash Rebate BB &

Scheme (b) = 200
Net loss on disposals of associates &8t & A & K E1EF 5 (47) —
Other income H A A = 426

6,137 1,611
(@)  In 2020, the Group successfully applied for funding support (@) RZZEZZTF AKEKEF
from the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti- E/%%E‘Jﬁﬂlliﬂlﬁ Q37 H) [ &
epidemic Fund, set up by the HKSAR Government. The EESITHRMZESE - £ H E’M%

purpose of the funding is to provide financial support to
enterprises to retain their employees who would otherwise
be made redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the
Group is required not to make redundancies during the
subsidy period and to spend all the funding on paying
wages to the employees.

The government grants were under the Innovation and
Technology Fund (“the Fund”), set up by the Hong Kong
Government. The purpose of the Fund is to encourage
innovation by granting financial assistance to commercial
entities whose research and development projects meet
certain criteria.
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6 Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

BY %% 3R =PI 5 (48)

6 BR®i A= A

B 5% A A B HRR

2020 2019
—E-FF —ZT—-hF
HK$’'000 HKS'000
BET T BT
(a) Staff costs: (a) EBERE:
Contributions to defined contribution FE M FGRIRET &
retirement plan R 3,360 3,258
Equity-settled share-based payment LA BR 8 45 B 30 LA AR 19
expenses AEBEIZAHAEZ 787 836
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMBEF 116,677 115,049
120,824 119,143
(b) Depreciation: (Note 14) (b) & : (HE14)
— owned property, plant - FHEEANME -
and equipment B % 6,141 5,597
— right-of-use assets - ERAREE 2,947 2,425
9,088 8,022
(c) Other operating expenses: (c) Htteegmx:
Auditors’ remuneration 2% A0 N & 1,053 1,026
Directors’ fees and emoluments EEe e 2,490 2,490
Facilities management fees BEERESE 4,943 6,522
Repair and maintenance fees HERIRESR 5,230 6,395
Office rental and utilities MAEHERLA
By 3,907 4,071
Telecommunication costs B A 1,806 1,793
Promotion and marketing expenses HEREHAX 1,460 1,460
Impairment loss on trade EREFRRENEE
receivables and contract assets BB EE
(Note 26(a)) (1 326(a)) 614 1,751
Net foreign exchange loss & 18558 1,525 2,071
Others Hitp 8,385 9,892
31,413 37,471
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7

Income tax in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss

()

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss represents:

Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax ZAHHi1E — FEERFEH

REBRBERNAEH

(a) HMEBBROBER:

2020 2019
SEL e
HK$'000 HKS$'000
T T T

Provision for the year N F S 8,907 11,760
Over-provision in respect of prior year A4 [E 1B 58 1% (42) (40)
8,865 11,720
Current tax — outside Hong Kong KEHE - HBEH
Provision for the year RNEERE 11 1
Over-provision in respect of prior year LA & E B 4E B 5 = (24)
1 (23)
Deferred taxation IE B8 715 2,316
9,591 14,013

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2020 is
calculated at 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) of the estimated
assessable profits for the year. Taxation for subsidiaries
outside Hong Kong is charged at the appropriate current
rates of taxation ruling in the relevant countries.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2020 and
2019 takes into account the enhanced Research and
Development tax deductions claimed on staff costs
incurred during the year, pursuant to Schedule 45 of the
Inland Revenue Ordinance. The qualifying expenditure is
entitled to enhanced two-tiered tax deductions, i.e. 300%
for the first HKS2 million and 200% for the remaining
amount.
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Income tax in the consolidated 7
statement of profit or loss (Continued)

(b)

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting

profit at applicable tax rates:

REBRBERNAES (&)

(b)

BRERBERGIENB A HES

sHa R B RRMT

2020 2019
—E-2fF —E-NF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
BET T ook
Profit before taxation R 5% A1 4 ) 82,391 96,214
Notional tax on profit before taxation, AR5 8 78 B = & F &)
calculated at the rates applicable to FIT 15 B B8 = 12 bR B A1
profits in the countries concerned HAFTERNEEMIE 13,413 15,695
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A~ A] #1368 B 37 &9 B4 #%
o 2,532 1,567
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue FERTM AN T G B (3,533) (1,693)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RERKRBAMIBEE
recognised GO — 2
Tax effect of prior years’ unrecognised {3 A 7 F E KR #E R
tax losses utilised MEEENBETE (194) (31)
Statutory tax concession EEMIBESE (2,585) (1,463)
Over-provision in respect of prior years LA 7E 4F & iB 48 %4 #5 (42) (64)
Actual tax expense FRRIE S 9,591 14,013
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8 Income tax in the consolidated 8 HMEMEBERRRNWAEH
statement of financial position

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) HEMBRRROEBHRESR
financial position represents:

2020 2019
=% —F-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BET

Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax REERENEHEE

for the year 8,907 11,760
Provisional Profits Tax paid ENEHFER (10,504) (34)
(1,597) 11,726
Balance of profits tax provision relating A 7t £ & #1158 % 5 &
to prior years RS 51 -
Balance of tax provision outside Hong A EE & BIFEINEIE
Kong relating to prior years B 133 133
(1,413) 11,859
Representing: ¥
Taxation recoverable recognised in the B R A BBk R &
consolidated statement of financial TR 8 A U Bl 7 18
position (1,639) —
Taxation payable recognised in the BERGZE MR RE
consolidated statement of financial R ERFBIE
position 226 11,859
(1,413) 11,859
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8 Income tax in the consolidated 8 HMEMBEMRRERNMAER
statement of financial position (#&)

(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: () EREINELCHEEERERS:
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) B AR A B IS AR R T R A IR B
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial BEE,/ (BB)MNERISRER
position and the movements during the year are as BHMAT
follows:

Depreciation
allowances
in excess of
related Credit loss
depreciation  Tax losses allowance Others Total
MEER
H e FEER
Deferred tax arising from: RETHEENEERE: nE BREFE B Hits @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR  A%Tx  BETz  E%Tn  BETR

As at 1 January 2019 RZE-nE-A—H (1,203) 3,500 219 - 2,516
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss REZEERA /() 173 (2,798) 309 - (2:316)
As at 31 December 2019 R-Z-NE+=A=+-H (1,030) 702 528 - 200
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss REHEEGIR) /A (42) (702) 124 (95) (715)
As at 31 December 2020 R-ZB-BE+-A=+-H (1,072) - 652 (95) (515)
2020 2019
S - :3 —E-NF
HK$'000 HKS'000
BT T BT T
Representing: &
Deferred tax assets in the AV BARRERA
consolidated statement of financial FIEETRHIAEE E
position financial position 652 1,230
Deferred tax liabilities in the AV BARRERA
consolidated statement of financial FEETRIES &
position (1,167) (1,030)

(515) 200
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8 Income tax in the consolidated 8 HMEMEBEMRRRNAEH

statement of financial position (%)

(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) ERANECHEEERER:
(Continued) (%)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has total tax R|EHR AEEBNREBEBEE
losses of HKS$13,562,000 (2019: HKS$18,991,000). The Group B & 8 #13,562,000t (= & — K
has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of 4 : 5%18,001,0007T) ° A& E I £
cumulative tax losses of HK$13,562,000 (2019: # R 5t % 18 B 18 78 #513,562,0007T
HK$14,737,000) as it is not probable that future taxable (ZZE— 1% : B¥14,737,0007T)
profits against which the losses can be utilised will be RELEHRBEEE  REAR/RKKD
available. The tax losses do not expire under current tax ARl BE B ER TR i< ZIEE
legislation. SIGLUER - IRIBIMITHIEIER - B

BEREELEDEE -

9 Directors’ and chief executive’s 9 EERTHARINE

emoluments
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the RIEEBCR FEFI)5E383(1) I & A 7 (#
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies BEEM AR R G FE23 4 5B = =
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation ST ¢
is as follows:
Other
emoluments in
connection
with the
management  Basic salary,
of the affairs allowances Contributions
of the and other to retirement Share-based 2020
Company benefits schemes Bonus* payments Total
EREE EXxHe
LGS ) 31953 R NRHA —B-BF
ne WHELMS HisE A HE JE A BEROXZA @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT BT BT BT
Executive directors HTESE
TSE Kam Keung il - - 5,142 18 3,192 421 8,773
CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew Hikm = = 3,016 18 480 87 3,601
CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily &R = = 2,687 18 616 58 3,379
Non-executive directors FHITES
LEE Nai Shee, Harry ENE 140 — = — — = 140
LEE Delman FHEX 100 - - - - - 100
YING Tze Man, Kenneth BFX 130 - - - - - 130
YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent FKE 100 - - - - - 100
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
CHAK Hubert 2is 360 = = = = - 360
CHAN Chi Yan BERE 340 200 - - - - 540
CHAU Tak Hay ABE 380 = = = = = 380
CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy ERE 390 = = - = = 390
HO Lap Kee, Sunny fa] 3 £ 350 - - - - - 350
Total @i 2,290 200 10,845 54 4,288 566 18,243

156  Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2020



Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

BY %% 3R =PI 5 (48)

9 Directors’ and chief executive’'s 9 EERTHRAZME (&)
emoluments (Continued)

Other
emoluments in
connection
with the  Basic salary,
management allowances  Contributions

of the affairs of and other  to retirement Share-based 2019

Fees the Company benefits schemes Bonus* payments Total
ERER EXFHe-

NG R R RIK Uk AE ZE-NF

e HEMHS Hip @ ATEIf R i ERHIA @&

HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000

BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT

Executive directors YTES
TSE Kam Keung F - - 5032 18 3615 288 8953
CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew Bz = = 2,961 18 433 111 3,523
CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily SER - - 2638 18 627 90 3373
Non-executive directors FHTES
LEE Nai Shee, Harry FNE 140 = = = = = 140
LEE Delman FEA 100 = = = = = 100
YING Tze Man, Kenneth HBFX 130 = = = = - 130
YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent K& 100 - - - - - 100
Independent non-executive BUIFHTES
directors
CHAK Hubert 2 360 - - - - - 360
CHAN Chi Yan e 340 200 = = = = 540
CHAU Tak Hay AER 380 - - - - - 380
CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy BHEE 390 = = = = = 390
HO Lap Kee, Sunny [OpvE:S 350 = = = = - 350
Total @it 2290 200 10,631 54 4,675 489 18,339
* Bonus represented actual bonus paid during the year & TEAL 15 F A E 17 89 B BRTEAT
The above emoluments include the value of share options LA e B IEREAR R BRE SR T
granted to certain directors and chief executive under the ETESERITBAHNERENE L B8
Company’s share option schemes, as estimated at the date of HEETEE Ll EYFEHFRERE
grant. Details of these benefits in kind are disclosed under the FemESBRETE ] —EHWE -

sections “Share Option Schemes” in the Directors’ Report.
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10 Individuals with highest emoluments 10 EEH AL

FR - BEERBHFALTH=E2(ZF—N
FZRREF RENHSERHZ9
BRE TERREEAEFHH 2
DR TXEE - EmE(CE—N14F /W
BIALTZMERREWT

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three (2019:
three) are directors during the year whose emoluments are
disclosed in Note 9. The portions of the emoluments that were
not attributable to the period during which they were in
directorship were disclosed below. The aggregate of the
emoluments in respect of the other two (2019: two) individuals
are as follows:

2020 2019

—E-EF —E-NEF

HK$'000 HKS'000

BET T BT T

Salaries and other emoluments FekEMME 3,480 3,376
Share-based payments LARR 19 A B8 6 - 92 66
Retirement scheme contributions RRETEI 3K 36 36
3,608 3,478

tdma(CE-AF - BMB)ERRHFAL
MMEmBEmENT

The emoluments of the above two (2019: two) individuals with
the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

2020 2019

—g-%% e

Number of Number of

Individuals Individuals

HK$ BT A A&
1,500,001-2,000,000 1,500,001-2,000,000 2 2
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11 Dividends 11 KRE
(a) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the () TFEEFELATREZFSEAN
Company attributable to the year ;@5

2020 2019
—E-EH —ET-NF
HK$'000 HKS'000
BT T BT T

Interim dividend declared and paid of BT IR &K A E

HK 1.95 cents per share & B & AR1.958 11l
(2019: HK 3.3 cents per share) (ZZ—NF:
FRE3.38 ) 15,495 26,223

Final dividend proposed after the end of RIEHZEF KD 1T
the reporting period of HK 7.25 cents MR RS B R E

per share (2019: HK 6.5 cents per R &) R B AR S
share) based on issued share capital T RR7.25% 1
as at the year end (ZZ—NF:
6.5 1) 57,611 51,651
73,106 77874
The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting RBERRERENRPR SRR
period has not been recognised as a liability at the end of HEMRERABE -
the reporting period.
(b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (b) BRE—EHRFE IRFA
Company attributable to the previous financial HERKMSFEAQBDREZTE A
year, approved and paid during the year HWEMKRE

2020 2019
—E-BE —T-NF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
BT T BT T

Final dividend in respect of the previous & t—EBKEE

financial year, approved and paid I 7 F LA K
during the year of HK 6.5 cents per B R A AR B
share (2019: HK 6.0 cents per share) & 8%6.57% 1L
(ZZE-N%F:
F%6.07510) 51,651 47,678
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12 Other comprehensive income 12 Htt 2 H WK =
2020 2019
—E-FF —T-NF
HK$'000 HKS'000
BT T BT T
Debt securities measured at FVOCI ERHEME2EWRERAA
BEEFENEERES
Changes in fair value recognised AFEEEERZANERA
during the year 28 (3,596) 10,426
Reclassification adjustments for amounts — ¥f#2 A 18 % #) SRIE#E 1T
transferred to profit or loss: ENHBRE
— net loss/(gain) on disposals transferred — #ZEEZFHHE
to profit or loss B8, () F 48 9,710 (218)
— (reversal)/recognition of impairment — BEFRE(EE),/
loss (Note 26(a)) R (B et26(a)) (99) 1,303
Net movement in the fair value reserve B E 2 T s R
during the year recognised in REERARBEMREZ
other comprehensive income )5 6,015 11,511

There is no tax effect relating to the above components at 31
December 2020 and 2019.

13 Earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit
attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company of
HKS$72,800,000 (2019: HKS82,201,000) and the weighted average

number of 794,634,000 ordinary shares (2019: 794,634,000
ordinary shares) in issue during the year.

Basic earnings per share are the same as diluted earnings per
share as the Company has no dilutive potential shares.
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14 Property, plant and equipment 14 ME- -BERZE

(a) Carrying amount () HREE

Platform
hardware and Ownership
software, interest in land Other
computer and and building properties
Leasehold office Motor  Furniture and  held for own leased for
improvements equipment vehicles fixtures use own use

TEREMR BFERE
Bt BHR THREF HEFEAK
HENERE HROERE RE  BRARRE BAERES 2%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETR BETR BETT BETR BETR

Cost: BA:
As at 1 January 2020 i 33

-A-H 13730 165,412 1,278 3244 39,268 814 223,746
Additions RE 1,397 5,467 = 15 = 2,567 9,446
Disposals RE = (7,830) = (11) = - (7,841)
As at 31 December 2020 RZZZTH

+-A=+-A 15,127 163,049 1,278 3248 39,268 3,381 225,351

Accumulated depreciation: RiHE:

As at 1 January 2020 i 33
-A-1 12,616 155,977 1,278 3,041 26,624 500 200,036
Charge for the year FRRX 603 5,572 - 139 1,805 969 9,088
Written back on disposals REEE - (7,830) - ™ - - (7,837)
As at 31 December 2020 RZZZTH
—A=+-A 13219 153,719 1,278 3173 28,429 1,469 201,287
Net book value: REEE:
As at 31 December 2020 WZZZTH
—A=t+—-H 1,908 9,330 = 75 10,839 1912 24,064
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14 Property, plant and equipment 14 ¥ -BERZHE(E)

(Continued)
(a) Carrying amount (Continued) (a) BRMEE (&)
Platform
hardware and Ownership
software, interest in land Other
computer and and building properties
Leasehold office Motor  Furniture and ~held for own leased for
improvements equipment vehicles fixtures use own use Total
TAEHR BEERN
ENNE S TiRkET HEFERN
HENEEE  HLERE AE BRREE  EEEER Htnh % @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BB BB BETT BB BB BETT
Cost: BA:
As at 1 January 2019 RZB-hF
—A-B 13678 161,723 1278 3226 39,268 814 219,987
Additions RE 84 4228 - 25 - - 4337
Disposals RE (32) (539) - @ - - (578)
As at 31 December 2019 i :3
+ZA=+-8 13730 165412 1278 3244 39,268 814 223746

Accumulated depreciation: RiHE:

As at 1 January 2019 i :3

—A—8 12,153 151,578 1130 2,906 24819 - 192,586
Charge for the year FREX 495 4932 148 142 1,805 500 8,022
Written back on disposals RERMD (32) (533) - 7 - - (572)
As at 31 December 2019 i :3

+-A=+-H 12,616 155977 1,278 3,041 26,624 500 200,036
Net book value: RERE:
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-hE

+-R=+-H 1114 9,435 - 203 12,644 314 23,710
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14 Property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by

class of underlying asset is as follows:

14 Y% BERRE (&)

(b) EREEE

EREEEREREERNEZW

BREDFES AT

2020 2019
—E_FF —ZE-hF
Note HK$’'000 HKS'000
H it BT BT
Ownership interest in leasehold ¥ {F & MM E L i
land and building held for own — RIS % A #
use, carried at depreciated cost x5 HEBITE
in Hong Kong, with remaining ARG AR - F 4
lease term between 10 and 50  # BN F10E504
years () 10,839 12,644
Other properties leased for own FEEE BRI H M
use, carried at depreciated Y I ERAE
cost I BR (i) 1,912 314
Platform hardware and software, F & & 14 & &+ -
computer and office B RBEAE
equipment, carried at Bt RITERAE
depreciated cost I BR (iir) 450 623
13,201 13,581

=
— = =

ZEFHR HBEZBEETEZERLA
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14 Property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (Continued) (b)
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases
recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

14 Y% BERKE (&)

EREEE (HE)
REEEBZAERNBAZERE
W

2020 2019
— ? — q—: :%_jl$
HK$'000 HKS'000
BETT ok
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FRAEEEREBEE
assets by class of underlying asset: BRI HMITEXE !
Ownership interests in leasehold land ~ HE T REFHHEE
and building S 1,805 1,805
Other properties leased for own use HEEERMNEMYE 969 500
Platform hardware and software, FEEGRBEMG - B
computer and office equipment, & NS
carried at depreciated cost R E KA R 173 120
2,947 2,425
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 58 38
Expense relating to short-term leases EEEHEE LTS
and other leases with remaining HERZT—NF
lease term ending on or before +ZA=+—H%
31 December 2019 ZHERNEMEE
B R X 259 235
Expense relating to leases of low-value ERIREZLEMEN
assets, excluding short-term leases of B3z » "B IEKE
low-value assets EENEHAE 127 78

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were
HK$2,567,000 (2019: HKS$743,000). This amount related to
the capitalised lease payments payable under renewed
rental agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity

analysis of lease liabilities are set out in the consolidated
cash flow statement and Note 27(d), respectively.
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14 Property, plant and equipment 14 ¥ -BERZE (E)

(Continued)
(b) Right-of-use assets (Continued) (b) FEAEEEE)
(i)  Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings (i) FHEERAHEHEIHREFHNE

held for own use

The Group holds a building for its office. The Group
is the registered owner of the property interest,
including part of undivided share in the underlying
land. Lump sum payment was made upfront to
acquire the property interest from the previous
registered owner, and there are no ongoing
payments to be made under the terms of the land
lease, other than payments based on rateable values
set by the relevant government authority. These
payments vary from time to time and are payable to
the relevant government authority.

Other properties leased for own use
The Group has obtained the right to use other
properties as its warehouse and service centre
through tenancy agreements. The leases typically
run for an initial period of two years.

The leases do not include an option to renew the
lease for an additional period after the end of the
contract term. None of the leases contains variable
lease payments.

Other leases

The Group leases platform hardware and software,
computer and office equipment under leases expiring
from two to five years. Leases do not include an
option to renew the lease when all terms are
renegotiated and do not include an option to
purchase the leased equipment at the end of the
lease term at a price deemed to be a bargain
purchase option. None of the leases includes
variable lease payments.
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15 Interest in subsidiaries 15 FiEME A RS
(a) Details of the subsidiaries which principally @) FEHEAEEEEBE EERE
affected the results, assets or liabilities of the BEHRMHBARFERFNT :

Group are as follows:

Proportion of  Proportion of

ownership ownership
Place of incorporation/ interest held interest
establishment and Particulars of issued by the held by
Name of company operation and paid up capital Company  a subsidiary  Principal activity
HARXARE HNEAR
ZMRIL/ BRTR WNEFEEE SENERE
NAER BRYIREELY BRRAFE Bl BREIE EEXH
Digi-Sign Certification Services Hong Kong 10,000 shares 100% —  Certificate authority services
Limited Bk 10,0008 1% 3 BERERSE
EFRERBERRA
Trade Facilitation Services Limited Hong Kong 50,000 shares 100% —  Dormant
EE 50,0000 i 3 LEXY
Digital Trade and Transportation ~ Hong Kong 41,000,000 shares 100% —  Provision of electronic messaging
Network Limited BE 41,000,0008% i 17 routing and transformation
YHEFEHRBERDR services
RESFASBRREBRRE
Up Forward Technology Limited Hong Kong 1 share 100% = Investment holding
ERRRARRT Bk 1 Bz 19 REER
EClink Technology Limited Hong Kong 99 shares 100% —  Investment holding
HEAEMBZERAF EE e REZK
Tradelink PayTech Solutions Hong Kong 1,000,000 shares 100% —  Payment technology solution
Limited BiE 1,000,0008 & {7 IRAMBERAD R
BHBEBMINMEERAA
iTradelink eMarket Limited Hong Kong 10,000 shares 100% —  Provision of e-commerce services
B 10,0000 1% 3 RUETFHERYE
VSHIP Limited Hong Kong 1 share 100% —  Provision of e-commerce services
EE 18 B 19 RESTHERD
BHBORM) —ABRRA Macau MOP25,000 100% - Provision of e-commerce services
R R PI%25,000 REETHERS
LRENSBEFHBERY PRC HK$8,400,000 100% - Provision of e-commerce and
BRDAH FE 7% #8,400,0007T e-logistics services
REETHEREFORRS
REEFBHRAERAA PRC RMB500,000 - 100%  Provision of e-commerce and
f AR #500,000T e-logistics services
REEFHERETORRE
XEEEHBEFHRAERRDA" PRC RMB100,000 - 100%  Provision of e-commerce and
i AR #100,0007T e-logistics services
RUEEFHEREFORRE
REEASBRRBRAA PRC RMB100,000 - 100%  Provision of e-commerce and
F AR #100,0007T e-logistics services
REETHERETORRE
BEMEASBEFRHERAF™ PRC RMB500,000 100% - Provision of e-commerce and
F AR #500,0007C e-logistics services

RUEETHERETOARE
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15 Fri5 M B o 7l e & (3R)

(a) FERELXKEMEXEK EBEIS

15 Interest in subsidiaries (Continued)

(@) Details of the subsidiaries which principally

affected the results, assets or liabilities of the
Group are as follows: (Continued)

Each of these is controlled subsidiaries as defined under
Note 7(f) and have been consolidated into the Group’s
financial statements.

# Subsidiaries not audited by KPMG. The financial statements
of the subsidiaries not audited by KPMG reflect total net
assets and total revenue constituting less than 1% of the
respective consolidated totals.

* Companies registered as a wholly-foreign owned enterprise
in the PRC.
Goodwill

The goodwill recognised by the Group arose from the
acquisition of Digital Trade and Transportation Network
Limited ("DTTNCo”) in 2009 and is attributable mainly to
the technical expertise, intellectual property and the
synergies expected to be achieved from integrating
DTTNCo into the Group’s existing business and customer
base. The goodwill has a carrying amount of HK$9,976,000
since the acquisition date of 26 March 2009.

The E-Commerce segment of the Group is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the acquisition of DTTNCo in
entirety, and there are no other units within the Group that
the goodwill can be appropriately allocated to. Accordingly,
the E-commerce segment is identified as the cash-
generating unit (“CGU") containing the goodwill for the
purpose of impairment evaluation of the goodwill.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based
on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use the
CGU's cash flow projections based on financial forecasts
covering a six-year period. Based on the management’s
best estimates, cash flows beyond the six-year period are
extrapolated at zero (2019: zero) growth rate. The future
cash flows are discounted, at a discount rate specific to
the Group of 10% (2019: 10%) for the assessment period,
to determine the value in use of the CGU. Based on
management’'s assessment, there is no impairment
recognised in respect of the goodwill for the year (2019:
Nil).
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16 Interest in associates

16 Fr{bBi=Z N AIER

The following list contains the particulars of an associate, which
is unlisted corporate entity whose quoted market price is not

available:

Proportion of

TR R E

RNV NA

BSREMNIELTEXEER:

Proportion of

Proportion of

Particulars of Group's shares shares
Place of Establishment issued and paid effective held by held by
Name of associate and operation up capital interest the Company  a subsidiary  Principal activity
AE@FE
BRTR BERES Z0RFE WEARME
BENR AR RIREELE HRRAFE Bt ROESHE  ROEBESL  EEER
Guangdong Nanfang Haian Science & PRC RMB10,000,000 20% 20% - Provision of e-commerce services
Technology Service Company Limited AR %10,000,0007T (Note)

(“Nanfang”)

EREHEFENEREERAA(EA))

Note: Guangdong Nanfang Haian Science & Technology Service Company
Limited, a high-tech company providing advanced e-commerce
services in Guangdong area, enables the Group to gain exposure to
this market through local expertise.

The associate is accounted for using the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements.
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16 Interest in associates (Continued)

(a)

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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16 FRiGBEE 1 Rl w ()

Summary of financial information on associates () BEATMNBBERNSE

Summarised financial information of the principal
associate, adjusted for any differences in accounting
policies, and reconciled to the carrying amount in the

TXHRBEIEREQRANTHEH
BE (Bt BHRERNZRELH
B UVERARAYBRRTNER

consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below: BHER) :
2020 2019
—E-%F —T-NF
HK$'000 HKS'000
BET T BT T
Gross amounts of Nanfang's assets MRFEEREBEAR:
and liabilities:
Current assets MBEE 39,786 48,330
Non-current assets ETRBEE 27,069 34,168
Current liabilities Nk R=N (7,284) (16,323)
Non-current liabilities FERBBE (953) (1,913)
Equity 125 58,618 64,262
Revenue gz 30,093 66,287
(Loss)/profit from continuing operations % % /& & (J&18) /% T (6,977) 3,992
Total comprehensive income THWEETE (6,977) 3,992
Reconciled to the Group's interests in BEAEERBEHFEZH
Nanfang H AR
Gross amounts of net assets of M EEFEEE
Nanfang 58,618 64,262
Group's effective interest REETERER 20% 20%
Group's share of net assets of Nanfang ZN&E B fr{5 & A 1Y
EEFE 11,724 12,852
Goodwill S - 1,125
Impairment loss B EE (7,182) -
Carrying amount in the consolidated R&GEHEHRESPH
financial statements REE 4,542 13,977

—TE_TFFR
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16 Interest in associates (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Impairment loss on interest in an associate

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
carried out impairment assessments for the recoverable
amount of Nanfang. As the recoverable amount of Nanfang
was less than the carrying amount, additional provision for
impairment loss of HKS$9,000,000 was made for the year
ended 31 December 2020. As at 31 December 2019,
provision for impairment loss of HKS7,500,000 has been
made. The estimates of the recoverable amount of
Nanfang were based on the present values of the budgeted
future cash flows, discounted at the market risk-adjusted
discount rate of 14% (2019: 14%), by reference to the
projected volume, activity level and future growth rate of
3% (2019: 3%) beyond the five-year period financial
forecast of the underlying business of Nanfang up to 2038.
For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December
2019, same basis of impairment measurement in respect of
the interest in Nanfang is performed by management.

Disposal of associates

() On 19 February 2020, the Group entered into an
agreement to sell its entire interest of 26% of /&
MEBRHEERIEELBR A A at a consideration
of RMB20,000 (equivalent to HKS$23,000) to E/&E
M & E®E B R A A The transaction was
completed in April 2020. As such, a gain on disposal
of HKS23,000 was recognised during the year ended
31 December 2020.

(i)  On 11 May 2020, the Company entered into an
agreement to sell its entire interest of 49% of f&
ZBEARY) RS BB R A F at a consideration
of RMB1 to B/MEMYRERRMAERAIE. The
transaction was completed in May 2020. As such, a
loss on disposal of HKS$70,000 was recognised
during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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. o o oY — R
17 Interest in joint venture 17 ME & &N RRER
The Group’s interest in joint venture is accounted for using the REEREERAINER HEAEREA
equity method. R o
The deregistration of 4t ;X T B 2R Bk Bl B R A 7] was completed bR TEIREREIE AR QA A EEE A R =
on 12 October 2020. MERZ=_TFTAT=BEXK"
18 Other financial assets 18 HthM K &EE
2020 2019
Note HK$ 000 HKS'000
M it BT BT
Listed debt securities measured BiREA 2 E K =R
at FVOC] AR EEFAENH D
&7 &% () 104,162 317,642
Listed debt securities measured FRBEREANEE
at FVPL AENLETERES (b) 156,406 -
Units in investment funds FRERRAAEE
measured at FVPL AENREES BN (c) 31,561 -
292,129 317,642
Representing: ¥5
— Non-current — R 69,914 279,118
— Current — " 222,215 38,524
292,129 317,642
(@) The amount represents corporate bonds. They were (@) ZeBEREEEBF EWOERE
classified as debt securities measured at FVOCI. The debt i@ H M2 I S ﬁ&fﬁ@d‘iﬂ’]
securities are issued by corporate entities with credit BHEEF CEBRMETES
quality commensurate with the return as considered FHEEEREARNEER A E
acceptable to the Group. K FRARE ©
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group HE_ZT_TFE+-_A=+—HI
acquired corporate bonds at a cost of HKS$21,786,000 FE - AEEE A %21,786,0007T
(2019: HK$27,885,000) and disposed of corporate bonds at MEEEBHF(ZZT—NLF: B aﬁ%
a consideration of HK$229,618,000 (2019: HK$66,214,000). 27,885,0007T) + I H & > ¥ &5
KB B 7% #229,618,0007T (=T — jL
F : ##66,214,0007T) °
As at 31 December 2020, 66% (2019: 65%) of the total RZE_TF+_A=1+—H &
amount was invested in investment grade corporate bonds. REH66% (=T —NLF : 65%)IER
The remaining 34% (2019: 35%) was invested in non- RE MBI EBES ek T34% (=
investment grade or non-rated corporate bonds. All T—NF 35%) A IR ERFRER
corporate bonds held as at 31 December 2020 were S BETIRNEEEBES KT
tradable in open market. T+ _A=+—HE¥EENME

CREREFHARAFTERLS °

TR CEDEFHR  BEZEETESERALA 171



Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

B 7% % 2= Bff 52 (#8)

172

18 Other financial assets (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the loss allowance of one of the
non-investment grade debt securities, which has a gross
carrying amount of HKS$4,054,000 (2019: HKS$12,938,000),
was measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs as
there was an unfavourable change in its external market
price since 2019 which indicated that its credit risk had
been increased significantly. Other than that, all other debt
securities did not have significant credit risk at 31
December 2020. Loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs in accordance with the policy set out
in Note 1(k)(i).

The amount represents the investment in a USD-
denominated discretionary Asian investment grade single
bonds portfolio managed by the Group’s financial service
provider. The portfolio was classified as debt securities
measured at FVPL.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
invested in the single bonds portfolio at a cost of
HK$154,410,000 (2019: Nil).

The amount represents units in bond funds. The bond funds
held debt securities of investment grade with average
maturity dates of less than five years. They were classified
as units in investment funds measured at FVPL.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
acquired units in bond funds at a cost of HK$31,194,000
(2079: Nil).
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19 Trade receivables and contract assets 19 EWEREEANEE

2020 2019
—E-EfF —ZT—hF
Note HK$’'000 HKS'000
Kt T T ST T
Trade receivables, net of loss FEUAR K - IR E 1B
allowance B (a) 39,577 35,610
Contract assets, net of loss AREE HKRERE
allowance B (b) 25,134 27,977
64,711 63,587
(a) Trade receivables, net of loss allowance (a) FEWERFN MKREERE
Ageing analysis BRER 5 AT
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of RWERAR REZABARNRE
trade receivables, based on the invoice date and net of loss BREESE BEREXRNERS T
allowance, is as follows: (N
2020 2019
—E-FF —ZT-NF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
BET T ST T
Less than 1 month L —1E A 12,626 22,734
1 to 3 months —Z=@A 7,141 5,486
3 to 12 months ==+ —{@A 16,933 6,990
Over 12 months Ba+—@A 2,877 400
39,577 35,610
All the above balances are expected to be recovered within FEH AR N —FALKE -
one year and some of them are covered by deposits from BETHRIEPRENZEMRE
customers (see Note 27). (ZHtat21) »
Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk ERASBEEERRRERERE
arising from trade receivables are set out in Note 26(a). 8= B R K 8 — 2P R R E R A
i#26(a) °
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19 Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

(b)

Contract assets, net of loss allowance

The Group's contracts include payment schedules which
require stage payments over the contract period once
milestones are reached. These payment schedules prevent
the build-up of significant contract assets.

All of the revenue recognised during the year are from
performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied) in
the current year.

All of the contract assets are expected to be recovered
within one year.

20 Other receivables, prepayments and
other contract costs

19 BRERRREHNEE (&)

(b)

BREE NREBRERE
AEENANEBENRERE R
FEERERBERREHNHAMIN
B B IR o 5% 9 R R R B LE T
RERBHEE -

FABRBNMAREREARAEF
EEEX(RMAER) WELET -

MEENEERRR —FARKE -

20 HBW IR FHN K\
REAME QKA

2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NF
Note HK$’'000 HKS$'000
B it BETT ST T
Other receivables and prepayments £ ftb i U 7k 18 K 78 1+
2 () 9,713 13,717
Other contract costs Hh & QKA (b) 6,790 5,032
16,503 18,749
(a) Other receivables and prepayments (@) HttEWREBERFESRIE
All other receivables and prepayments are expected to be Fir A £ b FE U 318 K FE {5 3k 7E 78 B
recovered or recognised as expenses within one year. R—FRKEKERBASL -
(b) Other contract costs (b) HMEHRE

Other contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2020
and 2019 relate to the costs to fulfil contracts with
customers at the reporting date. Other contract costs are
recognised as part of “cost of purchases” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in
which revenue from the related sales or services is
recognised. There was no impairment loss recognised in
relation to the opening balance of capitalised costs or the
costs capitalised during the year (2019: Nil).

All other contract costs are expected to be recovered or
recognised as expenses within one year.
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Trade creditors, contract liabilities and 21 E[{EF - 8N EERHE
it & < S I8

other payables

2020 2019
—E-EHF —T-NF
Note HK$’'000 HKS'000
Hi i BT T BT T
Trade creditors FE AR K (a) 24,894 29,810
Customer deposits received BElEFZEe (b) 122,144 128,511

Accrued charges and other FEET R 2 I H Ath FE AT
payables B 32,718 33,423
Contract liabilities AEHBE (c) 15,335 12,662
Lease liabilities HEBRE (d) 2,422 951
197,513 205,357

Representing &
— Non-current — 3R E 1,200 464
— Current — RE 196,313 204,893
197,513 205,357
(a) Trade creditors (a) FENERX
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of RBEEKR  REZAHHE - BN
trade creditors, based on the invoice date, is as follows: RRBOERER T T :

2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
BET T BT T
Less than 1 month L —1E A 24,480 29,658
1 to 3 months —Z={@A 414 152
24,894 29,810
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21 Trade creditors, contract liabilities and 21 EEX - - aHVEEBERH
other payables (Continued) ftt P& 15 7R I8 (&)

(b) BEREFEZES
BEliEeRBEFPEEAFTRAAEEDN
AR ETESRIAE TP WA
I o —MRE - B AT REHR
28 BUEPMAKEXZFMiZ
ERB-REUEEZEPERTUR
8 o

(b) Customer deposits received
Deposits received are monies received from customers
before they are allowed to make trade transactions through
the use of the Group’s systems. Generally, customers are
only allowed to incur transaction charges up to the amount
deposited with the Group. Deposits are refundable to
customers on demand.

(c) &MEE
AN B g N A EE B 56 AT R IR
T BHBEREAREEEHRSNE
B EEEHRBNEBKRABBR
CeRAL-ZeMeB@E) D
BEMAREZPERSH -

(c) Contract liabilities
When the Group receives a deposit before the production
activity commences this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on
the project exceeds the amount of the deposit. The
amount of the deposit, if any, was negotiated on a case by
case basis with customers.

o \)
Movements in contract liabilities ERNRENZD

2020 2019

S B e
HK$'000 HKS$'000
BEF R BEF T

As at 1 January mn—HA—H 12,662 9,566
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result & 498 & FH F R #ER N
of recognising revenue during the year ~ Hi#lzst A& B EH

that was included in the contract W & i Rk

liabilities at the beginning of the

period (11,862) (8,732)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result &%) B ERIERIFTE M

of billing in advance 3N 14,535 11,828
As at 31 December W+=—A=+—8 15,335 12,662

E/‘ Z_THF+_A=+—H &

As at 31 December 2020, the amount of billings in advance

ﬁ? A =7 5 A 4K 12
of performance expected to be recognised as income after #55 i{éﬁ‘ﬁwﬁﬁﬂﬂli\ﬁi@fz
more than one year is HK$554,000 (2019: HK$800,000). ﬁ* E #7378 H554,0007T (= %

— L5 : A %800,0007T) ©
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21 Trade creditors, contract liabilities and
other payables (Continued)

(d) Lease liabilities
The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the
reporting periods:

21 ENSERF

R 7% ¥k R Bf 5F

fib F& 14 7K 78 (&

(d)

HEESE
TRETAE
REHEAE

H)

B % % s A A

EHNEERHE

MR RAWEIHA :

2020 2019
g 33 —E-NF
Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
BEHEE BREAE RERE HERE
NREE [OEE % R E B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BETT BETT BT T
Within one year —FR 1,222 1,262 487 510
More than one year but within five years #B—F{ERLFRA 1,200 1,221 464 488
2,422 2,483 951 998
Less: total future interest expenses A RRA R AE (61) (47)
Present value of lease liabilities HEGEHRE 2,422 951
22 Provision for long service payments 22 REREEEBE
2020 2019
—EB-2F —T—A E'E
HKS$'000 HKS$'000
BT T BT T
As at 1 January ®n—A—H 3,120 3,179
Released/utilised B, B8 A (18) (59)
Reversal of provision credited REE MR
to profit or loss (90) -
As at 31 December R+-—A=+—8 3,012 3,120
—TE_TFFR BEZBETESEARAR

(#&)
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23

24

Employee retirement benefits

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the
MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the plan
at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HKS$30,000. Contributions to the plan
vest immediately.

Equity-settled share-based transactions

(@) Share option scheme

The Share Option Scheme currently in operation was
adopted on 9 May 2014 (the “Share Option Scheme 2014"),
whereby options will be granted to eligible persons,
including Directors, employees, consultants, business
associates or advisers as the Board of the Company may
identify from time to time (“Grantees”), entitling them to
subscribe for shares of the Company, subject to
acceptance of the Grantees and the payment of HKS1.00
by each of the Grantees upon acceptance of the options.
Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one
ordinary share in the Company.

The share options granted under the Share Option Scheme
2014 vest after 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36
months (75%) and 48 months (100%) respectively from
date of grant and then exercisable within a period of 10
years. The Grantee may exercise the share options subject
to the conditions in respective option offering letter. The
subscription amount payable in respect of each share upon
the exercise of an option shall be determined by the board
of directors and shall be not less than the greater of:

(i) the closing price of the shares on the SEHK as stated
in the SEHK's daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant of such option; and

(i) the average closing price of the shares on the SEHK
as stated in the SEHK's daily quotation sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant of such option.
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BERAKER

A& ERBC(E B R EQRE S E K
o) RRECEBERBEHINERNRES -
RusbEREeE (BB -
BB ERBUXTEAEIRNREHRK
RKEHE - REERBELAHE EXTEESR
AERBRGEEHEERNEEEHAR%
R - A AR IAE A B 30,0007t A
ER o AREE R EH R ERENE RS
BEHER -

UREGEELIURGAE
B S

BRESE

ROTBREAIN -2 —NFERA
NBEERG(T—ZF —MFEBRE
) g ARREEG R
EZRBEBAL(BRES EER -
BEXER EBBARABAERE)
(TEEADELBRE BT REE
MRBARRRA - HEFARA
BMAAEE BEEEREARE
I RER A 8 %1.00T - 81D
BRERTRHAABRMNRBE —RA

RNEEARK -

(a)

RE_Z-HEBEREFIRLN
B EREBHE T @A -
“tmEEA=tREARDTA
18 A% - 5 5l & B25% - 50% ~ 75%
100% @ BER AR+ FHATTE -
AR BT IR BB AR B R AR A
FRES R TT R I A - AT (E AR
T 78 54 8 AR A A0 S 5 B 3R BB SROR
KEHEEREE BTGB LRTI

RE

() RBRERLAPREBER
P& B RER MR ROREE
B TR T E ¢ R

(i) EEBRERD B8 IES
¥R RERBBXAEARE
R P SIBAD TR B B B 32 P ) F
BT E -
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24 Equity-settled share-based transactions 24 LIRBELEELLURHEE

. —— A —d
(Continued) BHXZ (&)
(a) Share option scheme (Continued) (a) HBRRRESTE (F)
The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during T X E B F R TR ) B AR Y IR R
the year are as follows, whereby all share options are KA - Bt - FTEBERENRNE
settled by physical delivery of shares: MAREERU
Number of Contractual
instruments  Vesting conditions life of options
BB AR R Y
IAHBE BEKRH ERER
Options granted to directors:
ERFESEHERE:
— on 30 June 2014 4,600,000 12 months (100%) from 30 June 2014 10 years
-RZE-—WFRA=+H B-T—NFA=+HBM2EA T+
(100%)
— on 30 June 2014 1,700,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 10 years
- RZE-—HFERA=+H months (75%) and 48 months (100%) T+
from 30 June 2014
B-T—NFA=+HBM2EA
(25%) * 2418 A (50%) - 3618 7 (75%)
24818 A (100%)
— on 2 July 2015 800,000  100% on 2 July 2015 10 years
-RZE—RFEAZ=AH RZZ—RF+HAZH5100% T+
—on 2 July 2015 1,700,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 10 years
-RZE—RFEAZ=AH months (75%) and 48 months (100%) T+
from 2 July 2015
BE-ZT—RAF+A-HE2@A
(25%) * 2418 A (50%) - 3618 7 (75%)
24818 A (100%)
— on 4 July 2076 3,000,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 10 years
- RZIE-RFLAMWA months (75%) and 48 months (100%) T+

from 4 July 2016

BT FtAWAREFI2@EA
(25%) ~ 2418 A (50%) - 361E A (75%)
K 481E A (100%)
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24 Equity-settled share-based transactions 24 LIRELEELLURHBEE

(Continued) BHXZ (&)
(a) Share option scheme (Continued) (a) EBRESTE (FE)
Number of Contractual
instruments  Vesting conditions life of options
BREMN
ITEHE BEGHRH BREFEH
— on 28 April 2017 3,900,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 10 years
-RZIE—+tFWMA=+NH months (75%) and 48 months (100%) T4
from 28 April 2017
BE-Z—tFWNA -+ /\B#E:12E
R (25%) ~ 241& A (50%) - 361& A
(75%) %4818 A (100%)
— on 4 May 2018 4,300,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 10 years
-RZE-N\FHEANA months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +F
from 4 May 2018
BE-Z—N\FHAMAE12MEA
(25%) 2418 A (50%) - 3618 A (75%)
T2 4818 B (100%)
— on 12 April 2019 4,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 10 years
- RZE-NAFOA+ZH months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +F
from 12 April 2019
B-Z-NAFMA+=HRE2MEA
(25%) 2418 A (50%) - 3618 A (75%)
T2 4818 B (100%)
— on 17 April 2020 4,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 10 years
- RZZE_ZFMA+TLH months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +F
from 17 April 2020
BT -_ZTFNAT+tHBFI2MEA
(25%) 2418 A (50%) - 3618 A (75%)
T2 4818 B (100%)
Options granted to employees:
ERFREENBERE:
— on 30 June 2014 2,000,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 10 years
-RZZE—WHFASA=+H months (75%) and 48 months (100%) T4

from 30 June 2014

BT —MNFEANA=+HBF2EA
(25%) 2418 A (50%) - 3618 A (75%)
T2 4818 B (100%)
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24 Equity-settled share-based transactions 24 LIRBELEELLURHEE

(Continued) BHXZ (&)
(a) Share option scheme (Continued) (a) HBRRRESTE (F)
Number of Contractual
instruments  Vesting conditions life of options
BN
IAEHE BEKRH EHEFEH
— on 2 July 2015 1,900,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 10 years
-RZZE—RAF+AZH months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +F
from 2 July 2015
BE-ZT—RFE+HA-AE2EA
(25%) ~ 241E A (50%) - 361E F (75%)
T 4818 A (100%)
— on 4 July 2076 2,100,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 10 years
- RZE-AR"FtLtAMNA months (75%) and 48 months (100%) T4
from 4 July 2016
BT R"E+AMARE2(EA
(25%) ~ 2413 A (50%) - 3618 A (75%)
R 4818 A (100%)
— on 28 April 2017 2,300,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 10 years
-RZIE—t+FWHA=ZT+NH months (75%) and 48 months (100%) T+
from 28 April 2017
B+t A -+ N\ B2
A (25%) ~ 241& A (50%) - 361E A
(75%) %4818 F (100%)
— on 4 May 2018 2,900,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 10 years
-RZIE-N\FHEAMA months (75%) and 48 months (100%) T4
from 4 May 2018
B/ \FHAMA L1218 A
(25%) ~ 241E A (50%) ~ 3618 A (75%)
K 481& A (100%)
— on 12 April 2019 3,100,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 10 years
- RZIZE-ARFMA+H months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +F
from 12 April 2019
BT NAFHA+=-HEE2EA
(25%) ~ 241E A (50%) - 361E A (75%)
K481 A (100%)
— on 17 April 2020 3,500,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 10 years
-RZZETFMA+ LA months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +F

from 17 April 2020

BE-Z-ZFMA+LHEH12EA
(25%) ~ 241E A (50%) - 361E A (75%)
K481 A (100%)
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24 Equity-settled share-based transactions 24 LIRELEELLURHBEE

(Continued)

(a) Share option scheme (Continued)

BOX5 (&)
(a) WA ()

Number of Contractual
instruments  Vesting conditions life of options
BREN
ITEHE HEGH BREH
Options granted to ex-employees:
ERFAESHBERE:
— on 30 June 2014 2,400,000  100% on 30 June 2014 10 years
- RIE-—WERA=+H MZZT—MNEXA=+HF100% T4
— on 30 June 2014 500,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 10 years
-RZZE-—WFEASA=+H months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +F
from 30 June 2014
BT —MEXA=THEBE2EA
(25%) ~ 2418 7 (50%) - 361& A (75%)
T 481f A (100%)
—on 2 July 2015 2,400,000  100% on 2 July 2015 10 years
-RZE—RFLA=AH RZZE—RF+ A ZHF100% + &
—on 2 July 2015 500,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 10 years
-RZE-—RFELAZH months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +F
from 2 July 2015
BE-Z—hAFtAZBAEI2EA
(25%) * 241E A (50%) 3618 A (75%)
4818 A (100%)
— on 4 July 2016 1,600,000  100% on 4 July 2016 10 years
-RIE-—RFLANA RZF—RF+ AMAF100% T4
—on 4 July 2016 500,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 10 years
-RZIE-R"FLtANA months (75%) and 48 months (100%) T+
from 4 July 2016
BT RELAMBREF12EA
(25%) 2418 A (50%) - 3618 A (75%)
T2 481# B (100%)
— on 28 April 2017 500,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 10 years
- RIE—+FWHAZ=-+NR months (75%) and 48 months (100%) T4
from 28 April 2017
BE-Z—tFWNA -+ /\B#E:12E
F(25%) ~ 2418 A (50%) ~ 361E A
(75%) F2 4818 A (100%)
55,000,000
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(a)

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

BY %% 3R =PI 5 (48)

Share option scheme (Continued) (a)
The number and weighted average exercise prices of share
options are as follows:

24 LIREEELURHGAE
BHWRZ (E)

B8 ()
BRENEE RmEFHITEER
N

2020 2019
—g-%f “F-NE

Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price (LI exercise price options

k4 hniE
FHTEE BREHE FHTEE FERRESE
HK$ '000 HKS ‘000
BT TR BT Tz
Outstanding as at 1 January R—A—BHERITE 1.62 47,100 1.66 40,600
Granted during the year FREH 1.09 7,900 1.41 7,900
Forfeited during the year FRRI 1.53 (2,600) 1.62 (1,200)
Cancelled during the year FERFH = - 1.41 (200)
Outstanding as at 31 December R+ZA=+—BHRTE 1.52 52,400 1.62 47,100
Exercisable as at 31 December R+—A=1+—877 34,500 29,400

No share options was exercised during the years ended 31
December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

The options outstanding as at 31 December 2020 had
exercise prices ranging from HKS$1.09 to HKS$1.90 (2019:
ranging from HK$1.34 to HKS$1.90) and weighted average
remaining contractual life of 6.2 years (2019: 6.7 years).

BHE-_ZTZ-_ZF+-_A=T—HK
—E-hE+_A=F+—BILEE
AL BT T B AR

R-E-_TE+-_A=+—H ¥
RITERERERITEEN THE1.09
TEABEIOT(ZE—hE : NTF
75 ¥51 347T = 78 #1.905T) ¢ H N fE
FHHBAENFERR2E(ZT—H
F 6 T7E)

—T_TFEFER BEZBETESERALA
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24 Equity-settled share-based transactions
(Continued)

(b)

Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share
options granted is measured by reference to the fair value
of share options granted. The estimate of the fair value of
the share options granted is measured based on Black
Scholes Model. The contractual life of the share option is

BHRX 5 (&)

(b) BERENAABERRBR
ERELBRERENESOIRS
ARBEE DH2REEHBRERN
ARBEFE - ERLBRENG
StAREETIREME 7 E B R
At E o BEA T & RERES

used as an input into this model. BRFH -
Fair value of share options and assumptions BRENAABERRBRR
2020 2019
ZE-EF —E-hF
Fair value at measurement date REERHNAREE HK$0.073 HKS$0.113
78 #0.073 T B EE0.1137T
Share price I (& HK$1.09 HKS$1.39
7 #1.09T 7 #81.397T
Exercise price TEE HK$1.09 HKS$1.406
7 %1.09T & #51.4067T
Expected volatility (expressed as 8 HA K 08 (3248 71 52 &F
weighted average volatility used in the B ETR =\ FT A 2 N4
modelling under Black Scholes Model) — F# & g £ 7)) 22.2% 23.2%
Option life (expressed as weighted g i B A (g mm )
average life used in the modelling mEFRETER A2
under Black-Scholes model) nETHFEHZ25]) 5 years 5 years
54 54F
Expected dividends TE AR B 6.7% 6.7%
Risk-free interest rate (based on the yield # & & 7| & (3% &5
of Hong Kong Government Bonds) BT 1E 5 Y as R
E 0.52% 1.628%

The expected volatility is made with reference to the daily
historical volatilities of the Company with period
commensurate to the expected option life. Expected
dividends are based on historical dividends. Changes in the
subjective input assumptions could materially affect the
fair value estimate.

Share options were granted under a service condition. This
condition has not been taken into account in the grant date
fair value measurement of the services received. There
were no market conditions associated with the share
option grants.
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25 Capital and reserves

(a)

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

Movements in components of equity
The reconciliation between the opening and closing

R 7% ¥k R Bf 5F

25 EXRK#E

(a) EZHEZ2H

AEBFENRERERBDNE

St

i ]]D
iy

L

balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated mERNEREINNGEERERZED
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes R-ARABIERDOBAFNE
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s FROBBFBEHINNOT
individual components of equity between the beginning and
the end of the year are set out as below:
The Company b N
Share capital Capital reserve Retained profits Total equity
[N BARGFE REEF R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETRT BET R BT BT
As at 1 January 2019 R-ZE-h&E—-HA—H 296,093 5951 47,860 349,904
Dividends approved in respect FEEBHAERS
of the previous year (Note 71) (Biat11) - - (47,678) (47,678)
Equity-settled share-based VAR 18 45 B30 LA RR 19 A&
transactions ERNZH - 836 - 836
Lapse of share options R R R - (37) 37 -
Total comprehensive income AEEZEKRFEE
for the year - - 83,650 83,650
Dividends declared in respect of REEERBRENRE
the current year (Note 117) (Ba£11) - - (26,223) (26,223)
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-h#F
+=A=+-8 296,003 6,750 57,646 360,489
Dividends approved in respect of FEEEHARE
the previous year (Note 71) (Bia#11) - - (51,651) (51,651)
Equity-settled share-based VARG 4 48 B30 LARR 17 &
transactions ERNRS = 787 = 787
Lapse of share options FE R B R - (361) 361 -
Total comprehensive income rEEEERZERE
for the year - - 73,321 73,321
Dividends declared in respect AEEBRBREN
of the current year (Note 71) W& B (HtsET1) - - (15,495) (15,495)
As at 31 December 2020 R-Z_%2f
+=-A=+—-H 296,093 7,176 64,182 367,451
—TE_TFFR BEZBETESEARAR

(#&)
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25 Capital and reserves (Continued)

(b)

Share capital

0]

(i)

Issued share capital

Ordinary shares, issued and ZER BRTR
fully paid: #ME:

As at 1 January and 31 December H—A—HBK
+-A=+—8

25 EXKf#fE (&)

(b) B
(i) ECBITRAE
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
Number of Number of
shares Amounts shares Amounts
BB ] vk | k]
in '000 HK$'000 in '000 HKS$'000
TR BE TR TR BETT
794,634 296,093 794,634 296,093

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the
Company do not have a par value.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the Company’s residual assets.

Shares issued under share option schemes

During the years of 2020 and 2019, no share options
was exercised to subscribe for ordinary shares of the
Company.
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25 Capital and reserves (Continued) 25 EXRR#1E (&)
(b) Share capital (Continued) (b) M (4&)
(iii) Terms of unexpired and unexercised share options (iii) R|EBARKRBHARKTER
at the end of the reporting period: R RE YR X
2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NF
Number Number
Exercise period Exercise price of options of options
TS TEE BRESE fE RS A
30 June 2014 to 29 June 2024 HKS$1.90 10,800,000 11,200,000
“E-WERA=ZTREE B #51.907T

—E-_MFENRA=-tTNH

2 July 2015 to 1 July 2025 HK$1.78 6,900,000 7,300,000
—E-—RFtEA=-HZE 787
—E-_RAFtH—H

4 July 2016 to 3 July 2026 HK$1.57 6,800,000 7,200,000
—E-XFEtAmAZE B 577
—EZRFLA=H

28 April 2017 to 27 April 2027 HK$1.592 6,400,000 6,700,000
—E—t+FMA-_+NBE 7 #1.5027T
—E-tFNA=-t++tH

4 May 2018 to 3 May 2028 HK$1.34 6,800,000 7,200,000
—E-)\FRAMABZE B 345T
—E-N\FHA=H

12 April 2019 to 11 April 2029 HK$1.406 7,200,000 7,500,000
—E-NAFMA+=HZE 71,4067
—E-AFWMA+—H

17 April 2020 to 16 April 2030 HK$1.09 7,500,000 -
—E-ZEFNA+LERZE 1,097
—E=ZFTFMNA+H

52,400,000 47,100,000
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25 Capital and reserves (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Nature and purpose of reserves

0]

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the grant date fair
value of unexercised share options granted to
directors, employees and ex-employees of the
Company recognised in accordance with the
accounting policies adopted for share based
payments set out in Note 7(q)(i).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 7(r).

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net
change in the fair value of debt securities measured
at FVOCI under HKFRS 9 held at the end of the
reporting period (see Note 7(i)).

Other reserve

The other reserve is non-distributable and represents
transfer from annual profits up to a maximum of
50% of the issued and paid up capital of the Macau
subsidiary in accordance with the Macau
Commercial Code.

Distributability of reserves

As at 31 December 2020, the aggregate amount of
reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders of
the Company was HKS$64,182,000 (2019: HKS$57,646,000).
After the end of the reporting period, the directors
proposed a final dividend of HK 7.25 cents per ordinary
share (2019: HK 6.5 cents per share), amounting to
HKS$57,611,000 (2019: HKS$51,651,000). This dividend has
not been recognised as a liability at the end of the
reporting period.
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25 EXKf#fE (&)

(c)

(d)

RENLEERRAE

(i) EAXHE
EXRRBEEHRERTARRE
= EENAIEEYREFERN
B3 7(q)(i0) SR A RR 4 A ZE T Y
SIS T R 4 B & S IR R P AR
B 1] AR AT {62 8 AR A O 1% 11 B R
ARfEE-

(i) ERREE
EX FREEEBRERIAF
MBBRRAMEENMBELZE
o MBS RBRNA T
1()H) & 5T R R 72

(i) ARBEERE
RABERBEENREHR
M RBECEBM B RS E
A1) F 95 3B 3B H A 2 W W AR 4R
AREEFENEBEREFAR

EERHEHIE AN

n
7N

N

10)) °
(iv) HibfEE
HithEE AT DK - R
BRI AHR . BRFANE R
AEBRTEBERAUNES
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

25 Capital and reserves (Continued)

(e)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to enable the Group to meet its liabilities as
they fall due for the foreseeable future. The Group has no
external borrowing at the end of the reporting period.

The Group’s capital structure is regularly reviewed and
managed with due regard to the capital management
objectives of the Group.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject
to externally imposed capital requirements.

26 Financial risk management and fair
values

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risk arises
in the normal course of the Group’s business. These risks are
limited by the Group’s financial management policies and
practices described below.

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to trade receivables, contract assets and investments in
debt securities. The Group's exposure to credit risk arising
from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks is
limited because the counterparties are major banks, for
which the Group considers to have low credit risk.
Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.
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26 Financial risk management and fair
values (Continued)

()

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets

Credit terms offered by the Group to customers are based
on individual commercial terms negotiated with customers.
Credit periods generally range from one day to one month.

When the Company registers a customer as a subscriber,
the customer is automatically assigned with a credit limit
based on the amount of its deposit or bank guarantee. The
amount of deposit is determined on a customer-by-
customer basis, depending on its usage of the Company’s
services. Generally, if a customer reaches or exceeds its
credit limit before the normal billing cycle, an ad hoc bill
will be issued to the customers for payment by bank direct
debit. However, if a customer is in default of payment for
whatever reason, its account is automatically suspended
from operation until all outstanding charges have been fully
settled. For that reason, customers may also, and often do,
place deposits with the Company from time to time to
cover their charges.

There is, however, no credit policy for the Company’s ad
hoc customers who are required to pay the relevant
charges (including service charges, service centre handling
fees and Government fees) in full when using the Company
over-the-counter services.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk from trade receivables
is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of
each customer rather than the industry or country in which
the customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the Group
has significant exposure to individual customers. At the
end of the reporting period, 1.3% (2019: 39.3%) and 22.3%
(2019: 66.9%) of the total trade receivables was due from
the Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables and
contract assets are set out in Note 79.
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26 Financial risk management and fair
values (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group'’s historical credit loss experience indicates different
loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss
allowance based on past due status is distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables and
contract assets:

26 BEREERAAEBE

(&)
() FERMRE
PR A 4 ()

AEBEREAEREHEREEER
WeB(AREBERAE)RGTER
WA RENEEBRERF AL
SENBEEEERERBATTR
BEFOMNEBERTEEEMEZR &
ZaRREAENBRBEELSS
BrREFEER -

TREREHEAKEMEERNEER
[ B A e e W BR TR e & 40 B = TR AR
EEBENEMN:

2020
ZBCEF
Gross Provision on

carrying individual Total loss
amount basis ECL rates ECLs allowance
BHEE BHEE BERE
EHAE 18 5l 5 BEx [} okl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
Current (not past due) BE (Y E) 37,052 (395) - - (395)
Less than T month past due BELR—EA 6,698 - - - -
1 to 3 months past due aH-Z={@A 1,773 - - - -
Over 3 months past due BHEBA=@A 21,140 (701) 4.2% (856) (1,557)
66,663 (1,096) (856) (1,952)

2019

—Z-NF
Gross  Provision on

carrying individual Total loss
amount basis ECL rates ECLs allowance
BHEE BHEE BEEE
EHAE bk BEX B#E ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 % HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BB % AETL BB
Current (not past due) VAR (3 = 59) 46,410 (367) - - (367)
Less than T month past due BESR—1EA 8111 - - - -
1 t0 3 months past due BaH—-==@A 3997 - - - -
Over 3 months past due BHBEB=@EA 6,589 (695) 7.8% (458) (1,153)
65,107 (1,062) (458) (1,520)
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26 Financial risk management and fair
values (Continued)

()

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past three years. These rates are adjusted to
reflect differences between economic conditions during the
period over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

Receivables that were not past due relate to a wide range
of customers for which allowance is made on an individual
basis based on expected loss rate determined on the basis
described above.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track
record with the Group. Based on past experience,
management considers that (i) no impairment allowance is
necessary in respect of those balances where there has not
been a significant change in credit quality and the balances
are still considered fully recoverable, and (ii) allowance is
made in respect of balances over 3 months past due on
both individual and collective basis based on expected loss
rate determined on the basis as described above.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of
trade receivables and contract assets during the year is as
follows:

26 BHEARBEERAIAEBE
(&)

()

FERR (&)
EUWRRRENEE (B
EHRFERERAE=FNERER
BRAE - BHEEERSRMEBA (E
BEBCEMREKS) RERRE
£ BTN RN B S WRR
BERFEPRNEERARZER M
INCA R 2E -

TEBHNERREEAEBERSA
CREREPIRRBE L EEE
JE BO TR H B 1R K A Bl FHR 8BS -

eyl
I

£ 780 5 E 30 4 M) 3R 080 (8 /O R W IR
HZEBIYRFPAEH -ZERTFPRN
AEERNBEEERERIY - RIE
BELER EEERA  ()AREE
BRI HEEREY BRFHEHRD
WREATZHEE  RBARSZE
AT IR E R A R(i) B BB
HB =8 A m AR Y 18 5l o S fE i
BB LA EEEFNRMEIE R
R -

FR ARBUEARANDEEN
BREAEREZHOT

2020 2019

—E-EF —E-hF

HK$'000 HKS'000

BT T ok

As at 1 January w—A—8 1,520 335

Amounts written off during the year FAME S (182) (566)
Impairment losses recognised FABERREEE

during the year 614 1,751

As at 31 December W+=ZA=+—H 1,952 1,520
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26 Financial risk management and fair
values (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Investments in debt securities

Investments in debt securities are normally in liquid
securities quoted on a recognised stock exchange, issued
by corporate with sound credit standing (Note 78). The
Group’s financial advisor monitors the situation and will
notify the Group of any change. In addition, the Investment
Committee undertakes annual reviews of the Group’s
exposures.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group does not have
any significant concentration of credit risk. The maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group does not
provide any other guarantees which would expose the
Group to credit risk.

The Group measures loss allowances for debt securities at
an amount equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of debt
securities during the year is as follows:

BY %% 3R =PI 5 (48)

26 BEREERAAEBE

(&)

(a)

FERR(E)

EREERE
BEEELFRE - RBNBAFZR
SHHREE YHEEFEARY
MABETHNRBESHZ18) -
AEBMBEREERBR 0F
ERIEE) - FBAMAER - Lo - &
EZEesERIASERAR -

RBEEHR AEETESEES
MEERR FERBNKRS SR
ERGARYVBARRRFTZZ BN
EENREEZY - AEEY ER
HEMELHESHAKREAZE
ERBAELR-

AEBZBEM2EABRBEER
ENSHEREEEFTERRRE
B HEERRE & RERARDY
BAREEAIRRSN - MAEZBERT
ARBER2MRABEEBENS
A BEEEE-

FRN O EHREBESFNBREBRABE
BEBHMT :

2020 2019
ZZ-EF —T-nF
12-month Lifetime 12-month Lifetime
ECL ECL Total ECL ECL Total
1N@AEHE 2HEH 12MEA%E 2HEH
FEFER FEFR M A EEEE FEEAR Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETr  BET kRIS R 1
Balance as at 1 January R—A—HHEH 1,900 1,528 3,428 2,125 - 2,125
Impairment losses recognised 4 A 2 #E 22 5 E 5 18
during the year 2,039 - 2,039 141 1,220 1,361
Reversal of impairment loss FRREEBERD
during the year (1,799) (339) (2,138) (58) - (58)
Transfer to lifetime ECL
not credit impaired - - - (308) 308 -
Balance as at 31 December Rt+-A=Z+— B8 2,140 1,189 3,329 1,900 1,528 3,428
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26 Financial risk management and fair
values (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Liquidity risk

All cash management of the Group, including the short
term investment of cash surpluses and raising of loans, if
needed, to cover expected cash demands, are managed
centrally by the Company. The Group's policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected liquidity requirements and its
compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily realisable
marketable securities and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

At 31 December 2020, the Group’s current liabilities was
HKS196,539,000. Except for contract liabilities of
HKS$15,335,000, all trade creditors and other payables of
HKS$180,978,000 as indicated in Note 27, were due to be
repaid during the next financial year or repayable upon
demand. The Group will address the short-term liquidity
requirement inherent in this contractual maturity date with
internal resources.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest
rate risk arises primarily from investments in fixed income
debt securities (Note 78) and floating rate bank balances,
which expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk and
cash flow interest rate risk.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2020, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points in interest rates, with
all other variables held constant, would increase/decrease
the Group's profit after tax and retained profits by
approximately HK$4,001,000 (2019: HK$489,000). The fair
value reserve in the consolidated equity would decrease/
increase by approximately HKS$565,000 (207109:
HKS$2,526,000) in response.
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26 BEREERAAEBE

26 Financial risk management and fair

values (Continued) (%&)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued) (c) FIz== b ()
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BRE D (&)
The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous L}‘;’éﬁ( F}E* AMEEAREBNEGE
change in the Group’s consolidated equity that would arise TZE REELEMBENRE - URE

assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at
the end of the reporting period and had been applied to re-
measure those fixed income debt securities held by the
Group which expose the Group to fair value interest rate
risk at the end of the reporting period. In respect of the
exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising from
floating rate bank balances held by the Group at the end of
the reporting period, the impact on the Group’s profit after
tax (and retained profits) is estimated as an annualised
impact on interest income of such a change in interest
rates. The analysis is performed on the same basis for
2019 for cash flow interest rate risk.

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily
through other financial assets denominated in United
States dollars and investments in PRC established entities.
Given the fact that the exchange rates of United States
dollars and Hong Kong dollars are currently pegged,
management does not expect that there will be any
significant currency risk associated with the investment in
debt securities denominated in United States dollars. The
Group has not hedged the foreign exchange exposure in
relation to its investments in PRC established entities.
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26 Financial risk management and fair
values (Continued)

(e)

Fair value measurement

HKFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement categorises fair value
measurements into a three-level hierarchy. The level into
which a fair value measurement is classified is determined
with reference to the observability and significance of the
inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market
data are not available

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using

significant unobservable inputs

At 31 December 2020, the debt securities measured at
FVOCI and FVPL (Note 78) held by the Group fall into Level
1 of the fair value hierarchy. Units in investment funds
measured at FVPL (Note 78) held by the Group fall into
Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

The fair value of corporate bonds and single bonds
portfolio traded in active markets are based on quoted
market prices at the end of the reporting period and
included in Level 1.
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26 Financial risk management and fair
values (Continued)

(e)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair value
measurements

The fair value of investment funds is determined using the
unadjusted net asset value provided by the fund manager.
The units in the investment funds are redeemable at the
reportable net asset value at, or approximately at, the
measurement date.

During the year ended 2020 and 2019, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or
out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

27 Capital commitments

28

Capital commitments contracted for as at 31 December 2020 not

provided for in the financial

statements amounted to

HKS$3,371,000 (2019: HKS3,687,000). They were mainly in respect
of the purchase of leasehold improvements and office equipment
for the Group.

Material related party transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere

in these financial statements, the Group entered into the

following material related party transactions:

(a)

Recurring transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
provided security solution services to TAL Apparel Limited
(“TAL"), an associate of a substantial shareholder and
generated revenue of HKS$146,000 (2019: HKS463,000). The
Group also generated HKS$18,000 (2019: HKS25,000) from
TAL for providing electronic solutions in processing certain
government related documents.
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28 Material related party transactions
(Continued)

(b) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel, including
amounts paid to the Company's executive directors as
disclosed in Note 9 and certain of the highest paid
employees as disclosed in Note 70, is as follows:

28 EXEBALIRS (&)

(b) TEEBASME
EBEEARME (85N R
REEHARTNRITEES M OK
BRI ZFIOMBEEERE TRS
HIESXHRE) W :

2020 2019

—E_EfF —ZT—NF

HK$'000 HKS'000

BT T ok

Short-term employee benefits HEHEEREN 18,613 18,682
Post-employment benefits IR R % B A 90 90
Equity compensation benefits IR A E 1R F 658 555
19,361 19,327

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see Note

6(a)).

29 Charges on assets and contingent
liabilities

Pursuant to the terms of the contracts with the Government, the
Group has obtained three bank guarantees totaling HK$2,234,000
(2019: two bank guarantees totaling HKS$2,138,000) from banks
for the due performance of the contracts by the Group. The bank
guarantees and performance bond are secured by a charge over
deposit totaling HK$2,234,000 (2019: HK$2,138,000).
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30 Company-level statement of financial 30 2 78 @MW B IR R

position
2020 2019
—E-BF ZE-NEF
Note HKS$'000 HKS'000
B &t BET T ST T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W HWEREE 22,927 23,078
Interest in associates BT ff B & A Rl & 16 4,542 13,977
Interest in subsidiaries Fir 4 B B A Rl &= 15 89,902 90,161
Other financial assets HEmegEE 23,638 -
Deferred tax assets EERIBE E 38 28
141,047 127,244
Current assets RBEE
Trade receivables and contract assets JEWEBRA R AN EE 32,552 26,741
Other receivables, prepayments and ~ H b EWRFNIE - B R
other contract costs B R EME DK A 8,098 8,681
Other financial assets HEmoBEE 156,406 —
Loans to subsidiaries HTHBARER 9,836 231,014
Amounts due from subsidiaries NGRS 66,301 63,358
Deposits with banks RITHER 69,073 12,238
Cash and cash equivalents BekBeEE 67,691 87,919
409,957 429,951
Current liabilities REEE
Trade creditors, contract liabilities  ENER - AN EBE R
and other payables H A BB R IE 163,106 167,284
Amount due to a subsidiary JiE < B B A B ZRIBE 15,997 14,025
Taxation payable JE - B 18 226 11,259
179,329 192,568
Net current assets REBEETFE 230,628 237,383
Total assets less current EEABERARBER
liabilities 371,675 364,627
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30 Company-level statement of financial 30 2 7B @M B &R R
position (Continued) =)

(

2020 2019
—E_TF —E-NEF
Note HK$’'000 HKS'000
K &t BETT BT T
Non-current liabilities EREBAE
Provision for long service payments & 8 iR 7% & # # 2,643 2,748
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIEBEEE 1,116 958
Other payables H fth pE A~ BB 465 432
4,224 4138
NET ASSETS EEFE 367,451 360,489
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital A& A< 25(b)(i) 296,093 296,093
Reserves b 71,358 64,396
TOTAL EQUITY R 367,451 360,489
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on KEFEeRN _T-_—F=A=-_+=A#LtE
23 March 2021. R B0 B o
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SBS, J.P. FE
Chairman ZEJ3/EE L SBS, JP.
TSE Kam Keung HITEF
Executive Director i 87 5|
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

BY %% 3R =PI 5 (48)

31 Non-adjusting events after the reporting 31 HEHPE KR FAERNEE

period

After the end of the reporting period, the directors proposed a
final dividend of HK 7.25 cents per share (2019: HK 6.5 cents per
share) for the year ended 31 December 2020, amounting to
HK$57,611,000 (2019: HKS51,651,000). This dividend has not been
recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period.

Possible impact of amendments, new
standards and interpretations issued
but not yet effective for the annual
accounting period ended 31 December
2020

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued a number of amendments and a new standard,
HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts, which are not yet effective for
the year ended 31 December 2020 and which have not been
adopted in these financial statements. These developments
include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or
after

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to
the Conceptual Framework

1 January 2022

Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, Plant 1 January 2022
and Equipment: Proceeds before
Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous
Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

1 January 2022

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-
2020 Cycle

1 January 2022

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of 1 January 2023
Liabilities as Current or Non-current

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these developments is expected to be in the period
of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of
them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

RBEHRE EFRRBEHBE_T =%
F+ A=+ BLEFENRBEREER
7258 (Z T —NF: BR6.5BW) - &
H B ¥57611,000 (=2 — L F: B &
51,651,0007T) ° #% i% B 5 ) & 8RR I K #&
REBE-

BE-_ZT-FFT-H
=St -BLEFESTHE
B 58 5 {8 14 R £ Y A0 8
Al HERIRERAEE

TR E

HEAYKERETIZAY B
SEMTETEITR—BFHENKEBHY
BRELERNFETHR  REAA)  HERE
E-_E_FTFE+_A=+—HLEEEMHX
ER AR ANTIEHREPEA A
REEASEEAFRMERNMET ©

RTFBHH

ZEABRNE
FREBEXR
(BEHMBHREERD i
ERUACC DR ¥ —A—H
mHES
(B g ERDE1% T

(BFT) Y% BE R —A—H
AR1E - HE R F TS

HE

(BB EFERDER —ZT-—F
(B3] - BRMEE# — —HA—H
JETT & RIEY KA

(B BREERD —T—-=
—E-NEE=-F —A—H
“TERB FEUE

(BEGHER) —T-=F
FVRUER]) 7 EB —A—H
RBHIF R R E

AEBREFEZERREEERRBYME
BEELENTE - LSAKEEBERAZ
FEARPAAGEEH G M BERRERE
REE -
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Five-Year Financial Summary
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FHHHE

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
il T F —EF\F —TLF —ZT-RF
Note HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000
it BET T BETT BT BETT BETT
Results ES |

(vear ended 31 December) (BE+-A=+—HIFE)

Revenue g 2 261,213 337,175 271,930 241,830 231,302
Profit from operations mE R 7,2 92,687 101,219 104,766 94,169 91,931
Reversal/(recognition) of impairment loss on HiSBEERESR

other financial assets BB/ (H#R) 99 (1,308) (156) (8,242) -
Impairment loss on interest in an associate R—EBE R REENBERE (9,000) (4,500) - - -
Share of results of associates Fribie s RRIEE (1,395) 798 1,540 2415 (10,557)
Profit before taxation BHATEF 82,391 96,214 106,150 88,342 81,374
Taxation HE 123 (9,591) (14013) (16382) (14222) (2122)
Profit for the year AFEEF 72,800 82,201 89,768 74120 79252
Attributable to: MTALTELR:

Equity shareholders of the Company ARAREREA 72,800 82,201 89,768 74,120 79,252
Profit for the year KEEF &R 72,800 82,201 89,768 74,120 79252
Assets and Liabilities BEREE

(as at 31 December) (R+=A=+—H)

Total non-current assets FRBEELE 7,3 109,148 328,011 363,859 427,254 465918
Total current assets RHEELE 1,23 477,097 264,282 188743 134,670 98,706
Total assets BELE 586,245 592,293 552,602 561,924 564,624
Total non-current liabilities FrBDEERTE 123 (5,379) (4614) (4382) (3316) (3.449)
Total current liabilities nBaERE 7,2 (196,539) (216,752) (197,463) (204,198) (210,824)
Total liabilities afEeE (201,918)  (221.366)  (201845)  (207514)  (214273)
Net assets BEFE 384,327 370927 350,757 354,410 350,357
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Five-Year Financial Summary (Continued)

LEBBHREGE)

Notes to the five year summary:

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 16, Leases, with effect from 1 January
2019, the Group has changed its accounting policies in respect of the
lessee accounting model. In accordance with the transitional provisions of
the standard, the changes in accounting policies were adopted by way of
opening balance adjustments to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities as at 1 January 2019. After initial recognition of these assets and
liabilities, the Group as a lessee is required to recognise interest expense
accrued on the outstanding balance of the lease liability, and the
depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of the previous policy of
recognising rental expenses incurred under operating leases on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. Figures in years earlier than 2019 are
stated in accordance with the policies applicable in those years.

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with
customers, with effect from 1 January 2018, the Group has changed its
accounting policies in respect of revenue recognition. In accordance with
the transitional provisions of the standard, the changes in accounting
policies were adopted by way of opening balance adjustments to equity as
at 1 January 2018. Figures in years earlier than 2018 are stated in
accordance with the policies applicable in those years.

The Group adopted HKFRS 9, Financial instruments from 1 January 2018.
As a result, the Group has changed its accounting policies in relation to
financial instruments. As allowed by HKFRS 9, the Group has not restated
information relating to prior years. Differences in the carrying amounts of
the financial assets resulting from the adoption of HKFRS 9 were
recognised in retained earnings and reserves at 1 January 2018. There
was no difference in the carrying amounts of the financial liabilities.
Figures in years earlier than 2018 are stated in accordance with the
policies applicable in those years.

—ETFEH

AFEHEN T

B RRA(E B EHREER)DF 165 HE B
—F-NF-A—HE FEEEENEFHAH
A B BEIER A BT BR © RIEER G928 ZF
X B R BB LA R A B0 7 SR
UEBR = F—ANF—H—AHEHEEELRHE
ERE - REABRZERERRER XEH
(TERABN) ARG HEER BEHABESHRZE
FEFIBHASREHREEESTE  MIFLUAEE
RIEZERER A B R IRIFAS & B E L 4l
A —ENFUFFREFIREZE
F [ 78 F 1Y B R B T

B RIR( BB SR EERDE 155 - KB EF
BRI e B =FE—NF—A—HE %58
BEXNF B W o BB H) B at R o RIFER A B
BIRX B BEREGUR —FE—NF—H—H
B AR B G T A o —F —JVF AT
F R A BF TR IR 3% = F K8 6B Z TS

B-F—NF—F— A FEEHBFH(EE
B EERDEG BT A - Fut  KAEE
BEXFHz/ LANE;KE (BEHFH
EERDFEIF A G AL B Y AEE S G B EF
B 7B K o B IR E BB T R & 2R ) E 9 AT
BN BFEERAEER R=F—NF—H
— H B IR & & F R (7 5 F AR o BT 5 B (A AR T
EirEEL e —F—/\F—H—HUFFELE
FIREZF FREHNBEST
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Other Financial Assets
HithB#E & E

Debt security measured at FVOCI held as at 31 December 2020 with M TFTAR-_ZBE-_ZTE+_-A=+—HREAENE
nominal value at US$3 million or above is as follows: B3,000,0003 T2k A £ KB B E b 2 H KSR A
hEBEFENEBEBES

Issuer Principal business Coupon Nominal value Maturity date
BTA TERER EEFA=E HE 2#HA
Us$'000
FTER
Chongging Nan'an Urban Construction & Industrial Other 3.625% 3,000 19 July 2021
Development (Group) Co., Ltd. Hth T3 —T=—FtA+ANB
EETEHFERTERER(KH)
BRAA

Units in investment fund measured at FVPL held as at 31 December MATRR-T_ZTF+-_A=+—HMFHEHK
2020 with investment amount at USS3 million or above is as follows: & & %8 43,000,000 Tk A ERBEBIERIE AR
BEITENREES B

Principal business of Target gross yield Investment
Bond fund issuers of bonds to maturity amount Maturity date
BHEES BEBITAETEEK BRADB kSR RESE 2HA
US$’000
FEr
UBS (CAY) Investment Fund Series — Real Estate (34.57%) 5.0%-5.75% 3,000 22 December 2023
UBS Asian Bonds Series 6 (USD) Financial (22.59%) —T-=4F
Others (42.84%) +-—A-+—-H
F5 b E (34.57%)
% B (22.59%)

H h(42.84%)
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Investor Relations and Key Dates

REZEHEEBEREZHHE

The Company encourages two-way communication with both its
institutional and individual investors. Extensive information about the
Company’s activities is provided in the Annual Report. There is regular
communication with institutional and individual investors. Enquiries
from individuals on matters relating to their shareholdings and the
business of the Company are welcome and are dealt with in an
informative and timely manner.

Financial Calendar
Closure of Register of Members:
— to ascertain shareholders entitlement

to attend and vote at the 2021
Annual General Meeting

4 May 2021 — 7 May 2021
(both days inclusive)

— to ascertain shareholders qualified for
the Final Dividend

13 May 2021 — 17 May 2021
(both days inclusive)

2021 Annual General Meeting 7 May 2021

Final Dividend Payment Date On or about 26 May 2021

Listings

The Company's shares have been listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 28 October 2005.

Annual Report 2020

This Annual Report 2020, in both English and Chinese, is now available in
printed form as well as on the Company’s website at www.tradelink.com.hk
and the website of HKEXnews at www.hkexnews.hk.

Stock Code

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited — 00536
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Investor Relations and Key Dates (Continued)

REEFBRKREZHHAGE)

Registered Office

11/F & 12/F

Tower B, Regent Centre

63 Wo Yi Hop Road

Kwai Chung, Hong Kong
Telephone: +852 2599 1600
Fax: +852 2506 0188

Share Registrar

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17/F, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’'s Road East

Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Telephone: +852 2862 8555

Fax: +852 2865 0990

Investor Relations

Ms. Wong Siu Yee, Grace

Vice President (Investor Relations and Corporate Communications)
Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

11/F & 12/F

Tower B, Regent Centre

63 Wo Yi Hop Road

Kwai Chung, Hong Kong

Telephone: +852 2161 4370

Fax: +852 2506 0188

Email: ir@tradelink.com.hk

Website

www.tradelink.com.hk
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Corporate Information
AFEH

Board of Directors

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SBS., J.P.

Executive Directors

Mr. TSE Kam Keung (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew (Chief Technology Officer)
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily (Chief Operations Officer)

Non-executive Directors
Dr. LEE Delman

Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth
Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHAK Hubert

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.-H., J.P.

Board Committees

Audit Committee

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy (Chairman)
Mr. CHAK Hubert

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.-H., J.P.

Remuneration Committee

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay (Chairman)
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SB.S., J.P.
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy

Nomination Committee

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P. (Chairman)
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SB.S., J.P.

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy

Investment Committee
Mr. CHAK Hubert (Chairman)
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth

=

TERFHTES
ZETyEE L SBS, JP.

BITES

T 85 58 5 A (7T AR L)
BB E L (KAL)
BIREF R+ (FERE

FHTES
FEABL
REXELE
ROKERE

BUKHTES
B4
BB A

PREZE 22+

5 4B S A

IS E A - MH, JP.

EEXERTEES

ERZEEY

88 M B ST A ()
2ok &

AEER LA

PR 22+

fAISZ B A - MH, JP.

FHEER
AR L E (E/E)
E=ThEE L 0 SBS, JP.
488 4 B oL A4

REZE®

IS ESE 4 - MH, JP.(E/E)
E=ThEE L 0 SBS, JP.
BB A

REZESE
2R L (Z/E)
BEEEE
BREEZ L
RFXESE

—T_TFEFER BEZBETESERALA

207



Corporate Information (Continued)

~EEBER(HE)

208

Corporate Governance Committee
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy (Chairman)
Mr. CHAK Hubert

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, M.H., J.P.

Senior Management

Mr. TSE Kam Keung (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew (Chief Technology Officer)
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily (Chief Operations Officer)
Ms. CHU Pik Kwan, Peggie (Chief Financial Officer)

Company Secretary

Mr. TAl Kwok Hung
Auditor

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditor
Registered in accordance with the
Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

Bankers

Dah Sing Bank, Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

Registered Office

11/F & 12/F

Tower B, Regent Centre

63 Wo Yi Hop Road

Kwai Chung, Hong Kong
Telephone: +852 2599 1600
Fax: +852 2506 0188

Share Registrar

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17/F, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Telephone: +852 2862 8555

Fax: +852 2865 0990

In case of inconsistencies between the English and Chinese versions,
the English version shall prevail to the extent of such inconsistencies.
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Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
11/F & 12/F, Tower B, Regent Centre,
63 Wo Yi Hop Road, Kwai Chung, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2599 1600 Fax: (852) 2506 0188
Corporate Website: www.tradelink.com.hk Business Portal: www.tradelink-ebiz.com
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